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3 piped gas projects, |nc|ud|ng Tongnan.
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1 cylinder gas and 4 FMCG and food ingredients supply projects in Chongging.
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Fujian Province
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® Piped gas EERR

40 piped gas projects, which covers 8 regions (total 9 regions) in
Fujian Province including Zhangzhou; Longyan; Sanming; Nanping;
Ningde and Fuzhou etc.

40 AEERRIRE - CHEREANEBENSE  BIFEN - s
=8B TRREMNS -

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region
EFE TR ® Cylinder gas ﬂig
BAE 1 cylinder gas project in Ba|se
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Guizhou Province
gME ©Piped gas EIEMRR / Cylinder gas HEEMA
13 cylinder gas projects, including Guizhou; Changshun; Southwest Panva and Zunyi Panva.
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1 piped gas project in Zhenfeng county.
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Hebei Province

s ® Culinder gas MR

1 cylinder gas project in Rengiu.
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Henan Province

RIS © Cylinder gas FEHMRR
1 cylinder gas project in Zhongmu County, Zhengzhou.
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The provinces/cities in which
the Group operates
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Cylinder gas project
EBMRIER

Piped gas project
BMEEMNZISEA
FMCG and food ingredients
supply project

Hubei Province
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© Cylinder gas 3R

1 cylinder gas project in Jingzhou.
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Hunan Province

SRR @ Cylinder gas fEHMER

8 cylinder gas projects including Hunan and Xupu.
8 L MTIEE « MR

Jilin Province
==

HE ©Gas R
1 gas project in Yanbian.
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Shaanxi Province

[ Fich) © Piped gas BEIRM
5 piped gas projects, including Yanliang and Fuping.
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Sichuan Province

mlE © Piped gas EEME  Cylinder gas HERR
5 plpedgas projects, including Mianzhu; Yanting; Hanwang and Beichuan.
S ERBMEARE | DT B EERI o
1 cylinder gas project located in Chengdu.
1 B PRIE B R R o
Tianjin City
KEH ® Cylinder gas KRR -~ FMCG and food ingredients supply BFH LERIE S

5 cylinder gas projects in Tianjin.

5 B MASRIA B (R KRR ©

1 FMCG and food ingredients supply project in Tianjin.
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Yunnan Province

EZFE ©® Cylinder gas REMRT
16 cylinder gas projects, including Yunnan; Yunnan Panva;
Baoshan Panva and Yunnan Jiehua,
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Guangdong Province

ERE ©® Cylinder gas MR
1 cylinder gas project in Dongguan.
VEREMRER RRET
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the "Company”) and all of
its subsidiaries (collectively the “"Group” or “we"), | am pleased
to present the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
March 2020 (“Year”) to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)"”).

In 2019, the domestic GDP reached approximately RMB90.09 trillion,
representing a growth of 6.1%. As a whole, the national economy
remained steady with its steadily enhancing quality of development.
Major targets have been preferably achieved to the expected level.

According to the public information of the National Development
and Reform Commission (“NDRC"”) and the National Bureau of
Statistic: In 2019, the natural gas production was approximately
177.7 billion m3, representing a year-on-year increase of
11.5%; natural gas imports were approximately 132.2 billion
m3, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.5%; natural gas
apparent consumption was 306.7 billion m?3, representing a year-
on-year increase of 9.4%. In 2019, China’s LPG production was
approximately 41.36 million tons, with a year-on-year increase of
8.8%; LPG imports were approximately 20.68 million tons, with
a year-on-year increase of 8.9%; the total retail sales of social
consumer goods was approximately RMB41,164.9 billion, with a
year-on-year increase of 8%; the trade size of fresh market was RMB
2.04 trillion, with a year-on-year increase of 6.8%.

With the joint efforts of the management and all employees, the
Group’s total revenue for this financial Year was approximately
RMB2,233 million, representing an increase of RMB277 million or
14.17% as compared to the same period last year. Profit for the
Year was approximately RMB217 million, representing an increase of
RMBO0.82 million or 0.38% as compared to the previous year. During
the Year, our (including subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates)
total piped gas sales was 1,092.32 million m?3, representing a year-
on-year increase of 15.75%; our cylinder gas sales was 507,412
tons, with a decrease of 7.53%. Such increase in revenue was mainly
attributable to the solid growth of our piped gas business.

As at 31 March 2020, by ensuring the stability of the financial
position, the Group carefully utilises fund for reasonable investment
and seizes the opportunity of business development. The
consolidated debt-to-capitalisation ratio of the Group, representing
the ratio of total borrowings to total borrowings and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, was 6.31% (2019: 7.28%).
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With the expediting of oil and gas reforms under the steady
economic and social development, the continuous growth of
energy demand will be spurred further. We expects that the oil
and gas market system, which featured a series of multi-agent and
multi-channel supply of upstream resources, efficient centralised
transportation through the intermediate unified pipe network, and
the sufficient competition among the downstream sales market, will
be gradually formed in China. The gas fuel that the Group transmits
and distributes through pipelines is mainly natural gas, which plays
a significant role in China’s energy revolution. Various departments
such as the State Council and the NDRC have successively issued the
“Three-Year Action Plan to Win the Blue Sky Defense War”, “Notice
on the Phased Measures to Reduce the Cost of Non-residential Gas”
and the new version of the “Catalogue of Pricing by the Central
Government” etc., and continued to promote the “coal to gas”
policy, while proposing the reformative thinking of “controlling the
middle and easing the two ends”. The natural gas market will be
liberated, reduce the relevant enterprise costs. The National Energy
Administration also stated that it will fully contribute to the natural
gas supply assurance mechanism during the heating season, aiming
to further increase the resources supply, exhaust all the possible
means to implement natural gas resource plans and ensure the
supply of natural gas for the people’s livelihood.

The cylinder gas operated by the Group mainly includes liquefied
petroleum gas (LPG), liquefied natural gas (LNG) and liquefied
dimethyl ether (DME). All three kinds of liquefied gas are clean
energy and are generally used in fields such as civil and commercial
gas fuel, petrochemical raw materials, vehicle fuel and factory fuel.
Currently, the energy development in China is in a crucial period of
transformation and transformation, and is subject to unprecedented
opportunities and challenges. As cylinder gas is featured with its
simple storages, diversified means of delivery and ease of use, the
cylinder gas market is growing steadily.
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The Group's FMCG supply business is operated through the chain
of community supermarket and convenience stores. The ultimate
customers targeted are the households and individual consumers.
The merchandise are mainly food ingredients, such as fresh food,
frozen food, rice, flour and oil and FMCG, such as pre-packaged
foods and daily use products, which consumed and repeatedly
purchased by households and individuals for daily life. We provide
our services for the daily lives of end consumers through various
means such as self-operation, joint venture and franchise. According
to the “Implementation Advice on Promoting the Expansion and
Quality of Consumption to Accelerate the Formation of a Strong
Domestic Market” (“Implementation Advice”) promulgated
by the NDRC and MOFCOM in February 2020, it mentioned that
it should integrate the regional development layout to build
consumption centre, support business transformation and upgrading,
promote the transformation of retail sales and business model
innovation, put forth effort to reduce the cost of logistics and other
intermediate links and operating costs, and improve economies
of scale and consumption experience through targeted marketing
and coordinated management. With an aim to accelerate the
establishment of community convenience business district, it should
promote the development of community life service business and
strive to develop community business such as convenience store
and community greengrocer to broaden property services. The
Government policy is conducive to the development of the FMCG
supply business of the Group. As the Government continues to
implement the consumption upgrade action plan and accelerate the
transformation and upgrading of physical retail, the Group will also
speed up the development of community business, ensure residents’
daily consumption, animate community consumption market and
improve residents’ consumption.
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The Group’s food ingredients supply mainly supplies fruit and
vegetables, fresh produce, seasoning, dry foods and oil and other
ingredients to commercial users, such as canteens and supermarkets.
In terms of business development, we provide customers with one-
stop composite products and services. In the future, the Group
will also make full use of existing resources to gradually develop
food ingredients supply business in the areas other gas fuel project
companies operated. The Implementation Advice requires to step up
the construction of production base of special agricultural products,
commonweal agricultural wholesale market, regional business
logistics centre, community market, end distribution network and
to strengthen the support for the construction of integrated supply
facilities such as sorting, processing, packaging and pre-cooling of
agricultural products, etc. Such policies and measures will provide
strong support for the development of the Group’s food ingredients
supply business.
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Looking forward into 2020, China’s consumer market is facing
unprecedented challenges. The internal environment under the
epidemic and the external environment affected by the trade
friction will crash the macroeconomic growth. Due to changes in
the macroeconomic environment in recent years, the Group records
decrease in the growth rate of residential household customers,
and also encounters greater pressure from market competition
in terms of C/I customers. The COVID-19 outbreak in 2020 has
extremely disrupted the Chinese economy, almost causing the
economic shutdown, and it will take some time for the resumption of
production in all walks of life and the recovery of various economic
indicators. The production and operation of the Group's customers
have also been affected to varying degrees. In addition, to prevent
and restrain monopoly behaviors, various relevant policies have been
issued by government authorities in recent years to restrict the profit
margins of enterprises in monopolistic industries. Therefore, there
are frequent anti-monopoly investigations and penalties against
gas companies, and a subsidiary of the Group has been imposed
on such administrative penalty. Accordingly, the environment faced
by the piped gas business of the Group is more severe than that in
previous years. With regard to the macroeconomic challenges, the
Group has been pursuing a prudent operating strategy and a highly
predictable industrial strategy, which will help itself to maintain solid
growth. In terms of industrial strategy, the Group will continue to
focus its business on the areas related to people’s livelihood. The
Group will implement strategic planning respectively for its three
major segments, namely the piped gas, cylinder gas and FMCG and
food ingredients supply, and thus will lay a solid foundation. We will
make full use of the national policies, seize market opportunities,
continue to strengthen the development of residential household
customer connection, deepen the potential of industrial and
commercial customers, expand the pipeline gas transmission and
distribution capacity and scale, accelerate and optimise the cylinder
gas business model, improve service quality, as well as enhance our
market competitiveness, with a view to expanding and strengthening
the Group’s gas business. We will make full use of the Internet to
gradually promote and expand FMCG and food ingredients supply
business through online and offline methods. In the face of the
new consumption habits and trends after the epidemic, the Group
will develop new channels and marketing methodology, so as to
continually improve its market coverage of the FMCG and food
ingredients supply business. We will further optimise the Group's
revenue structure and increase the value of the Company, increase
the Group's rate of returns and create a better return for the
Shareholders.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year"”), under the
leadership of the directors (“Director(s)”) and management of the
Company, all of our staff executed the development strategies of the
Group seriously, thus successfully achieving the business goals for the
Year.

Items HE

Revenue of business: 3 PN
Piped gas business BERRER
Cylinder gas business BEMAEH

FMCG and food ingredients supply business

RMHENESGEH

Total At
Segment results: AWEE:

Piped gas business BEMAER

Cylinder gas business BEMAES

FMCG and food ingredients supply business

Total

Share of results of associates

RUHENEGEH

&t

RIEBENRRE

Share of results of joint ventures BEAELELS
Finance costs B A
Other operating expenses He2ERY
Income tax expense FriEiis it
Profit for the Year EEERF
Profit attributable to owners of the Company UNGIE E=PN
Earnings per share BRER
Basic (RMB cents per share) EX(BRARES)

HZE2020F3A31BILFE ([REE]) &2
BETHEARAEELEEENEET REE
BT AEENBRERE BMKTE2FE2T

fEE 2

2019
RMB'000
ARBT L

938,968
910,503
106,015

1,955,486

76,966
47,907
(8,929)

115,944

27,948
118,245
(9,330)
(13,876)
(23,227)

215,704

174,325

Changes in

25

RMB'000
AR®T R

343,871
(104,966)
38,209

277,114
29,841

(2,777)
(13,845)

13,219
(1,612)
(9,878)
(2,110)

3,615
(2,417)

817

8,304

0.09

%

36.62
(11.53)
36.04

14.17
38.77

(5.80)
155.06

11.40
(5.77)
(8.35)
22.62

(26.05)
10.41

0.38

4.76

4.62



Piped gas business

Cylinder gas
business

FMCG and food
ingredient
supply business

Revenue increased 36.62% year-on-year
which was mainly attributable to the
contribution from the newly established
project in year 2019, increasing the
customer bases and the volume of gas
sold.

Affected by the continued decline
in international crude oil prices, the
average selling price of cylinder gas
has declined; and due to the epidemic,
the gas consumption of C/I customers
have significantly decreased; and the
competition in cylinder gas business is
relatively fierce.

During the Year, we have upgraded the
supermarket to increase customers flow
and revenue. However, entering the
year of 2020, people are faced with an
unexpected COVID-19 outbreak which
has caused disorders in their lives. The
COVID-19 pandemic has caused the
slowdown in revenue of FMCG and
food ingredient supply business in the
first quarter of 2020 due to the reduced
customers flow.
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Piped gas business

Cylinder gas
business

FMCG and food
ingredient
supply business

Share of results
of associates

Share of
results of
joint ventures

Finance costs

Income tax
expenses

The increase was mainly due to the
increase of volume of natural gas sold
and the decrease in the recognition of
impairment loss.

The segment results shown a decrease due
to the increase in operational costs and
keen competition.

After the transformation and upgrading of
the supermarket and improving the fresh-
keeping operation capacity, the gross profit
margin has been improved and operating
loss gradually narrowed. The increase in
segment loss was mainly attributable to
the impairment test assessment at the end
of the reporting period and impairment
loss of goodwill was recognised due to the
effect of unexpected COVID-19 pandemic
and for prudent purpose.

The decrease was mainly owing to the
significant reduction in gas consumption
of C/I customers due to the epidemic
situation and the fierce competition in the
cylinder gas business.

The decrease was mainly due to the
increase in impairment recognised under
expected credit loss model.

The increase was to the inclusion of
interest on lease liabilities upon the
adoption of HKFRS 16.

The increase in income tax was mainly due
to the increase in profit for the Year.
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Items

No. of projects (unit)

Piped gas business

Cylinder gas business

FMCG and food ingredients supply business
- chain community supermarket
- chain convenience stores
- food ingredients supply

Total

New connected customers for
piped gas business
Residential household customers (unit)
C/I customers (unit)

Total connected customers (unit)

Accumulated connected customers for
piped gas business
Residential household customers (unit)
C/I customers (unit)

HH

FEHE ()
BEMAXE
BERMAXH
RMBRERESXH
- HEREHED
- BHEME

- RITHE

EERREBHERF

FEERRAF (P)
THERF(P)

MERFRE(F)

EEMRREBRIAAF

FeERAP(P)
THERF(P)

Total accumulated connected customers (unit) ZifEESFEE (F)

Piped gas business (10,000 m?)

Residential household customers
C/I customers

Total sales volume for gas

Sales volume of cylinder gas business (tons) EHXMAEKEEE (H)

Note:

Operation statistics, including all statistics from subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, are presented according to the entire interests of the projects.

EEMRERSER
(BYFX)
FEREREF
TEEARP

MRAHEE

Controlling

R

35,417
1,097

36,514

403,824
8111

411,935

10,295
25,207

35,502
164,896

B :

2019

Non-
controlling

FFER

40
29

69

149,138
2,511

151,649

1,322,607
12,724

1,335,331

6,079
52,786

58,865

383,829

Total

55
50

184,555
3,608

188,163

1,726,431
20,835

1,747,266

16,374
77,993

94,367

548,725
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For the year ended 31 March 2020, revenue from operations of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB2,233 million (2019:
RMB1,955 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 14.17%,
while profit for the Year was approximately RMB217 million (2019:
RMB216 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 0.38%.
Basic earnings per share was RMB2.04 cents (2019: RMB1.95 cents).
The overall gross profit margin of the Group was 17.14% (2019:
17.65%), representing a slight decrease of 0.51 percentage point
(“ppt”) as compared with last year. The decrease in gross profit
margin was mainly due to the increase in operating costs.

The piped gas business mainly relies on the gas pipeline which
were built by the Group to transport flammable gas fuels to end-
users. The Group’s piped gas business is categorised into piped gas
connection and piped gas sales. Currently, natural gas is the main gas
supply of the Group’s piped gas business. As a clean energy, natural
gas can help to improve the environmental pollution problem and
simultaneously it has the advantages of safety, high unit heat value
and low price. It has become an important development direction of
international clean energy.

Piped gas business is our main business and our main source
of income. During the year ended 31 March 2020, revenue of
approximately RMB1,283 million was recorded from our piped gas
business, representing a year-on-year increase of RMB344 million or
36.62% over last year, which accounted for approximately 57.46%
(2019: 48.02%) of our total revenue. The overall gross profit margin
of piped gas business for the Year was 14.49% (2019: 15.60%).
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During the Year, revenue from piped gas connection was
approximately RMB147 million, representing a decrease of RMB32
million or 18.03% over last year. Revenue from piped gas connection
represented approximately 11.42% (2019: 19.04%) of the total
revenue of the piped gas business. The gross profit margin of
piped gas connection for the Year was 56.01% (2019: 43.78%).
During the Year, our subsidiary companies had an addition of
31,736 units of residential household customers and 1,121 units
of industrial and commercial (“C/1") customers, respectively. At
the end of the reporting period, our subsidiary companies had an
accumulated number of connected residential household customers
and C/I customers of 435,560 units and 9,232 units respectively,
representing a growth of 7.86% and 13.82% over last year. The
overall connection rate of the Group's piped gas projects continues
to rise, but there is still a gap compared with the average gas
connection rate of mature markets in China of 70-80%. It is
expected that the number of newly connected residential household
customers will increase steadily, bringing the Group a steady increase
in gas connection income. A comparison of the accumulated
connected customers of the Group among the years of 2018 to 2020
is shown in Graph 1.

Graph 1:Comparison of the accumulated number of connected units
in the past three years
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During the Year, revenue from piped gas sales was approximately
RMB1,136 million, representing an increase of RMB376 million or
49.47% over last year. Revenue from piped gas sales accounted for
approximately 88.58% (2019: 80.96%) of the total revenue from the
piped gas business. The gross profit margin of piped gas sales was
9.14% (2019: 8.97%). During the Year, our sales volume of piped
gas from subsidiary companies was 529.83 million m3, representing
an increase of 49.24% compared to the corresponding period of
last year. Among the total sales, 112.25 million m? were sold to
residential household customers, which represented a year-on-year
increase of 9.03%; 417.58 million m3 were sold to C/I customers,
which represented a year-on-year increase of 65.66%. The gas sales
volume of residential household customers increased steadily, while
the newly added piped gas project in the previous year continued to
bring new C/I customer sources and growth impetus, which become
the main driving force of the growth of piped gas sales volume. A
comparison of the sales volume of piped gas of the Group among
the years of 2018 to 2020 is shown in Graph 2.

Graph 2: Comparison of the total sales volume of piped gas in the
past three years
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Cylinder gas business is another major business of the Group.
Currently, the Group’s cylinder gas business is mainly the sales of
liqguefied natural gas (LNG), liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), and
liquefied dimethyl ether (DME). During the reporting period, we rely
on a large cylinder gas services network and high quality customer
resources to consolidate the existing sale market and combine with
the local market conditions to fully meet a variety of needs for
customers’ retail and distribution, while developing new customers
for expanding the sales market.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, revenue from cylinder gas of
the Group reached approximately RMB806 million, representing
a decrease of RMB105 million or 11.53% over the corresponding
period of last year. Revenue from cylinder gas business accounted for
approximately 36.08% (2019: 45.56%) of the Group's total revenue
for the Year. The gross profit margin of cylinder gas business was
22.16% (2019: 20.75%). For the year ended 31 March 2020, our
subsidiary companies sold 167,374 tons of cylinder gas, representing
an increase of 1.50% over the same period last year. Affected by
the continued decline in international crude oil prices, the average
selling price of cylinder gas also dropped. In addition, due to the
impact of the epidemic, the gas consumption of C/I customers
have significantly decreased in the first quarter of 2020 and the
competition in cylinder gas business is relatively fierce, these factors
offset the new customer sources and growth momentum brought
by the newly added cylinder gas projects in last year. A comparison
of the sales volume of cylinder gas of the Group among the years of
2018 to 2020 is shown in Graph 3.

Graph 3: Comparison of the sales volume of cylinder gas in the past
three years
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The FMCG and food ingredients supply business is a new
business vigorously developed by the Group in recent years. The
food ingredients supply is mainly a one-stop service providing
to commercial consumers through the combination of online
and offline operations, supplying fruits and vegetables, fresh
produce, seasoning, dry foods and oil and other ingredients. The
supply of FMCG is mainly comprised of the chain of community
supermarket and convenience stores. The consumer group targeted
by the community supermarket is mainly the residents community
population. It provides convenient goods and services for the fixed
community residents through the combination of online and offline
operations; the convenience stores chain is aimed at the consumer
group which is a mobile population, and provides goods and services
that are convenient for the mobile population by selling FMCG.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group’s FMCG and food
ingredients supply business realised revenue of approximately
RMB144 million (2019: RMB106 million), accounting for
approximately 6.46% (2019: 5.42%) of the Group's total revenue
for the Year. During the Year, we adjusted the profit model for
upgrading existing stores, not only adjusting the category structure,
but also improving the fresh-keeping operation capacity. At the same
time, we cooperated with the transformation and upgrading of the
supermarket, rationally allocated high-quality investment resources,
increased investment income and controlled the rigid growth of
labour costs. During the Year, the gross profit margin of FMCG and
food ingredients supply business has been improved, and operating
loss was narrowed. However, due to the unexpected COVID-19
pandemic in the first quarter of year 2020 and for prudent purpose,
impairment loss of goodwill of RMB13,594,000 (2019: nil) was
recognised at the end of the reporting period and resulted in the
increase of segment loss for the Year.
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Graph 4: Revenue structure of the Group
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During the reporting period, we disposed an unsatisfactory cylinder
gas project, and the funds recovered will focus on investing in more
economically efficient projects to increase the rate of return on
capital.

During the Year, the Group completed the acquisition of an aggregate
of 78.50% equity interests in Beijing Civigas Daoting Gas Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Beijing Guangdian Interactive Technology Company
Limited) (“Beijing Daoting”), a company incorporated in the PRC with
limited liability, the issued shares of which are quoted on the trading
platform operated by the National Equities Exchange and Quotations
Co,, Ltd. ("NEEQ") (2B /N EBMHEZER AR EREERF) (stock
code: 871892.NEEQ). Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group further acquired the remaining 21.50% equity interests
in Beijing Daoting from non-controlling interests at an aggregate
consideration of RMB1,441,000. Beijing Daoting becomes a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. Beijing Daoting becomes our investment
flagship for cylinder gas business pursuant to the Group's restructuring
and re-organisation and there is no financial impact on the assets,
liabilities and earnings of the Group.
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As at 31 March 2020, the consolidated financial position of the
Group is as follows:

Non-current assets EREBEE

Current assets MENEE

Current liabilities nEEaE

Non-current liabilities FERBEE

Net assets HEE

Equity attributable to owners of the KRR AR
Company

Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2

Total equity At

Among those: He:
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS
Total borrowings G

Net cash

Consolidated debt-to-capitalisation ratio* #7& B &M & ARy &+

* Consolidated debt-to-capitalisation ratio is the ratio of total borrowings

= A
N =]
to total borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the Company NS
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Currently, the sources of the operating and capital expenditure of
the Group are operating cash flow, internal current capital, and bank
borrowings. The Group has sufficient funds to meet future capital
expenditures and operational needs.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the operating cash
flow before movements in working capital is approximately
RMB195,259,000, representing an increase of RMB44,226,000 or
29.28% over last year. Such increase is mainly due to the increase in
profit before tax.

Net cash used in investing activities is approximately RMB267,970,000,
representing an increase of RMB154,862,000 or 136.92%, which
is mainly due to the acquisition of the bank wealth management
products during the Year.

Net cash used in financing activities is approximately RMB106,147,000,
representing an increase of RMB83,689,000 or 372.65%, which
is mainly utilised for repayment of bank borrowings and dividends
payment to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries.

At 31 March 2020, the total borrowings of the Group were
approximately RMB159,603,000 (2019: RMB172,240,000), which
comprised domestic bank borrowings denominated in RMB of the
project companies in China and lease liabilities. Bank borrowings
(in which interest is calculated by reference to the interest rate
announced by the People’s Bank of China plus certain basis points)
are mainly applied to gas pipelines construction, as general working
capital and for operating expenses. Apart from the borrowings
of approximately RMB113,700,000 (2019: RMB105,240,000)
which were secured by certain assets with carrying amount of
approximately RMB233,175,000 (2019: RMB114,157,000), others
were unsecured. Short-term borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB73,047,000 (2019: RMB128,490,000), while others were
long-term borrowings due after one year. Details of the capital
commitments and pledge of assets are set out in notes 46 and 47 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The long-term capital of the Group comprised equity attributable to
owners and borrowings, which was confirmed by the sound debt-
to-capitalisation ratio stated in the section headed “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” above.
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As all of our operations are in China and substantially all of its
revenue and expenses are denominated in Renminbi, there was no
significant foreign exchange risk in its operation. We currently do not
have foreign currency hedging policy but monitor the market trends
of exchange rates closely, and adopt appropriate measures when
necessary.

As at 31 March 2020, the capital commitments of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB34,740,000, mainly attributable to
running district gas pipelines construction. Please refer to note 46 to
the consolidated financial statements for details.

Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd.("Beijing Civigas”, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company) together with the joint venture partner
entered into guarantee agreements with a bank, whereby Beijing
Civigas and the joint venture partner have agreed to provide a
joint and several corporate guarantee in favour of the bank for
the facility line of RMB150 million granted to Fujian Province An
Ran Gas Investments Co., Ltd.("Fujian An Ran”) (as borrower), a
joint venture of the Group, on proportion of their shareholdings
in Fujian An Ran. Up to 31 March 2020, Fujian An Ran has drawn
RMB80,000,000 of the facility line. Save as disclosed, as at 31 March
2020, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.

As at 31 March 2020, we had approximately 5,300 employees
(including subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures), most of
them were resided in Mainland China. The employees’ salaries are
determined from time to time with reference to their duties and
responsibilities, business performance of the Group and profitability
and market conditions. In addition to pension funds, individual
employees may be granted discretionary bonus and share options as
rewards for their outstanding performance.

During the reporting period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries have purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
listed securities.
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We adhere to pursue long-term sustainable development in
the communities in which our business and operations located.
We understand the importance of the views and interests of its
stakeholders (such as shareholders, regulators, employees and the
public) when making business decisions. We will continue to advance
in corporate governance, energy conservation, remuneration of
employees, general social welfare and etc.

As a responsible clean energy distributor, we are committed to the
promotion and the use of clean energy in order to minimise the
environmental damage caused by energy demand for economic
development. Through the construction of urban-gas distribution
network, we encourage C/I customers and residential households to
replace high polluting coal and oil with clean energy, and vigorously
promote the “Coal to Gas" project. Coal-fired boilers are replaced by
natural gas boilers to reduce pollutant emission. During the Year, we
(including subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) sold piped gas
and cylinder gas of 1,092.32 million m?® and 507,412 tons in total,
achieved a saving (substitution) of approximately 2.15 million tons
standard coal, reduced emissions of carbon dioxide 5.35 million tons,
sulfur dioxide 0.16 million tons and, nitrogen oxide 0.08 million tons.

At the beginning of 2020, the COVID-19 pneumonia epidemic has
been spreading throughout the country, with a grim situation of
epidemic prevention and control. As an enterprise caring people’s
livelihood, the Group has proactively responded to and coordinated
with the society to fight the epidemic since the outbreak, and
therefore committed to the social responsibility of listed companies.
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In order to cooperate in the prevention and control of the epidemic,
the Group has printed and distributed documents such as the
“Notice on Doing a Good Job in the Prevention and Control for the
COVID-19 Pneumonia Epidemic”, and made timely arrangements
for the prevention and control for the epidemic with specified and
unified operational instructions. During the epidemic, we purchased
masks, disinfectant, gloves and other protective materials in a timely
manner through various channels, carefully counted and dispatched
the materials, and distributed them everyday according to the
demands of different on-the-job personnel and posts, and employees
were required to wear masks and take temperature everyday. Staff
are arranged to be on duty to sterilise the business halls, stores,
offices, canteens, gas distribution stations and other places everyday.
All of these steps shall not be skipped for everyone of them.

In spite of achieving triumphant in the battle of epidemic prevention
and control, ensuring supply is significant. Thus, the Group strives
to ensure the safe and stable operation of gas fuel. We have
strengthened emergency duty and safety inspection, so as to protect
the safety of gas fuel facilities. The dispatch centre carries out 24-
hour remote monitoring to the key gas fuel facilities through the
system, performs all-weather and full-coverage patrol inspection to
the gas supply districts, commercial customers, industrial customers
and gas pipelines, and ensures the safe and stable operation of the
gas pipeline network. On the premise of vigilantly exercising the
preventive and control measures against epidemic diseases, frontline
staff members such as emergency rescue, maintenance and business
are always on their positions everyday, aiming to provide services to
the customers.

In order to reduce the spread of virus caused by human contact
and protect the health of our employees and customers, the Group
temporarily suspended the on-site meter reading service during the
epidemic prevention and control period. In the meantime, the Group
intensified its promotional efforts in guiding customers to pay and
recharge the credit through various platforms such as WeChat official
account, thus encouraging customers to make contactless recharge.
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In 2019, the global economy went through a synchronised
slowdown. The International Monetary Fund further downgraded
its expectations for world economic growth by 0.3% to 2.9% for
the year, the slowest pace since the global financial crisis of 2008.
China-US trade tensions continued to hammer economic growth and
heightened risk in the business environment. Key risks to economic
growth include the build-up of trade and geopolitical tensions
among major economies, greater uncertainty about the direction in
which monetary policy adjustments in the developed economies are
headed, and high and rising levels of debt in both developed and
developing countries. Any of these factors could continue to affect
recent improvements in the global economy.

Despite the negative impact of the US tariff increase on the Chinese
economy as a result of the trade war, China’s GDP grew in line
with market expectations at 6.1% in 2019, which marked the
lowest annual growth rate in 29 years. Business challenges faced
by the Group include competition from direct sales by upstream gas
companies, as well as suppliers of alternative energy sources.

The Group formulates corresponding business risk response
strategies. While enhancing operational productivity and cost-
effectiveness, we will also maintain a cautious and prudent attitude
in capital investment. Credit monitoring is also reinforced to minimise
the risk of a customer default. The outbreak of the COVID-19
epidemic in early 2020 has caused significant impacts on the
economy, the society and all walks of life in the PRC and the ongoing
epidemic has not been completely resolved. Affected by the epidemic
and economic environment, the Group’s C/I customers have weak
demand and even suspend their operations, resulting in a significant
drop in gas demand from users. This phenomenon is expected to
continue for a period of time.
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In respect of the natural gas industry, the “Three-Year Action Plan
to Win the Blue Sky Defense War” and the new version of the
“Catalogue of Pricing by the Central Government” etc. successively
issued by the State Council and the NDRC have all brought strategic
opportunities to the natural gas industry of China. According to
the reformative thinking of “controlling the middle and easing the
two ends” for natural gas price, the reform progress of natural gas
marketisation will be immediately started and liberated the market,
which will provide more room for the development of natural gas
industry and also bring the operations of the Group facing greater
competition. With the decline of the natural gas tax rate and
the “Notice on the Phased Measures to Reduce the Cost of Non-
residential Gas”, the cost of natural gas enterprises will be reduced,
thus greatly reducing the burden of enterprises and improving the
enterprise expectations and operating efficiency.

In June 2019, to solve the issues of compulsory services and fees of
gas installation enterprises during the gas installation process and
high charges, the NDRC and other departments issued “the Guiding
Opinion on the Regulation of Installation Fees for Gas Facilities in
Cities and Towns” (Fa Gai Jai Ge No. 20191131), which requires that
in principle, the profit-to-cost ratio of gas installation enterprises
shall not exceed 10%, and if the current charging standard is too
high, downward adjustments shall be made in time and cancel any
unreasonable fees in the installation of urban gas projects. The
implementation of such policy will have a certain degree of impact
on the growth of the Group’s results.

Piped gas business is the most important supply method in gas
sales. The Group's piped gas business is focused on the construction
of city pipeline networks and the end-user terminals construction
and use. The development trend of China’s natural gas industry
remains positive in the future. We will closely follow the national
development trend, identify potential users, expand value-added
services, continue our efforts to increase sales efficiency, with a view
of steadily promoting the development of the pipeline gas business.
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Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), liquefied natural gas (LNG) and
liquefied dimethyl ether (DME) are clean energy, generally used
for fields including civil and commercial gas, petrochemical raw
materials, vehicle fuel and factory fuel. In recent years, technological
progress and cost reduction have driven the demand of China’s
cylinder gas market to increase dramatically. The changes in supply
and demand not only ushered another thriving cylinder gas market,
but also changed the supply and demand pattern in China.

In recent years, the Group’s cylinder gas business, in terms of
distribution, has extended from southwest and central-south regions
such as Yunnan, Guizhou and Hunan to economically developed
regions such as Northern China, Guangdong and Guangxi provinces,
and in terms of coverage, has gradually evolved from mainly serving
residents and commercial customers to civil, C/I customers with good
momentums. In the environment where opportunities and challenges
coexist, we will actively explore new development models, further
improve the scale and management level of the cylinder gas business,
and research the application of emerging technologies in the field of
the cylinder gas business to provide customers with better services.
In the meantime, we proactively explore new markets to expand the
Group’s share in the cylinder gas market, thereby creating greater
returns to the Group.
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However, in recent years, relevant state departments have
strengthened anti-monopoly investigations on gas companies.
In pursuant to the Anti-Monopoly Law of the PRC, the State
Administration for Market Regulation issued the Interim Provisions
on Prohibition of Monopoly Agreements in June 2019, which
states detailed prohibitive regulations on pricing, determination
of production quantity and sales quantity, market segmentation,
restrictions on the purchase and development of new technologies,
and boycott of transactions. In recent years, many gas enterprises
have been subject to punishment for non-compliance with the Anti-
Monopoly Law and violating relevant regulations. After the end of
the reporting period, under the organisation of relevant departments
of local government, Hunan Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Hunan Civigas”), an
indirect subsidiary of the Company and another company regulated
and integrated the local gas market, which was recognised by the
Hunan Provincial Market Supervision Administration that there was
an act of implementing a monopoly agreement to divide the cylinder
gas market during its operations, and Hunan Civigas was imposed
on an administrative penalty of approximately RMB1.76 million and
order to stop.

Consumption is the ultimate demand and the lasting booster of
economic growth. China’s resident consumption is in an upgrading
stage, and the consumption system and mechanism, as well as the
consumption environment are being improved.

The Group’s FMCG operation mainly includes the operation of the
chain of community supermarket and convenience stores. Leveraging
favorable policies for the development of the Internet and logistics,
we will fully explore the needs of community residents, expand the
distribution of our community supermarket and convenience stores
according to the needs of community residents when appropriate,
improve the service quality, enrich the product varieties and provide
one-stop services to consumers.
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Software developed by the Group, including the execution
information system and supply chain program, have been fully
launched, which would improve and expand the sales methods of the
FMCG supply business, thus providing more convenient services for
residents’ lives. In the future, relying on the vast gas customer base,
we will gradually expand the distribution and coverage of the FMCG
supply business. We will also strengthen our original brand building,
so as to shape our high reputation and competitive brands.

The Group’s food ingredients supply mainly supplies fruit and
vegetables, fresh produce, seasoning, dry foods and oil and other
ingredients to commercial users. For the food ingredient supply
business, we will also improve the supply chain management and
logistics services of food ingredient supply through making full use
of Internet technology, thus ensuring the seamless connection and
supervision of food products from the output to the entire link sent
to residents, and providing more convenient services and greener
food products for residents’ lives. Relying on national policies and
huge customer needs, we will coordinate the arrangement of
different businesses within the Group to enable them promote each
other and expand the development of the food ingredients supply
business.

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Managing Director and Executive Director

Beijing, 29 June 2020
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Aged 62

Director since 30 April 2004

Chairman since 1 August 2013

Term of office: 4 September 2019 (re-elected) to 2022 AGM

Holds shares of our Company, details of which was disclosed in the

Report of the Directors under this annual report

. chairman of Nomination Committee
° member of Remuneration Committee

o chairman of the board of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd., a wholly

owned subsidiary of our Group
o director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Group

o Bachelor degree in Sciences from the Tianjin Normal
University, China

o Master degree in Economics from the Tianjin University of

Finance and Economics, China

o PhD degree in Economics from the Nankai University, China

o has substantial experiences in the development and

management of sales and supply chain projects in China

° father of Miss Mo Yunbi, an executive director of our Company
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Aged 66
Director and Deputy Chairman since 21 March 2005
Term of office: 29 August 2017 (re-elected) to 2020 AGM

° member of Remuneration Committee

o MBA degree from the La Trobe University, the Australia

o joined the initial financial securities industry in China in late
1980s

° acted as senior executive in various securities companies
including Wanguo Holdings Limited, Guotai Securities
Company Limited and Guotai Junan Securities Company
Limited, engaged in the provision of services to securities and
financial investment; securities brokerages; investment banking;
financial research and analysis

o has extensive experiences in financial and capital markets
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Aged 56

Director since 1 December 2008

Deputy Chairman since 23 March 2015

Term of office: 4 September 2019 (re-elected) to 2022 AGM

o director of certain subsidiaries of our Group

o Master degree in Business Administration from the University
of Hong Kong

o fellow practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (FCPA (Practising))
o associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries (ACS)
° associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute (ACIS)
(formerly the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators (ICSA))

o Independent non-executive director of the following companies,
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange:
> Tianli Holdings Group Limited

(stock code: 00117)
> Mingfa Group (International) Company Limited
(stock code: 00846)
> China First Capital Group Limited
(stock code: 01269)
> Huayu Expressway Group Limited
(stock code: 01823)
> Flyke International Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 01998)
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independent non-executive director of the following
companies, shares of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market ("GEM") of the Stock Exchange:

> Madison Holdings Group Limited (stock code: 08057)

> SuperRobotics Limited (stock code: 08176)

resigned of the following companies, shares of which are listed

on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange:

> PT International Development Corporation Limited
(stock code: 00372) as an independent non-executive
director on 27 September 2017

> China Huishan Dairy Holdings Company Limited
(cancellation on listing on 23 December 2019, previous
stock code: 06863) as an independent non-executive
director on 15 December 2017

> resigned as an independent non-executive director of
Telecom Service One Holdings Limited (stock code: 3997)
on 27 December 2017

over 30 years of professional experiences in auditing,
accounting and financial management for both private and
listed corporations
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Aged 43
Director and Managing Director since 1 September 2015
Term of office: 17 August 2018 (re-elected) to 2021 AGM

o a director and the president of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd.,
a wholly owned subsidiary of our Group
o director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Group

o Degree in Economics from the Renmin University of China

o Legal Professional Qualification* from the Ministry Justice of
the People’s Republic of China

o registered as a non-practising member of the Beijing Institute
of Certified Public Accountants

o has over 10 years of experience in the management of the
Group and is familiar with the scope of the Group’s
operation in all aspect

. has worked in Grant Thornton (Beijing) Certified Public
Accountants and was responsible for auditing

o has engaged by Wah Ying International (Holdings) Limited*
and was in charge of various investment business projects

o has experiences in investment banking sector,
auditing and merger and acquisition

* For identification purpose only
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Aged 30
Director since 13 January 2015

Term of office: 17 August 2018 (re-elected) to 2021 AGM

Holds shares of our Company, details of which was disclosed in the

Report of the Directors under this annual report

director of certain subsidiaries of our Group

Bachelor degree in Business Administration with First Class
Honours from University of Bedfordshire, the United

Kingdom

Master of Science in Agricultural Economics with Distinction
from University of Reading, the United Kingdom

PhD degree from University of Reading, the United Kingdom

engaged as an food and safety analyst in a private entity

in China

has extensive experiences in fast-moving consumer goods and

food ingredients supply business

daughter of Dr. Mo Shikang, our chairman of the Board and

an executive director of our Company
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Aged 70
Director since 11 April 2005
Term of office: 4 September 2019 (re-elected) to 2022 AGM

° member of Audit Committee
. member of Nomination Committee
° member of Remuneration Committee

o Bachelor degree, Master degree and PhD degree in Economics
from Nankai University, China

o Professor of the Virtual Economics and Management Research
Center of Nankai University, China

o independent non-executive director of Tianjin Faw Xiali
Automobile Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000927), shares of which are
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange

o independent non-executive Director of China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Limited (stock code: 02799), shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

o independent non-executive director of China Literature Limited
(stock code: 00772), shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange

o The 8th Sun Yefang Economics Prize
o The 3rd China High School Humanity Social Science
Research Excellent Award

o lecturer of Tianjin University of Finance and Economics
o professor and associate professor of the Faculty of Economics,
Nankai University, China
o resigned as independent director of AVIC Electromechanical
Systems Co., Ltd. (stock code: 002013), shares of which
are listed on the Small & Medium Enterprises Board of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, on 26 March 2018
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Aged 63
Director since 24 July 2013
Term of office: 17 August 2018 (re-elected) to 2021 AGM

° member of Audit Committee
° member of Nomination Committee
° member of Remuneration Committee

o professor of Faculty of Statistics, the Renmin University of
China

o doctoral tutor of Faculty of Statistics, the Renmin University of
China

. officer, professor and doctoral tutor of the China Research
Center for Competitiveness and Evaluation in the Renmin
University of China

o Part-time tutor in the following universities in China:
>7hejiang Gongshang University
>Hebei University of Engineering
>Shanxi University of Finance and Economics
o Consultant of National Statistical Society of China
o Deputy chairman of Statistical Education Society of China
. Chairman of Statistical (High School) Education Society of
China*
o Member of National Science and Technology Innovation Survey
Expert Committee*

o winner of the Government of the State Council Special
Contribution Expert Government Allowance* in China

o the century talent of Ministry of Education* in China

o national candidate of the Ministry of Personnel New Century
Hundred Thousand Talents Project* in China

o candidate of the Beijing Hundred Project* in China

* For identification purpose only
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Aged 53
Director since 23 December 2006
Term of office: 29 August 2017 (re-elected) to 2020 AGM

. chairman of Audit Committee
. chairman of Remuneration Committee
. member of Nomination Committee

o Bachelor degree in Social Sciences from the University of
Hong Kong

o Master degree in Finance from the University of Strathclyde,
the United Kingdom

o Master degree in accounting from the Curtin University of
Technology, the Australia

o member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (CPA)

o fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (FCCA)

o certified practising accountant of the CPA Australia

o vice-president of Huayu Expressway Group Limited (stock code:
01823, shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) and is responsible for the accounting and
financial management

o independent non-executive director of Easy One Financial
Group Limited (stock code: 00221), shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

o has over 30 years of professional experiences in auditing,
accounting and financial management for both private and
listed corporations
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years and Miss
Mo Yunbi, an executive Director, has entered into a service contract
with the Company for no specific year, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation from the Board and then re-election in the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the
Company'’s Bye-laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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The Company has committed to perform a high standard of
corporate governance practices in enhancing the confidence of
shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and business partners
and also the growth of its business. The Company's corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the "Code Provisions”) as set out in the “Corporate
Governance Code” and “Corporate Governance Report”, amended
from time to time, contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). As far as the Code
Provisions is concerned, during the year ended 31 March 2020 and
up to the date of this annual report, the Company complies with all
aspect of the Code Provisions.

The directors of the Company (the "Director(s)”) acknowledge their
responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”) that
give a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as a going
concern basis in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements required by the Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amended from
time to time. This responsibilities include designing, implementing
and maintaining internal control systems relevant to the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

The board of Directors (the "Board”) has adopted the “Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers”
(the "Model Code”), amended from time to time, as set out
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Specific respectively enquiry has been made to all the Directors
regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code during
the Year and up to the date of this annual report, they all
confirmed in writing that they have fully complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report.
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In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of the
Model Code as written guidelines for relevant employees, who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information
of the Company. Such relevant employees did and would abide
by the provisions of the Model Code. Besides, the Company has
adopted internal control policy in relation to the disclosure of
inside information of the Company (the “Inside Information
Policy”).

No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code and/or the
Inside Information Policy by such relevant employees was noted
by the Company.

The nomination committee of the Company (“NC"”) is
responsible for reviewing the Board composition and diversity
of the Board, developing and formulating the relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of the Directors,
monitoring the re-appointment and succession planning of the
Directors and assessing the independence of each independent
non-executive Director.

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and
experiences appropriate to the requirements of the businesses
and the development of the Company and to the exercising of
independent. Other than Dr. Mo Shikang is the father of Miss
Mo Yunbi, the Board members have no financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 March
2020 and up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)

Miss Mo Yunbi

Independent non-executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Junmin

Prof. Zhao Yanyun

Mr. Sin Ka Man
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The composition, experiences, balance of skills, qualifications
and diversity on the Board are regularly reviewed by the NC
to ensure that the Board retains a core of members with
longstanding and deep knowledge of the Group alongside new
directors who bring fresh perspectives and diverse experiences
to the Board.

The Board complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to (i) the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise; (i) independent non-executive
Director representing at least one-third of the Board; and (iii)
the audit committee of the Company (“AC”) should comprise
only independent non-executive Directors.

The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out
on pages 28 to 37 of this annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in this annual
report and all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The Company
also maintains on its website (www.681hk.com) and on the Stock
Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) an updated list of its
Directors (by category) identifying the role and function.

The Company has established formal, considered and
transparent procedures and criteria for the appointment, re-
election, resignation, re-designation, rotation, retirement and/
or removal of the Director(s) in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws, the Listing Rules and all applicable laws.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and/or the Code Provisions
of the Listing Rules, (1) at each annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM") not less than one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from the Board by rotation; (2)
each Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years at the conclusion of the AGM after
he/she was last re-elected as Director by shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) at the general meeting of
the Company and (3) each Director appointed to fill a casual
vacancy or as an additional Director by the Board should retire
from the Board at the conclusion of the first general meeting
of the Company to be held but they, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election as the Director by the Shareholders at
the same meeting.

RAZEETHMRTEFTSAN K &
BEFE BREZTTIE UWHEREZERT
BEUAEEARAFRARBNZONKE
2N MEMATEEREFTEHINEH
A [R) A 4 Bt

SEFeCETLEMRUBARNREIEL =5
BIYFPTES MEFEL BB IFHR
TEFARBEEMNEXERNGF NAARA
MEEERMMRE  (VBLFRTESA
BHEEZEEL =D k(AR AHE
mZEg ([BRERE|)A2MRBIIHE
HITES-

ERTEFECREFBHNAFHRE2S8
F37H-

RIELETMBAIZERNPEZEESRER
ARANBFREB TRz CEBAF
W AN B W H 48 Uk (www.681hk.com)
T2 B 32 B 48 i (www. hkexnews. hk)1% 48 Bl #2
HEFEELREUNEAGEBE-

ARRBERBRRAR ZARAR - LA
MABBERENRESRME B BT
AT WE ORER/IBEHNEETLE
A RERAEREZRRFEER -

BEBERRRZARMAANR, S EHRAZ
SRNEX - (WEL =2z —EEEFEARAK
AEBERRBFAG ((RREAFAE])
tWERTESEE: QBEFABRELER
RARABERBFRGEARFBR (K
RNEBREFRE=-FERREFAS
PREEFE X RQEEFERENEA
AR ERINEERMRUECSESTAA
REEZERBITZEEARRRRERAS
RRERIEFTS ERETAERARF
—RELHBRREERES-



During the Year, Dr. Mo Shikang, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus
and Dr. Liu Junmin retired from the Board by rotation at the
conclusion of the AGM held on 4 September 2019 (the “2019
AGM") and were then re-elected as the Directors by the
Shareholders with separate resolutions passed in the 2019
AGM in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the
Listing Rules.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company and pursuant
to paragraph A4.2 of the Code Provisions, Mr. Zhang Heshang,
Miss Mo Yunbi and Mr. Sin Ka Man (“Mr. Sin”) shall retire from
the Board by rotation at the conclusion of forthcoming AGM
("2020 AGM") but, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the 2020 AGM.

Mr. Sin has served as an independent non-executive Director
for around 14 years in his further re-election as Director at
the 2020 AGM. During his 14 years of tenure, Mr. Sin has
demonstrated his ability to provide an independent view to the
Company’s matters. Notwithstanding during his years of service
as an independent non-executive Director, the Board and the
Nomination Committee are of the view that Mr. Sin is able to
continue to fulfill his role as required and thus recommended
him for re-election at the 2020 AGM in accordance with the
Listing Rules, his further appointment will be subject to a
separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders and the
papers to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will
include the reasons the Board believes he is still independent
and should be re-elected. Mr. Sin has made a written annual
confirmation of independence for the Year pursuant to rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board and the NC have also recommended the re-election
of all the abovementioned retiring Directors standing for re-
election at the 2020 AGM.

Detailed biographical information of all the abovementioned
retiring Directors standing for re-election at the 2020 AGM will
be dispatched to Shareholders with this annual report.
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Each of the independent non-executive Director has entered
and will enter into a service contract with the Company
for specific term of three (3) years after he be re-elected as
Director at the AGM and Miss Mo Yunbi, an executive Director,
has entered into a service contract with the Company for
no specific years. Save as disclosed above, the Company did
not enter into any service contract with other Directors. All
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws and the Listing Rules.

The Board normally has at least four (4) scheduled meetings a
year to review financial information, internal control systems,
risk management systems, corporate strategy, operating
performance and the progress of the various on-going projects
of the Group, if any, and meets at other times as and when
required. The Board requires Directors to devote sufficient time
and attention to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
During the Year, a total number of nine (9) Board meetings,
three (3) AC meetings, one (1) NC meeting and one (1)
Remuneration Committee (“RC") meeting were held. Minutes
of these meetings are currently kept by the Company Secretary
of the Company and are open for inspection by the Directors
and Board committees’ members.

In consideration of the Code Provisions on Directors’ time
commitments, the Chairman held a private meeting with
independent non-executive Directors (without the presence
of the managing Director and executive Directors) in 2019 to
review the contribution required from a Director to perform
his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether he/her is
spending sufficient time in performing them.
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During the Year, the Board has regularly reviewed the
contributions from the Directors and confirmed that they have
spent sufficient time performing their responsibilities. The
individual attendance records of each Director, on a named
basis, at the meetings of the Board, AC, NC and RC as well as
the Shareholders’ meeting(s) (AGM and special general meeting
(“SGM"), if any), during the Year are set out below:

AGM
Name of Directors B3y REBEAE
Number of Meetings e38E 1
Executive Directors HrES
Dr. Mo Shikang EtFET N
Mr. Zhang Hesheng FREEE 17
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus KEREE N
Mr. Fan Fangyi BhERE 17
Miss Mo Yunbi LN i
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES

Directors

Dr. Liu Junmin B%RAL i
Prof. Zhao Yanyun EEEYR N
Mr. Sin Ka Man KR L 111

The high attendance record at the Board and its committee
meetings during the Year, which was reviewed by the NC
and RC in June 2020, demonstrated the Directors’ strong
commitment to the Company.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held
by the Directors in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as their identities and the time
involved (the “Commitments”) to the Company, all Directors
have agreed to disclose their Commitments to the Company
and the change, if any, in a timely manner and then confirm
their other directorships, major appointments and interests to
the Company (if any) twice a year.
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The Company has a division of functions reserved to the
Board and delegated to the senior management. The Board
currently provides leadership and approves strategic polices
and plans with a view to enhance Shareholders’ interests while
the day-to-day operations of the Company and the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The Board has full
support of the managing Director and the senior management
to discharge its responsibilities.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Group, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
systems, risk management systems, material transactions (in
particular those may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, change of Directors, ad hoc projects and other
significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to managing and executive Directors
and the senior management. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the above mentioned officers.

Each executive Director is delegated individual responsibility
to oversee and monitor the operations of the specific business
unit and/or corporate merge and acquisition and to implement
the strategies and polices set by the Board. Each Director
may seek for independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expenses, upon making
request to the Board. All members of the Board are provided
with monthly updates to enable them to discharge their duties.

ARREINESERAELREESREEA
EREEEEFH-EFT  HAREFEA
B REIREEBR LT E BRIE S BORE
@ WIRESREEBREARFNAEE
FREF- EEeRBEFRLERRAE
BABRAXFE LETHEBE-

EZSRBUAEBMAEEREERRE
BRESENER—VBREE BRREN
MREE AMEERG BAREERS.
BEARG (FRIRAESRNaFRZR
%) MBEERN EEEE  KIHRIARKEM
EAMBMEEEE-

AEBARER THRAEEFTEREES
R HTEENSAEEERE YF
IS RSB R B R TIESETRA
ERFEAENETERNERRZAT BA
BSEFESERMME

BUATESHRTEEECEERER
HEEBBEU2EER REEHBED
NETEESHIE 2RI REE -REER
AT BREFARNESTGRLZFR K
BUEXER BRAARAN N 28BS
EERBUREHEBASHER EREE
TTHBE -



Through active participation in meetings of the Board, Board
committees and general meetings of the Company, the
independent non-executive Directors currently bring a wide
range of business and financial expertise, experiences, skills
and independent judgment on the issues of strategy, policy,
performance accountability, resources, key appointments,
connected transactions and standards of conduct to the
Board. Independent non-executive Directors have taken and/
or shall take lead when potential conflicts of interest arise.
Independent Board committee, comprising all independent non-
executive Directors, has formed and/or will form to advise the
independent Shareholders on those connected transactions
to be approved by the independent Shareholders at the SGM.
All independent non-executive Directors have made various
contributions to the effective direction and performance of
the Company. One of the independent non-executive Directors
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received, from each independent non-
executive Directors for the Year, a written annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
which was amended during the Year. The Board and the NC
considered all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the independent guidelines set
out in the Listing Rules.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance including company securities, employment
practices, regulatory crisis event, investigation, litigation, tax
liabilities and public relation, etc, for the Directors and senior
officers of the Group, which is reviewed by the Board on a
regular basis. The Company undertakes an annual review of
the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy
in light of recent trends in the insurance market and other
relevant factors. The review benchmarks the amount of cover
against other similar companies and considers whether separate
cover be required for members of the Board.
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All Directors are required to comply with their duties to act in
the best interest of the Company and have particular regard to
the interest of the Shareholders as a whole. Amongst others,
all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent of
their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract
or other proposal to be considered by the Board at meetings.
Unless specifically permitted by the Bye-laws of the Company,
a Director cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any
of his/her close associates is materially interested.

The Board and Board committees members are supplied with
comprehensive meeting papers and relevant materials within a
reasonable period of time in advance of the intended meeting
date (in any event no less than three (3) days before the date of
the meeting). All Directors and the Board committees members
are given opportunities to include matters in the agenda for
regular Board and Board committees meetings and/or their
meetings, if required. To facilitate the decision-making process,
the Directors and the Board committees members are free to
have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information, when required.

All Directors and the Board committees members have
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, who ensures that the Board and Board committees
receive appropriate and timely information for its decision-
making and the Board and Board committees procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations, are being followed.
The Directors and the Board committees members can obtain
independent professional advice at the Company’s expenses.
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The Board receives from the management monthly
management accounts, explanation and analysis of the
operation performance of the Group and relevant information
which enable the Board to make an informed assessment for
approving the financial statements. Other regular and ad hoc
reports are also prepared for the Board and Board committees,
to ensure that the Directors and member of the Board
committees are supplied with all the requested information in a
timely and appropriate manner.

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the chairman of the Board and the Managing Director,
who perform similar role as chief executive officer, to ensure a
balance of power and authority. The respective responsibilities
of the chairman of the Board and the Managing Director are
clearly defined. The chairman of the Board provides leadership
and is responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice. With the
support of the management, the chairman of the Board is also
responsible for ensuring that the Directors receive adequate
information and appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board
meetings. The position of the chairman of the Board is currently
held by Dr. Mo Shikang.

The chairman of the Board ensures that the Board works
effectively and performs its responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a timely
manner. He also ensures all Directors are properly briefed on
issues to be discussed at Board meetings. The chairman of the
Board encourages Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allows sufficient time for discussion of issues and
ensures that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus. He
pushes all Directors to make a full and active contributions to
the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholders
as whole.
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The Managing Director focuses on implementing objectives, policies
and strategies approved and delegated by the Board. He is in
charge of the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The Managing Director is also responsible for developing strategic
plans and formulating the organisational structure, internal control
system, risk management system control systems and internal
procedures and processes for the Board’s approval. The position of
the Managing Director is currently held by Mr. Fan Fangyi.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment,
so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the
Group structure, Board and Board committees meetings procedures,
business, management and operations of the Company, etc. and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements in
Bermuda and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from
the strategic, planning and management perspective, the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance, as well as
the essence of corporate governance and the trends in these
areas, be therefore arranged for newly appointed Directors(s), if
any, after he/she joined the Board.

The Board acknowledges that continuous professional
development and training of Directors is an ongoing process
to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and
knowledge.
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Besides, the Company keeps circulating information and materials FRitzoh AR AR EBENHESEEMN L

to develop and refresh Directors’ knowledge and skills from time M MBI EEN MR R -FIA
to time. All the information and materials are relevant to the BASMEEAREE 2 355 K8 ¥
Group's business, the economy, corporate governance, rules and B RA KA g5 BB BERRE
regulations, accounting, financial or professional skills and/or R/ SREENBEMETER - BSLPETH
directors’ duties and responsibilities. There are also arrangements MEEERHEERREXESTI -FA-ESF
in place for providing continuing briefing and professional KRS B A AN B E DI AT

development to each Director. During the Year, the record of the
trainings of the Directors, on named basis, is set out in the table

below:
Receiving
briefings from
Reading financial
journals, officers,
written Attending company
training webcast secretary
materials and/ training and/ and/or other
or updates or forums executives
230
B#EAE AT
RESTH @ EE S WEM R
ZAMRR,  EBEIRS HittSE®N
Directors BE= HEH o w18 IGE:
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Mo Shikang St EEiE LT v v v
Mr. Zhang Hesheng SRR A v v v
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus N cie v v/ v
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHESLE v v v
Miss Mo Yunbi REZ/E v v v
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITESE
Dr. Liu Junmin BEREL v v
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HEEHE v v
Mr. Sin Ka Man HERE T E v v/
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at AR EBESTHEAASIRE B
the Company’s expenses. The company secretary is responsible to AHARARIAE AAWEAERTSES
keep records of training taken by each Director. The NC reviewed BEXHEINEEE - REZ 88 MN202056 A

the training records of each Director in June 2020. EEBESEE 2 EIIRE



The company secretary, being an employee of the Company,
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs and
reports to the Board. She keeps close contact with all Directors
and ensures that the operation of the Board and all Board
committees are in compliance with the procedures as set forth
in the Company's Bye-laws and the Listing Rules. Additionally,
the company secretary is responsible for compiling and
regularly submitting draft minutes of Board meetings and Board
Committee meetings to the Directors and committee members
for their comment, and final version of minutes for their
records, within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings.
Each Director may obtain advice from and the assistance of
the company secretary to ensure that the meeting of Board
and Board committees procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations, are followed. To ensure the possession of up-to-
date knowledge and market information to perform her duties,
the company secretary attended sufficient professional training
during the Year.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policy and practices on corporate governance, assessing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management. During the Year, the Board
reviewed, monitored and assessed the policy and practices on
corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development to Directors and senior management, policies and
practice on compliance with legal and regulatory requirement
and the compliance with the Model Code under the Listing Rule
and disclosure requirements in this Corporate Governance Report.
The Board kept under review in light of the changing legal and
regulatory requirements.
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The Board has established three committees, namely, the
AC, NC and RC. All Board committees of the Company have
been established with defined written terms of reference,
which are disclosed in the corporate website of the Company
(www.681hk.com) and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and are available to Shareholders upon request.

The members of the AC at present are all independent non-
executive Directors whereas, the majority of NC and the RC
comprise independent non-executive Directors. The list of the
chairman and members of each Board committee is set out
under “Corporate Information” in this annual report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at Company's expenses.

The written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
has been suggested under the Code Provisions. The AC
currently comprises independent non-executive Directors,
among them one independent non-executive Director possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. None of the members
of the AC is a former partner of the Company's existing
external auditor. The AC currently comprises the following
three members:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man, chairman
(i) Dr. Liu Junmin

(iii)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun
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The main duties of the AC include the followings:

(1

To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
responsible staff of accounting and financial report
function, compliance officer (if any), internal auditor or
external auditor before submission to the Board;

To review the relationship with the external auditor and
its independence by reference to the work performed and
services provided by the external auditor, their fees, their
firm’s standards and practices and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and/or removal of external
auditor;

To review the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed in the annual report, if any, and confirm that
those transactions entered into by the Group were (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii)
according to the respective agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interest
of the Shareholders as a whole; and

To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.
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The AC held three (3) meetings during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report to, inter alia,

(1)

(8)

review and approve the draft audited and unaudited
consolidated financial statement together with and the
respective draft result announcements, including changes
in accounting policies and practices; major judgmental
areas; significant adjustments resulting from the audit
(if any); going concern assumption; compliance with
accounting and auditing standards and compliance with
the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to
financial reporting to the Board for consideration and
approval;

review the results of the external audit and discuss with
the external auditor on any significant findings and audit
issues;

assess the independence of the external auditor of the
Company and the effectiveness of audit process;

review the relationship with the external auditor and then
recommend the re-appointment of the external auditor of
the Company and recommend its remuneration;

evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
systems of internal control and risk management
which covered all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance together with the associated
procedures;

review and approve the internal audit programme, review
the internal audit reports and discuss any significant
issues with the management;

review the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staffs of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget; and

review the current continuing connected transactions.

The attendance record of the meetings of AC during the Year is
set out on page 43 of this report.
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During the Year, the fee paid/payable to auditor in respect of
audit service and non-audit services provided by the auditor to
the Group were as follows:

Nature of services PR 7% 14 &
Audit for the Year KEFEEZ
Others i

The written terms of reference has been suggested (amended
from time to time) under the Code Provisions.The NC comprises
the following four members, major of them are independent
non-executive Directors:

(i)  Dr. Mo Shikang*, chairman

(i)~ Dr. Liu Junmin®

(iii)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun”

(iv)  Mr. Sin Ka Man”

# executive Director

* independent non-executive Director

The main duties of the NC include the followings:

(1) review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations any proposed

changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;
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(2) identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

(3) review the Board diversity with reference to the Board
Diversity Policy;

(4) assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

(5)  make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief
executive.

The NC has been delegated by the Board to review the size,
structure and composition of the Board on an annual basis.

The Company has adopted below the policy for nomination of
Directors (including the nomination procedures and criteria for
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship) in
accordance with the Code Provisions.

NC shall nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to
consider and make recommendations to the Shareholders for
election as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors
to fill casual vacancies.

NC may, as it considers appropriate, nominate a number
of candidates more than the number of the Directors to be
appointed or re-appointed at a general meeting, or the number
of casual vacancies to be filled.
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The factors listed below would be used as reference by the NC
in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

° reputation for integrity;

o accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the
principal business of our group, from time to time;

° commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest; and

° diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The NC has the discretion to nominate
any person, as it considers appropriate.

1. The secretary of the NC shall call a meeting of the
NC, and invite nominations of candidates from Board
members, if any, for consideration by the NC prior to its
meeting. The NC may also put forward candidates who
are not nominated by Board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the NC shall make
recommendations for the Board’'s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election
at a general meeting, the NC shall make nominations to
the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

3. Until the issue of the circular to Shareholders, the
nominated persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the general
meeting.
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The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (“Board
Diversity Policy”) and has posted it on the Company’s website
(www.681hk.com), which sets out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board, the summary of which are set out
below:

(@) With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the
attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development.

(b) In designing the Board’'s composition, the diversity of
Board members has been considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

(¢)  All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

The NC held one (1) meeting during the Year and up to the
date of this report to, inter alia,

(1) assess the structure, size and composition of the Board
and analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with
the Board Diversity Policy adopted by the Board;

(2) evaluate the performance of the Board with reference to
the Board performance report;

(3) study the independence of each independent non-
executive Director in accordance with the Listing Rules;

(4) identify those Directors to be retired from the Board by
rotation in the AGM and then be re-elected as Director in
the same meeting in accordance with the Company'’s Bye-
laws and the Listing Rules;
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(g) Board Committees (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

(5)
in the AGM; and

(6)

propose the maximum number of Directors of the Board

review the service contract(s) to be entered with the

independent non-executive Director(s), if any.

The attendance records of the meeting of the NC during the
Year is set on page 43 of this report.

Analysis of the diversity of the Board by NC is shown by the

following charts:
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The written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
of RC has been suggested under the Code Provisions. The RC
currently comprises the following five members:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man®, chairman
(i) Dr. Mo Shikang*

(iii)  Mr. Zhang Hesheng?*

(iv)  Dr. Liu Junmin®

(v)  Prof. Zhao Yanyun”

* independent non-executive Director

# executive Director

The RC meets at least once a year to determine the remuneration
policy for the Directors and senior management. The RC
has primary responsibility for making recommendations on
and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management to the Board after consultation with the Chairman
and Deputy Chairmen, assessed performance of the executive
Directors and accessed to professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, when necessary. The RC is also responsible for
establishing a formal and transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates be participated in deciding his/her own
remuneration, which remuneration be determined by reference to
the duties and responsibilities of Directors in the Group, business
performance, profitability and market conditions.
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The RC held one (1) meeting during the Year and up to the
date of this report to, inter alia,

(1) review the summary of remuneration package paid to
each Directors and senior management of the Company
for the Year;

(2) study the current remuneration package, policy and
structure of all Directors (including appointment(s),
resignation(s) and retirement(s) during the Year, if any);

(3) propose remuneration packages in the coming year with
reference to the duties and responsibilities of Directors,
business performance and profitability of the Group
and market conditions, the corporate objective and goal
set by the Board with reference to salaries paid by the
comparable companies to Directors;

(4) consider the service contract(s) to be entered with
independent non-executive Director(s) and/or Director(s),
if any; and

(5)  review the procedures of remuneration policy, procedures
and structure for fixing the remuneration packages.

The attendance records of the meeting of the RC during the
Year is set out on page 43 of this report.
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The Board has overall responsibility for the systems of internal
control and risk management of the Group and for reviewing
its effectiveness. The Board is committed to implementing an
effective and sound internal control and risk management
systems to safeguard the interest of Shareholders and the
assets of the Group. During the Year and up to the date
of this annual report, the Board, through the AC, reviewed
the implementation of the systems of internal control and
risk management and reviewing of all relevant financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management
functions system. A review be conducted at least annually
on the effectiveness of the systems of internal control and
risk management. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, a meeting has held reviewing and monitoring
effectiveness of our major subsidiaries in relation to the
progress of completion on operational targets, market
development, customer service, production and operations
management, safety management system, finance, construction
works, ad hoc projects or overall performance.

The Group has maintained a tailored governance structure
with defined lines of responsibility and appropriate delegation
of responsibility and authority to the management. The
internal control and risk management systems of the Group
are designed to identify and evaluate the significant risks and
to minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure
to achieve business objective, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatements or
losses.
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The Group which currently engages in the businesses of the
sales and distribution of fuel gas including piped gas and
cylinder gas as well as fast moving consumer goods and food
ingredients supply in China, has established internal control and
risk management systems which are designed and structured in
accordance with its specific business and operation functions.

The main features of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group comprise primarily: (i) the setting
of objectives, budgets and targets, subject to the close
monitoring and periodic update and evaluation by the
responsible departments, management and the Directors; (ii)
the establishment of regular reporting of financial information
supplemented by other regular and ad hoc reports for review
and appraisal by the management and the Directors on a timely
manner to ensure the management and Directors are supplied
with all the requested information to assess the business
performances of the Group in arriving at appropriate plans
and actions; (iii) the delegation of authority and establishment
of clear lines of accountability to ensure an effective day-to-
day management, administration and operation of the Group;
and (iv) the periodic review and evaluation of the systems
and control procedures to ensure their appropriateness to the
changing business and operation environment as well as to
identify any areas of material risks and weaknesses for the
purpose of proper mitigation and improvement.
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The Board monitors the Group’s business risk, operating
risk management and internal controls. An internal audit
department is maintained to carry out internal audit functions
to ensure proper compliance with the internal control and
risk management systems to identify the potential risks
which may arise in the operation and financial aspects of the
Group’s business for implementation of appropriate measures
and policies on a continuing basis. The scope of review and
the audit plan of the internal audit department for the Year,
which are formulated based on a risk assessment approach
and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived risks,
are reviewed and approved by the AC in conjunction with
the management. The internal audit department executes its
functions based on a yearly plan and prepares reports for its
assignments. These reports are submitted to the management,
the Board and the AC for review on a regular basis.

During the Year, the Board, through the AC, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems and the internal audit functions
of Group. The review covers all material controls, including
financial reporting system, operational and compliance
controls and risk management system as well as the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experiences of staffs of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting system, and
their training programmes and budget. The Board and the
AC confirmed that during the Year, there were no significant
control failings or weaknesses identified which might have a
material impact on the Company’s financial performance or
condition and the required procedures and human resources
are in place to ensure adequate internal controls within the
Group.

An external audit has also been conducted to carry out the
internal audit functions to ensure proper compliance with
the internal control system and risk management system to
identify the potential risks which may arise in the operation
and financial of the Group's business for implementation
of appropriate measures and policies on a continuing basis.
The scope of review and the audit programme of external
audit firm, which are formulated based on a risk assessment
approach and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived
risks, are approved by the AC at the end of the preceding
financial year in conjunction with the management. The
external audit firm executes their functions based on a yearly
plan and prepares reports for their assignments. These reports
are submitted to the management, the Board and the AC for
review on a regular basis. Such reports are also circulated to the
external auditor on an annual basis.
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The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information
Policy for the Company since 2013 for monitoring inside
information to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the
Securities and Futures Ordinance. The procedures and internal
controls for handling and dissemination of inside information as
set out in the Inside Information Policy are summarised below:

Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to the
Board and/or is the subject of a decision by the Board
in accordance with the Listing Rules. In cases where a
decision by the Board is pending or in cases of incomplete
negotiations, the Group shall implement the procedures
set out in the Inside Information Policy to maintain the
confidentiality of information. Until an announcement is
made, the Directors and the management should ensure
that such information is kept strictly confidential. If the
confidentiality cannot be maintained, an announcement
shall be made as soon as practicable.

Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of inside
information, they shall inform the Directors and/or the
company secretary, immediately so that remedial actions,
including making an inside information announcement,
can be taken at the earliest opportunity.

The Group’s finance department shall keep track of the
Group’s threshold levels for disclosure pursuant to the
percentage ratios as defined in the Listing Rules, so that
an announcement can be made as soon as practicable
should a notifiable transaction arise.

Inside information is announced promptly through the websites
of the Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.681hk.com). The electronic publication system of the
Stock Exchange is the first channel of dissemination of the
Group's information before any other channels.
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The Company has committed to maintain an open and
effective investor relation policy and to update investors on
relevant information/developments in a timely manner, subject
to relevant regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings
with institutional investors and analysts are conducted from
time to time. The Company also replied the enquiries from
Shareholders timely. The Directors host the AGM each year to
meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company's website at www.681hk.com contains important
corporate information, biographical details of current Directors,
organisation structure, annual and interim reports with
comprehensive and user-friendly information about the Group,
as well as announcements and circulars issued by the Company
in order to enable the Shareholders and the investor community
to have timely access to updated information about the
Company and the Group.

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to convene
a SGM and state the purpose therefor at the Company’s
registered office in Bermuda at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda.

The Directors propose the dividend, if any, in accordance with
the dividend policy of the Company (“Dividend Policy”) which
essential features are summarised below:

The Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines of
the Company in relation to the distribution of dividend to the
Shareholders.

The objective of the Dividend Policy is to reward the
Shareholders by sharing a portion of profits/earning, while also
ensuring that enough funds are retained for the future growth
and prospects of the Company.
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The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to
the discretion of the Board, which normally did/will take into
account of the following factors:

e The financial results of the Company and the Group;

e Interests of the Shareholders;

e General business conditions and strategies;

e  The capital requirements of the Group;

e  Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to
the Company, if any;

e  Taxation considerations;

e  Possible effects on our creditworthiness;

e  Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

®  Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or
any dividend at all, will be declared and paid in the future.

Any distribution of dividend for a financial year shall be subject
to the approval by the Shareholders. Shareholders at a general
meeting of the Company can approve any distribution of final
dividend, which may not exceed the amount recommended by
the Board.

All of the Shareholders have equal rights to dividend.
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Dividend may be distributed in the form of cash and/in specie
of Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however, must be
approved by the Shareholders.

The Board may from time to time to declare the special,
quarterly and/or interim dividends as appear to the Board to be
justified.

The Company has adopted communications policy with
Shareholders and investors that provide ready, equal and timely
access to understandable information about the Company, the
policy is posted on the Company's website (www.681hk.com).
The Board is welcome to Shareholders for their comments and/
or enquiries about the Company. Shareholders may send their
comments and/or enquiries to the Board by addressing them
to the company secretary who ensures these enquires and/or
comments to be properly directed to the Board. Shareholders
who wish to put forward proposal for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings can send their proposal
to the company secretary.

Pursuant to Bye-laws of the Company, if a Shareholder wish to
propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as a
Director at a general meeting of the Company, the Shareholder
should deposit a written notice of nomination which shall be
given to the head office of the Company within the 7-day
period commencing the day after the despatch of the notice of
the meeting (or such other period as may be determined and
announced by the Directors from time to time). The relevant
procedures are posted on the Company’s website (www.681hk.
com).

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar
and transfer office, namely, Tricor Tengis Limited, whose
contact details are stated in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of this annual report.
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The Company’s AGM is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the
management are committed to the constructive use of AGM as
a forum to meet with Shareholders and to hear their views and
answer their enquiries about the Group and its business.

Dr. Mo Shikang, the chairman of the Board, did and would
use his endeavours to attend all Shareholders’ meetings.
The chairman of the Board did and would arrange for the
chairmen of RC, NC and AC or their alternates be available to
answer enquiries at each AGM of the Company. A member
of the independent Board committee of the Company also
be available to answer enquiries at any general meeting
of the Company, if any, to approve connected transactions
or any other transactions that are subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.

The Board did and would arrange auditor to attend every AGM
of the Company to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor’s independence.

Most resolutions would be passed by way of poll at each
of the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders who
are unable to attend general meetings of the Company can
appoint proxies to attend and vote at general meetings of the
Company. The chairman of general meetings of the Company
would provide explanation of the detailed procedures for
conducting a poll and then would answer enquiries (if any)
from the Shareholders regarding voting by way of poll. The
Company would send notice of the AGM of the Company to
the Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before each
AGM of the Company and at least 10 clear business days
before all other general meetings of the Company.

The Company’s website (www.681hk.com) is maintained
for the dissemination of the Company’s announcements,
press releases and other relevant financial and non-financial
information on a timely basis.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Executive Director maintains
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep
them abreast of the Company’s developments. Enquiries from
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely manner.
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The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) are pleased to
present this report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year"”).

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the sales and distribution of fuel gas including
the provision of piped gas, sales and distribution of cylinder gas and
fast moving consumer goods (“FMCG") and food ingredients supply
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”). Further
discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication
of likely future development in the Group’s business, can be found in
the “Chairman’s Statement” and the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” set out on pages 2 to 27 of this annual report. All these
sections form part of this “Report of the Directors”.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2020 are set out
in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
91 to 92 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: nil).

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
25 September 2020 to Wednesday, 30 September 2020 (both dates
inclusive), for the purpose of determining the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) eligibility to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday,
30 September 2020 (the “2020 AGM") and during which period
no transfer of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) will be
effected. In order to qualify for attendance of the 2020 AGM,
all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates of the Company must be lodged with the Company's
branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited (address: Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Rood East, Hong Kong) not later than
4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 24 September 2020.

7Mﬂ§$<r§$nmw Na) REK B
NE (s AEE] )Etizozo%ﬂm B4
E MK#JEJ)Z#&iw«%ffﬂ?éﬁﬁ&&%

ARRAR—RREEBRAR - AEHF2ERE

E%%H(F*J)?ﬁé%%ﬁﬁﬁ’i& D $H B
IR BIRR S (e & o 3 i WA SRUA B R i
JEFIE 5575 o *ETJ%%C/% Wlﬂﬁﬂﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬁm
BRAZSXB2E-—TRmkoi (BEBRA
SEFMESTZER &THHEHI%Z*TWM&K
SEEBARKAS %")EZ?a%I)?XBAﬁﬁiE%ZZ\

7 [XEBEIR[EEEFNBEAN]I A
REEMBRAESERE] — 50

1;&11% AIR202053 A31H 2 EBEH N A FE
WER A B IS FMIFES0 -

$'§lﬁ@f%iiﬁﬁmkii&%m§92Eﬁ\é\%§
N H A 2 U K o

BEEIEBIREHE2020F3A31BIEFEEZ KR
EARE 2 (20194F : &) o

A% F2020F9A25H (£ 8 H ) £20204F9
H(EH=Z) (BEMBREEA) ZIZiE
ARABRE ([REI)BLFE NEETREER#
HER 202059 308 (Eﬁﬂz)ﬁ%ﬁmx%ﬂi
KE ([2020ERRBERE ) TREe LERE

B R EE AN REAR Wﬂxﬁ((ﬂ’i’m)
BEERFE BFEAERIEE2020F EASF
K IREMAER20209F9A248 (EHM) TF
ARF300F BT BB RIGERBEARNNRIKRE
REARNRZBROBEELDREBESERER
é)ﬁﬁ o (Hhih - BB B A ANBHEI183A FIF 154

s
gw

)

mE



A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for
the past five financial years is set out on page 260 of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in this annual report.

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
notes 16 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

Further details of the movement in the share capital and Share Options
of the Company, if any, during the Year are set out in notes 36 and
42 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
respectively.

Save as disclosed under the section of “"SHARE CAPITAL AND
SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS” above, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into during the Year.

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 95 to 96 and note 49 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report respectively.
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As at 31 March 2020, the Company did not have any distributable
reserve (2019: nil).

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2020
is set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate sales attributable
to the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers taken
together accounted for 3.92% and 13.19% of the Group’s total
revenue for the Year, respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate purchase
attributable to the Group's largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers taken together accounted for 26.91% and 48.28% of the
Group’s total purchase for the Year, respectively.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or, so far as the
Directors are aware, any Shareholder who owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in any of
the said top five customers and suppliers of the Group for the Year.

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
this annual report were:

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)

Miss Mo Yunbi

Dr. Liu Junmin
Prof. Zhao Yanyun
Mr. Sin Ka Man
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The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out on
pages 28 to 37 of this annual report.

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors shall be
indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they may incur in
connection with their duties. The Company has arranged appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years and Miss Mo
Yunbi (“Miss Mo"), an executive Director, has entered into a service
contract with the Company for no specific year, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation from the Board and then re-election
in the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with
the Company’s Bye-laws and the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company and pursuant to
paragraph A4.2 of the Code on Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report annexed as Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules, Mr. Zhang Hesheng and Miss Mo, being executive Directors,
and Mr. Sin Ka Man, being an independent non-executive Director,
shall retire from the Board by rotation at the conclusion of 2020
AGM but they, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
2020 AGM.

There is no service contract, which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation), in respect of any Director proposed for
re-election at the 2020 AGM.
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Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis and five highest
paid individuals (four of them are Directors) are set out in note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report .

The Company had received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. Liu Junmin, Prof,
Zhao Yanyun and Mr. Sin Ka Man, of their independence for the Year
pursuant to the rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and both the Board and
the Nomination Committee considered all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

As at 31 March 2020, the interests of the Directors in the shares,
underlying shares and/or debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) (the “Associated
Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the “Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the
“Model Code"”) were as follows:
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Dr. Mo Shikang (" Dr. Mo") EtRET((E8L)) 2,497,782,762 - 1,135,000,000° 3,632,782,762 40,66
M. Zhang Hesheng FAELE 338271,82 - - 338,271,282 379
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus AEREE 69,000,000 14,004,605 - 83,004,605 093
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHERE 22,000,000 - - 22,000,000 025
Miss Mo MR - - 1,135,000,000° 1,135,000,000 1270
Dr. Liu Junmin ARRET 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.06
Prof. Zhao Yanyun HESAR 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 0.06



Notes:

1. This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial
owner.

2. This represents interests legally and beneficially held by his spouse.

3. This represents interests legally and beneficially held by Ping Da
Development Limited (“Ping Da”), a company was legally and
beneficially owned 50% by Dr. Mo and 50% by Miss Mo.

* The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2020 (i.e.
8,934,561,203 Shares).

Save as disclosed above and under section headed “DIRECTORS'
RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES” below, as at 31
March 2020, none of the Directors nor their associates had any other
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and/or
debentures of the Company or any of its Associated Corporations
which had been entered in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS” in this report, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or
its holding companies was a party and in which a Director or any
entities connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.
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At no time during the Year was the Company, its subsidiaries,
its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors, their spouse and children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

The Board adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All
Directors have confirmed their compliance with the required standard
set out in the Model Code during the Year. Employees, who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the
Company, have been requested to comply with provisions of Model
Code.

As at 31 March 2020, the interests of those persons (other than the
Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

Name of Shareholder Capacity
RRE® 54

Ping Da (note) neficial owner
Z (

Be
T (H3E) EGBAEA
(L) = long position & &

Note: This represents the Shares held by Ping Da, a company equally-owned
by Dr. Mo and Miss Mo.

* The percentage has been adjusted (if any) based on the total number of
Shares in issue as at 31 March 2020 (i.e. 8,934,561,203 Shares).
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Company had
not been notified of any interests and short positions in the shares
and/or underlying shares of the Company any of its Associated
Corporations, which had been recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

During the Year, none of the Directors or substantial Shareholders or
any of their respective close associates has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the
Group.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company,
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report and within
the knowledge of the Directors, there was sufficiency of public float
of the Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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Shareholders approved a resolution of adoption of a new share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) in the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 9 September 2016.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, nil share
option was outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed and/or cancelled
under the Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share

Option Scheme:

Purpose

Participants

Price of Shares

Provide incentives to the eligible persons
to contribute to the Group, to enable
the Group to recruit and retain quality
employees to serve the Group on a
long-term basis and to attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

Eligible person include any executive,
employee (whether full-time or part-
time), Director (including independent
non-executive Director), consultant,
adviser, partner, joint-venture partner,
service provider, customer and/or agent
of the Company or any of its subsidiary
or any person, who in the absolute
discretion of the Board, has contributed
or may contribute to the Group at the
time when an option is granted to such
person.

Determined by the Board and shall at
least be the highest of:

(a) the nominal value of the Share;

(b) the closing price of the Share as
stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date
of offer, which must be a trading
day; and

(0) the average closing price of the
Share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations
sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date
of offer.
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Total number of Shares

available for issue
and the percentage
of the issued share
capital that it
represents as at the
date of this annual
report

Maximum entitlement
of each participant

Period within which

the securities must be

taken up under the
option

Minimum period for

which an option must

be held before it can
be exercised

Amount payable on
acceptance

Period within which
calls/loans must be
made/repaid

Remaining life of the
scheme

694,495,413 Shares, being approximately
7.77% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

Not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue in
any 12-month period.

Subject to the discretion by the Board.

Not applicable.

No amount is payable on acceptance of
an offer.

Not applicable.

The scheme will be valid and effective
until 8 September 2026, after which no
further options will be granted, but in
all other respects the provisions of this
scheme shall remain in full force and
effect in respect of any option granted
prior to the termination of this scheme
and any such option shall continue to
be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of issue.

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of
contributions to Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
the PRC statutory public welfare fund respectively. Details of which
are set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statement.
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On 14 December 2016, Xi‘an Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an
Civigas”) entered into a natural gas supply agreement (“2017-
2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement”) with Shaanxi
Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (“Shaanxi Natural Gas") to
renew the continuing connected transactions for a term of
three years commencing from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2019 (“2017-2019 Continuing Connected Transactions”).
The annual cap amount for the transactions under the 2017-
2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement for each of the three
years ended 31 December 2017, 31 December 2018 and 31
December 2019 be RMB148,205,000, RMB180,260,000 and
RMB210,152,000 respectively. For the year ended 31 December
2019, the amount was within the maximum aggregate value as
stated in the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement.

As the 2017-2109 Continuing Connected Transactions will
continue after the expiration of the 2017-2019 Natural Gas
Supply Agreement, on 18 December 2019, Xi‘an Civigas
entered into a new natural gas supply agreement (“2020-
2022 Natural Gas Supply Agreement”) with Shaanxi
Natural Gas to renew the 2017-2019 Continuing Connected
Transactions for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022. The annual caps
amount for the transactions under the 2020-2022 Natural
Gas Supply Agreement for each of the three years ending 31
December 2020, 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022
be RMB187,470,000, RMB206,230,000 and RMB226,870,000
respectively.

On 12 December 2018, Xi‘an Civigas Haihui New Energy Co.,
Ltd. (“Xi‘an Civigas Haihui”, an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary) entered into a LNG master supply agreement
("2018-2021 LNG Master Supply Agreement”) with
Xianyang Haihui New Energy Co., Ltd (“Xianyang Haihui"),
pursuant to which Xianyang Haihui has agreed to supply and
Xi‘an Civigas Haihui has agreed to purchase liquefied natural
gas ("LNG") commencing for the period from 1 October
2018 and ending 31 March 2021. The annual cap amounts
for the transactions under the 2018-2021 LNG Master Supply
Agreement for each of the three years ended/ending 31 March
2019, 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 are RMB11,200,000,
RMB55,000,000 and RMB67,000,000, respectively. For the year
ended 31 March 2020, the amount was within the maximum
aggregate value as stated in the 2018-2021 LNG Master Supply
Agreement. The 2018-2021 LNG Master Supply Agreement can
provide a stable and available source of LNG to Xi‘an Civigas
Haihui.
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3. On 31 October 2019, Xi‘an Civigas Haihui entered into a LNG
Master Sales Agreement (“2019-2022 LNG Master Sales
Agreement”) with Xianyang Haihui, pursuant to which Xi‘an
Civigas Haihui has agreed to supply and Xianyang Haihui has
agreed to purchase the LNG commencing for the period of
three years from 1 November 2019 and ending 31 October
2022 (both dates inclusive). The annual cap amounts for
the transactions under the 2019-2022 LNG Master Sales
Agreement for each of the three years ended/ending 31
October 2019, 31 October 2020 and 31 October 2021 are
RMB65,200,000, RMB66,504,000 and RMB67,834,000,
respectively. The 2019-2022 LNG Master Sales Agreement can
expand and increase revenue stream of Xi‘an Civigas Haihui
as well as benefit from the economics of sales for the bulk
purchase of LNG from Shaanxi Yanchang Petroleum (Group)
Co., Ltd. ("Yanchang Petroleum”), which is one of the four
domestic enterprises with oil and natural gas exploration
qualifications in the PRC and is also the main supplier of LNG in
Shaanxi Province. Xi'an Civigas Haihui can now purchase LNG
directly from Yanchang Petroleum and thus the demand of LNG
from Xianyang Haihui be reduced.

Shaanxi Natural Gas is a shareholder of Xi'an Civigas (being a 51%
owned subsidiary of the Group) holding 40% equity interests in
Xi'an Civigas, by virtue of its interests in Xi‘an Civigas, is regarded
as a connected person of the Company pursuant to chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. Shaanxi Natural Gas is principally engaged in the
distribution and pipeline transportation of natural gas, the sale of
city gas, as well as the operation of gasification projects. It is one of
the leading natural gas providers in Shaanxi Province, China. Through
purchasing the natural gas from Shaanxi Natural Gas, it can stable
the supply in the region Xi‘an Civigas serves.
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Xianyang Haihui is the other shareholder of Xi‘an Civigas Haihui
(being a 51% owned subsidiary of the Group) holding 49% equity
interests in Xi'an Civigas Haihui, by virtue of its interests in Xi'an
Civigas Haihui, is regarded as a connected person of the Company
pursuant to chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Xianyang Haihui is
a company established in the PRC with limited liability and is a
comprehensive natural gas operator which focuses on natural gas
utilisation and integrates investment in and development of LNG and
compressed natural gas (CNG) refilling stations, industrial utilisation
of natural gas (Coal to Gas, Oil to Gas) projects, LNG trading and
road transportation.

In view of the highest applicable percentage ratio of the respective
transactions under the 2017-2019 Natural Gas Supply Agreement;
the 2020-2022 Natural Gas Supply Agreement; the 2018-2021 LNG
Master Supply Agreement and the 2019-2022 LNG Master Sales
Agreement (collectively as “CCT Agreements”) and their respective
annual cap amounts under the CCT Agreements be more than 5%
as set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the respective
transactions under the respective CCT Agreements were:

(i)  between the Group and a connected person at the subsidiary
level,

(i) on normal commercial terms or better, and

(iii) approved by the Board and confirmed by the independent non-
executive Directors,

that are therefore exempted from the circular (including independent
financial advice) and Shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
14A.101(1) and (2) of the Listing Rules, but are subject to annual
review and all disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, details of the transactions under the CCT Agreements
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements on 15 December
2016, 19 December 2019, 12 December 2018 and 31 October 2019
respectively.

Pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditor of the Company to perform certain agreed upon procedures
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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The auditor of the Company has issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions under the CCT Agreements as disclosed by
the Group in the annual report in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected
transactions under the CCT Agreements and confirmed that these
transactions entered into by the Group were:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b) on normal commercial terms or better; and

() according to the respective agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company’s shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed herein, there were no transactions which need
to be disclosed as connected transaction in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules.

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements. In relation to those related party transactions that also
constituted connected transactions under the Listing Rules, they are
in compliance with applicable requirements under the Listing Rules
and are reported in this Annual Report in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Year.

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, neither
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold, or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those have
significant impact on the Group. The Board reviews and monitors
the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements in a regular basis. Any changes in the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of
relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

During the Year, to the best of the Company's knowledge, the
Company has complied with the requirements under memorandum
of association and Bye-laws of the Company, the Listing Rules, the
SFO, the Companies Act 1981 Bermuda and other laws applicable to
the Company. Details of the Company’'s compliance with the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the
Corporate Governance Report from pages 38 to 69 of this annual
report.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”), being the auditor of the
Company, will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment in the 2020 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Deloitte as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2020
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Fan Fangyi
Managing and Executive Director

Beijing, 29 June 2020
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Deloitte

To the Shareholders of
Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages
91 to 257, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter

HEETER

Impairment assessment of goodwill of Group’s subsidiaries

BEEENE N F BB E

We identified annual impairment assessment of goodwill
of Group’s subsidiaries as a key audit matter due to the
involvement of significant judgements and assumptions in
determining the recoverable amounts of cash generating
units (“CGUs") to which goodwill have been allocated, which
are derived from value in use calculations using discounted
cash flow models.
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The Group’s goodwill are allocated to respective CGU
relating to sales and distribution of cylinder gas operation
and the fast-moving consumer goods (“FMCG"”) and food
ingredients supply business in the Peoples' Republic of China
(the “PRC"). Details are disclosed in notes 4 and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Management'’s assessment of goodwill impairment is highly
judgmental and is dependent on certain significant inputs
including the growth rates, budgeted gross margin and
discount rates applied, all of which vary based on the relevant
industry growth and management’s expectation for the
market development of sales and distribution of cylinder
gas operation and the FMCG and food ingredients supply
business in the PRC.
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As disclosed in note 20, as at 31 March 2020, goodwill
allocated to sales and distribution of cylinder gas operation
and FMGG and food ingredients supply business amounting
to approximately RMB7.1 million and RMB nil, respectively.
Impairment loss of RMB13,594,000 has been recognised
against the goodwill allocated to the FMCG and food
ingredients supply business for the year then ended.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANBETNIHBERETSRETEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
impairment assessment of goodwill of Group’'s
subsidiaries included:

B EREBHAREN B R 2 mBETRENEZ
B R TR

Understanding the Group’s impairment
assessment process, including the impairment
model, basis of allocation of goodwill to CGUs,
the preparation of the cash flow projections
("Cashflow Forecasts”) and key management
assumptions adopted in these Cashflow Forecasts
through enquiries with the management;
FBRFBRAERE BRE SEERENGBIE"
BRERERE BEIETHREELEMCEE.
mEREeRERA ([REREBAL)  RRZE
Rens8RAIRKAARERRR:

Challenging the appropriateness of the key
assumptions adopted by the management in
the Cashflow Forecasts, such as the budgeted
gross margin, discount rates and forecast growth
rates applied and comparing them with available
market data and our knowledge of the current
market development in the PRC;

EREEERASREFAATAEANEIERKR
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BRE WiHEAESOTSEIR LI TE
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Comparing the historical Cashflow forecast
against the performance of CGUs to test the
accuracy of management’s projections; and

HEENRERERARREELEMHREE
THE AHEREERANERLE &

Reviewing the Cashflow Forecasts by stress testing
key assumptions, assessing the impact on the
sensitivity analysis, and understanding the degree
to which assumptions would need to move before
impairment would be triggered.

FRBEARAEIBERR FAEBERESTHTEN
NEF R AN R RREOEREZZ R
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Yu Kin Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

29 June 2020
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Revenue
Cost of sales and services

Gross profit

Impairment losses under the ECL model, net
of reversal

Other gains and losses

Other income

Finance costs

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Share of results of associates

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive expense for the year
Items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Fair value change on equity instruments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"),
net of tax

Fair value change upon reclassification
of property, plant and equipment to
investment properties

Other comprehensive expense for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

A
HE MR A
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BHEEEREATZRESE:
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HERDHEAX
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AEEHEMEAEX L

HeggrggfmnBEz8ns
IHE :
BAnEFAEME2ERE
(MROAEFAREMEZE
W) 2 BmTAZAR
28 (RHFE)
ME BERRBEREHNSE
EREMER I ANEE

AEFHEMEE H

NOTES
Pt

O 0

—_
N

13

10

2019
RMB’000
AREFT

1,955,486
(1,610,332)

345,154

(12,096)
523
27,089
(9,330)
(143,218)
(115,384)
27,948
118,245

238,931
(23,227)

215,704

(2,802)

(2,802)

212,902



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other

Comprehensive Income
FeRaREAMZEREHRE

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020

B E2020F3HA31HLLEE

2020 2019
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt AR¥ET R AR T T
Profit for the year attributable to: T AR ARFE R -
Owners of the Company RRBEBA 182,629 174,325
Non-controlling interests TR R 33,892 41,379
216,521 215,704
Total comprehensive income attributable to: ~ N7I| fE {5 2 2 425 4258 -
Owners of the Company KREEBA 175,877 171,248
Non-controlling interests FEIE R AR 33,183 41,654
209,060 212,902
Earnings per share A 15
— basic —EX RMB A R RMB AR

92 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2019 - 2020 Annual Report

2.04 cents 7
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Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Investment properties

Prepaid lease payments
Goodwill

Intangible assets

Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Deferred tax assets

Equity instruments at FVTOCI

Long-term deposits

Current assets

Inventories

Trade, bills and other receivables
and prepayments

Contract assets

Amount due from a joint venture

Prepaid lease payments

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss (“FVTPL")
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Tax liabilities

Lease liabilities

Amount due to an associate

Amount due to a joint venture

Bank borrowings — due within
one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

ERBEE
W% R RR
ERREE
1 E Y%

HENES

BE

i
BB A 72
RABDE s
EREBEE
BRI A K2 R
CHHTA

EHRS

RBEE
FH

B 5 FiEREMRSFRIEAR
B HOR

BHEE

JEd —FH & B B E A
BNHEE

BAnEFARE (FBARE
AABRSE ZEREE
RITEHERE

mEAE

B 5 N E AR 308
BHAE
HIEEE
HERE
FE A — PRI Bt & 2 R OB
JEN —MH & BB EHA
RITEE——FRIH

MEEEFE

BEERRDAB

NOTES
P &

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
35

24
25

26

27
32
28
19

29
30

31
32

33
28
28

34

2019
RMB’000
ARBETIT

799,060

16,190
57,403
20,658
24,367
117,650
1,166,112
4,030

42,133
20,648

2,268,251

46,031
214,000
13,579

14,498
1,482

441,360

730,950

191,061
173,141
39,826

131
189

128,490
532,838
198,112

2,466,363



2019

NOTES RMB'000
B 5 AR¥ET T
Capital and reserves AR A K G
Share capital [N 36 564,507
Reserves ## 1,627,906
Equity attributable to owners of the RRAFRHE AEEER
Company 2,192,413
Non-controlling interests FEPZ A HE = 51 217,595
Total equity B 2,410,008
Non-current liabilities FEmEBBE
Bank borrowings — due after one year  $RITfE & — —F 12 EIH 34 43,750
Lease liabilities HEBE 33 =
Deferred tax liabilities BEERIABE 35 12,605
56,355
2,466,363

The consolidated financial statements on page 91 to 257 were HRENZTE 2R BHRECEESTER
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 202046 F29H #t /ff K IRAE T2 W A A FHR K

June 2020 and are signed on its behalf by: =E:
Dr. Mo Shikang Mr. Fan Fangyi
Director Director
BEEEL BWHELE

EF EBEF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
CREKEDXR

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 #Z2020F3H31HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAAEAARGRR
Surplus Investment Property Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Contributed Teserve Deemed Capital ~ revaluation  valuation Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve surplus fund  contribution ~ contribution reserve reserve reserve  eamnings Total interests Total
RE  MERE
Bk ROEE  BAERE  SABR BHORE  RERR  RAKE  EfER ff  RtBE REEN &t FERER #if
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR AR%TR ARETRT ARETR ARETn ARETR
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢) (Note d)
(Wita)  (Wib) (Wi (Hfitd)
At 1 April 2018 #201854A18 570,574 1,008,573 2,086 92,665 108,606 26,628 712 22,385 = 6,738 185915 2,031,891 181,118 2,213,009
Proft for the year REEEH = = - - - - - - - - 143 174325 41379 215704
Fair value change on equity investments at %272 B3 ARt 2 EG

fvToCL LRETAZAAERY = - = = = = = (3,566) - - - (3,566) 366 (3,200
Income tax relating to fair value change ~ ERAAEH A EM2ER

on equity investments at FYTOCI wlERREIDAER

BEMZMER = = - - - - - 489 - - - 489 91) 39
Profit and total comprehensive income for AFREHI R2EREHE

the year - - - - - - - 3,07) - - 174,325 171,248 41,654 212,902
Shares repurchased and cancelled TRABE R (Rf3E36)

(note 36) (6,067) (4,578) = = = = = = = = = (10,645) = (10,645)
Appropriations &% - - - - 13,046 - - - - - (13,046) - - -
Additions relating to acquisiton of AEERNEZRE

business (note 41) (Wistar) - - - - - - - - - - - - 4955 4,955
Release of other reserve to profit orloss — (EEMBAREEERS

upon disposal of subsidiaries i = = = = = = = = = @81) = (81) - (81)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) HERBAR (Hik0) - - - - - - - - - - - - (204) (204)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest 1 FJEE g% 2 g

of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - (23,029 (23,029
Capital contribution from non-controlling - REMB R EFEAR R 2

interests of subsidiaries HE - - - - - - - - - - - - 13,101 13,101
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R201953A318 &

201954818 2,086 121,652 1 19,308 - 6,657 347,194 2,192413 217,595 2,410,008
Profit for the year TERET 182,629 182,629 33,89 216,521
Fair value change on eqity investments at 1272 izt A fh 2 Ekas

FTOCL ZREIAZRAERE - - - - - - - 8,129 - - - 8,129 48 9,077
Income tax relating to far value change ~ EIA% it AR 2EH

on eqity investments at FVTOCL HZERTAZRAEE

HEMZAER - - - - - - - 7 - - - 3 234 1,591
Fair value change upon redassification  #1% R Rk I &3

of property, plant and equipments to  AEZRENER 2

investment properties LMEEY - - - - - - - - 2 - - 2 5 5
Profit and total comprehensive income for 2R FI R 2 B

the year 88 - - - - - - - 0 - 1B 33183
Appropriations 45 - - - - 9,298 - - - - - 9,299) - - -
Acquisition of  subsidiary (note 41) HE-EHBAA

(Wita) - - - - - - - - - - - - 7 1072
Dividends paid to a non-controlling silll PE=ES

interest of subsidiaries BaRE - - - - - - - - - - - - (44,069 (44,069

431 March 2020 RO00E3A31R 564,507 208 140,95 26628 m 12,5% 0 66T 51055 2368200 07781 2576
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Notes:

Capital reserve was recognised as a result of acquisition of additional
interest in an associate which became a subsidiary.

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value
of the Company's share capital issued as consideration in exchange for the
nominal value of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries acquired at the
time of the Company’s listing in 1997.

The articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") state that they should make an
appropriation of 10% of their profit for the year (prepared under generally
accepted accounting principles in the PRC) each year to the surplus reserve
fund until the balance reaches 50% of the paid-in capital. The surplus
reserve fund shall only be used for making good losses, capitalisation into
paid-in capital and expansion of their production and operation.

The other reserve of the Group represents the effect arising from the
change in the Group’s equity interest on existing subsidiary without losing
control.
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2019

RMB'000
ARETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Profit before tax REE @ F 238,931
Adjustments for: BB REHAE:
Share of results of joint ventures BLEECEER (118,245)
Share of results of associates =N E S (27,948)
Bank interest income RITHEHA (9,049)
Interest income from loan to a joint venture RE—HEEREZERFERA (665)
Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFABGEZEBMEEY
NS ON -
Fair value change of financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFAERZEREEL
NREE -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEK B D E z des (3,445)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment — HEWE  HERREZER 2,946
Amortisation of intangible assets BEEVAE 1,229
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BHEENES 1,482
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - -BELRREINE 44,371
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERESENE =
Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill  FEEER 2 REEE =
Premium charged for the NEEQ status arising on RERSMREEZ
acquisition WEEEER -
Net impairment losses in respect of trade and B 5 R E M EWEIE 2 R EEE
other receivables FER 12,096
Finance costs B 5 B AR 9,330
Operating cash flows before movements in BEECZYA o KE
working capital Reane 151,033
Decrease in inventories FERD 1,231
Decrease (increase) in trade, bills and other 25 EEREMEKRIEAR
receivables and prepayments BRFERAD (Em) (45,063)
(Increase) decrease in amount due from a joint [EM —FA B FEFRIE (3Em)
venture L 1,829
Increase in contract assets BHEEEMN (2,910
(Decrease) increase in contract liabilities EHEE CRD)E M 47,187
Increase in trade and other payables 2 5 I H b & 51T L N 42,239
Decrease in amount due to a non-controlling FER— R KT B 2 B 3R IR
interest of a subsidiary B2 RIER D (1,856)
(Decrease) increase in amount due to an associate  JEff —fA BB CRd ) 8N 131
Cash generated from operations REXBELRS 193,821
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ERFREREMER (26,525)
Net cash from operating activities REERELIREFH 167,296



INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments/right-of-use assets

Acquisition of subsidiaries, including
transaction costs

Disposal of subsidiaries

Purchase of equity instruments at FVTOCI

Acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL
Redemption of financial assets at FVTPL
Addition of prepaid lease payments
Addition of right-of-use assets
Dividend received from associates
Dividend received from joint ventures
Advance to non-controlling interests

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and

equipment

Interest received from a non-controlling
interest of a subsidiary

Interest received on financial assets at FVTPL

Interest received from banks
Interest received from a joint venture

Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceed from disposal of partial interest
in a subsidiary without losing control in
previous year

New bank borrowings raised

Repayment of bank borrowings

Shares repurchased and cancelled

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries

Capital contribution from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

(Repayment to) advance from non-controlling

interests
Advance from an associate
Repayment of lease liabilities
Interest paid

Net cash used in financing activities

fEEHEE

REED

BEMX  BE k&
WEME  BFEREER
BNEe ERAEEE
ZEN®RE

KREHBLR BRRXIMA

HE B A F]

BEEAAGEFAREMZEARE 2
mIA

BBEAAEFABG SREE

BRZAAEFABS SREE

EMENES

SEIEREEE

RNl ¥t

BEREELERE

[F) JF 422 PB4 28 A 50

HEYE BERREAETR

BB AR IERER ZFE

BERBAAEFABRRZEHEELZ
&

B WIRITA B
ER—FHEELENE

REBYAMARESIFR

BMEED
EFHE R EE LR 2B
REBD S EHE

EEHRITEE
BERTEE
ERBE REHERD

DR ZLS o vd ¥,

REMBERRFERESZTE

IR AR 28 (B 30)

B

—RBE D EZBH
BE

ERFHE

BERDAACREFRE

2019
NOTE RMB’000
Pt ARBETTT

(138,236)

(16,267)

(18,040)
40 10,034

(1,381_)

38,40;
(1,506)
4,121

709

9,049

(113,108)

136,250
(136,010)
(10,645)

(22,129)
13,101

6,305

(9,330)

(22,458)



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HeEHeRER

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z202053831HILLEE

2020 2019
NOTE RMB'000 RMB’000
Lo AR®TR ARB T
Net (decrease) increase in cash ReKREESMEER O )Em
and cash equivalents FEE (164,564) 31,730
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of ~ F#H & RHEEFEEE
the year 441,360 409,630
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, FXRI & KR EEEER -
represented by bank balances and cash RIS RIR 2 25 30 276,796 441,360

RFREREARAE gg
2019 - 2020F
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Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda on 13 November 1996. On 24 April 1997, the
Company’s shares were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
address of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the section headed “Corporate
Information” of the Company’s annual report.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is
Ping Da Development Limited, which is jointly owned by Dr. Mo
Shikang and Miss Mo Yunbi, who are the executive directors of
the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) the sales and
distribution of gas fuel including the provision of piped gas,
construction of gas pipelines and the operation of city gas
pipeline network; (i) the sales and distribution of cylinder gas
and (iii) fast moving consumer goods (“FMCG") and food
ingredients supply business including the operation of chain
stores including supermarkets and convenience stores in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 50.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”).
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The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time in the current
year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9  Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 “Leases”, and the
related interpretations.

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 “Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease” and not apply this standard
to contracts that were not previously identified as containing a
lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts which
already existed prior to the date of initial application.
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For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 April
2019, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements out in HKFRS 16.

The Group has applied HKFRS16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
April 2019. As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to
the related lease liabilities by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii)
transition. When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as operating
leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to the extent
relevant to the respective lease contracts:

elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12
months of the date of initial application; and

ii. applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
similar remaining terms for similar class of underlying
assets in similar economic environment. Specifically,
discount rate for certain leases of equipment in the PRC
was determined on a portfolio basis.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities
at the date of initial application. The weighted average
incremental borrowing rates applied by the relevant group
entities range from 4.85% to 7.65%.
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Operating lease commitments disclosed as at
31 March 2019
Add: Lease payments for additional periods

Less: Short term leases and leases with remaining
lease term ending on or before 31 March 2020
Less: Total future interest expenses

Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental
borrowing rates at 1 April 2019

Analysed as:
Current portion
Non-current portion

MR2019F3 A3 B E 2 K& THE A IE

mn: FEINEARE 2 B E R

B EHAE R ESAEHR
20203 A31H 2RI R IEW R E
W RIRF B R

R20195F4 A1 AR HERAE EE A RR 2
HERE

Ry
BIEAER 7
R

At 1 April 2019
M2019F4 811
RMB’000
AR T T

9,646
23,364

33,010

(3,185)
(5,148)

24,677

4,602
20,075

24,677



The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at 1 April 2019

R2019F4 1B AEEECFRAAERT

comprises the following: AT &IE
Right-of-use assets
FREEE
Note RMB’000
B 5 AREFTT
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases  [& B &/B B 153k || 51655 1% e 7R
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 B HESENERAEEE 24,677
Reclassified from prepaid lease payments BFENEESEF A (a) 58,885
Adjustments on rental deposits as at 1 April 2019 #2019F4A1HAEZR & 2 AXK (b) 1,579
85,141
By class: RERE S -
Leasehold land HE 58,885
Properties ES 25,754
Equipment B 502
85,141
Notes: B 5
(@)  Upon initial application of HKFRS 16, the current and non-current (@) RUIXERBEETIEREENF1657E -
portion of prepaid lease payments amounting to RMB1,482,000 FENBES B Z RS MIETHELD D AIA
and RMB57,403,000 respectively were reclassified to right-of-use R #1,482,0007T & A R #57,403,000 T &
assets. MoBERGCHAEAE-
(b)  Before the application of HKFRS 16, the Group considered (b) RNEREBIMGIREELFE165ER AEEH

refundable rental deposits paid as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applied under other receivables. Based
on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use of the
underlying assets and were adjusted to reflect the discounting
effect at transition. Accordingly, RMB1,579,000 was adjusted to
refundable rental deposits paid and right-of-use assets.
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FIRZEER ZEREWIFEAGTHEREE
BEANAB A AERRHEARMRNBE
2 BIR 8 - At ARY1,579,0007L 2
HEEENAREAERE MEMAREE-



In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 16, the
Group is not required to make any adjustment on transition
for leases in which the Group is a lessor but account for these
leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial
application and comparative information has not been restated.

Upon initial application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts
entered into but commence after the date of initial application
relating to the same underlying assets under existing lease
contracts are accounted for as if the existing leases are
modified as at 1 April 2019. The application has had no impact
on the consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April
2019. However, effective on 1 April 2019, lease payments
relating to the revised lease term after modification are
recognised as income on straight-line basis over the extended
lease term.

Effective on 1 April 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to
allocate consideration in the contract to each lease and non-
lease components. The change in allocation basis has had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the current year.

There is no impact of transition to HKFRS 16 on retained
earnings at 1 April 2019.
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MR2019F4 518 Z4x6 B R AR R K 18
RZEHEBIEHUATAE - T ZXEEES T

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position

at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected by the BHEBWARBIELA -
changes have not been included.
Carrying
amounts Carrying
previously amounts under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 March 2019 Adjustments 1 April 2019
720195 M2019%F481H
3A31H BERUBRE
ERI2H| R 5165
ZREE AE BT ZERHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB
ARETT ARETTT ARETTT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Prepaid lease payments BRES 57,403 (57,403) =
Right-of-use assets FHREEE = 85,141 85,141
Current assets MENE E
Trade, bills and other 25 ZERHEMERIR
receivables and prepayments LA e FB A+ 308 214,000 (1,579) 212,421
Prepaid lease payments SEERR 1,482 (1,482) =
Current liabilities mEBE
Lease liabilities HEAR = (4,602) (4,602)
Non-current liabilities FnBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE - (20,075) (20,075)

A E2020F3 A31 H ILFEARBEHAE
REEITHNHCREMS  EEESHNE
) TR £ XATIH R /920194 A1 H A Hf
R G B AR MR AT E ©

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended 31 March
2020, movements in working capital have been computed
based on opening consolidated statement of financial position
as at 1 April 2019 as disclosed above.



The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 16
Amendments to HKAS 37
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts’
COVID-19-Related Concessions®

Definition of a Business?
Reference to the Conceptual Framework®

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Definition of Material*

Property, Plant and Equipment -
Proceeds before Intended Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract®
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020°

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

Z Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020
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In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the management anticipates that the application
of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

The amendments:

o add an optional concentration test that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The election on
whether to apply the optional concentration test is
available on transaction-by-transaction basis;

o clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set
of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs; and

° narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by
focusing on goods and services provided to customers
and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce
costs. The amendments are applied prospectively to
all business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the first annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 April 2020, with
early application permitted.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial performance of the Group
but may affect any future acquisitions of the Group.
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The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

o include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

o replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

o include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too
broad when deciding what information to disclose in the
financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2020. The application of the amendments
is not expected to have significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group but may affect the
presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
and investment properties that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange of goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 (since
1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of HKFRS 16)
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 "Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of
Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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For investment properties which are transferred at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

o has the power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant components
of equity including reserves and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in
the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant reserves
between the Group and the non-controlling interests according
to the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.
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Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value
of any retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities attributable to
the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e., reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee Benefits” respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment” at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current Assets
held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” are measured
in accordance with that standard.

° lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined
in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases
at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.
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Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when
applicable, on the basis specified in another HKFRS.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to
fair value at the acquisition date, and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS
9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the previously
held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date), and additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.
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When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to the
financial assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then
allocated to the other identifiable assets and liabilities on the
basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. Such a
transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain purchase
gain.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.
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The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
associate and joint venture is described below.

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used
for equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income
of the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of
the associate/joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or
a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joint venture.
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An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition
of the investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group (such as a sale or contribution of
assets), profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests
in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the
Group.

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

The Group recognises revenue from the following sources:
1) Provision of piped gas

The Group sells natural gas to customers through
pipelines, including both residential households and
commercial and industrial customers. Revenue is
recognised when the piped natural gas is transferred to
and consumed by customers of which the volume of gas
sold is measured by gas meters installed at customer sites.

The Group also operates vehicle gas refuelling stations to
refuel vehicles with LNG and CNG. Revenue is recognised
when the refuelling is completed at the refuelling
stations, being the time when LNG or CNG is transferred
to customers.
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Construction and installation

The Group provides construction and installation service
under construction contracts with its customers. Such
contracts are entered into for customers to gain access
to the Group's gas pipelines. Revenue is recognised
over time based on the completion status of respective
construction. The construction period is typically less
than one year. The management considers that this
input method is an appropriate measure of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation.

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

The Group also sell LPG to customers by tank containers,
including both residential households and commercial and
industrial customers. Revenue is recognised when control
of LPG has transferred, being when the LPG has been
bulk delivered to the customers’ specific location.

FMCG and food ingredients supply

The Group also sell merchandise to customers through
supermarket and convenience stores. Revenue is
recognised when control of the merchandise has
transferred, being when the goods has been passed to
the customers.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.
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A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs
to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the
total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer
of the associated goods or services is less than one year, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception or modification date. Such contract will not be
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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As a practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted for on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of various offices, warehouses, equipment and
vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option.
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense
on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the
lease term.

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-
use assets.

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date.

The lease payments include:
o fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable;

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever the lease term has changed.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and
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The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease
if: (Continued)

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase
in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the particular
contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee.

All other leases are classified as operating leases. Operating
lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land held under
operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Lease for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a
finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments from lessees.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease
as a new lease from the effective date of the modification,
considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business are presented as other income.

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost or fair value as deemed cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.
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Properties, pipelines and other assets in the course of
construction for production, supply or administrative purposes
are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item (including the relevant leasehold land under HKFRS
16 or prepaid lease payments under HKAS 17) at the date
of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent
sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve
will be transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or deemed
cost of assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
arise from the continued use of the assets. Any gain or loss
arising on disposal and retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.
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When buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the amount of
prepaid lease payments released during the construction period
is included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management).

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-
of-use assets” (upon application of HKFRS 16) or “prepaid lease
payments (before application of HKFRS 16) in the consolidated
statement of financial position. When the consideration cannot
be allocated reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are
initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable
expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss rising on derecognition of the property (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period
in which the property is derecognised.
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Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis (see the
accounting policy in respect of impairment of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
(other than goodwill) below).

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where they
satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values
can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is
their fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent to initial
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

BYWBLEAEEERFRZBELEE
T3 VA PR A8k R 51 8 35 S AT 7] REHRE B 1B
SR - HAEREERAFR ELEERKER
ERR Al LR F R AR E S - AT Al 2
FER R EHENRERRETR  ER
B2 ERARTEREAR (R TX
BREANE BEMRE ERAEEENRET
BE (BEKRINBEZESEE)

EBEHTRSNELEEENTEELEE
EEBEDAEBERMAIEFTENERLT
HEEE D T MR - 2BV EENKA
RERBBRBENRAE MBEREK 8
BlEFERFRZELEETIARARB R
B 55 R REHRER BT ER-

BYEENHERKFEHREERARKEED
BRI AR R R e s 4R L HERR - 4R 1E
REVEEMEE 2 W am RER (BZE
ELEMFHREFEIEAEIZRE)
RRULERZEERNBRTER -

FEERARAISERFEZREEINR -7
ERAERTARHARERE - 7] 2 I FEE
FEZ G EERBAA A= TR RE
TTSHE TR Z AN



At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be identified, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit or group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised as expense immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

> the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

> the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in OCI if that equity investment is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.

HATHIRIZ & REET K & RBHN
AEHE

> RERMBERNNKBEORSRER
BOZEAERATHE: &

> BHBRSRBERRELZRESR

BE/RINASRARERRNEE A

B

o

TERERMEEERBEBBRIEAAE
AERRIRER AEREREEE
BASEA LN HEDEEREMEE
W 2JIREREAABEZERED WX
ERBRENIFFIEEER  MIFREIRE
BB HmEERIEIR [XBE0 ERAZ
EHAHhERZLARE-



Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset (which comprises the
gross carrying amount less any impairment allowance) from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value recognised in OCl and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will
not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will continue to be held in the investment
revaluation reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group's right to receive
the dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income” line item in profit
or loss.

PLERRBHENAGENESRTAMS @ 7
BWARAERMERMER - M BRAEBR
HERMEENRHAERRERMNETE
HERLBEEERENEREERIIN(R
T -EREREERHENEREEM
FONBWABBE TERSHELSRE
R SRR (/B35 48 R T (B0 A fr] Rl (B 3¢
BIERRAERNEER -HEERESRT
AMEERRESANE EEREETHE
ERE RINMBBRAKEENEEEETH
EERERZMNBRESHARMRESREER
HARERERAERM RHER -

REAREBEFAREEZERE  EETAR
BEREAREFE BERAAEEDHEL
ZWa RERIREMEE RS ER T R
AAEREBEEMFEE  RBEETRENE-
HERAKREZ RFFRERERE IS E
MoBEEs YHEBNRESEHRET
B

KEZSEa TAREZBERAEEE
7 USER B B B R B A SR 2R RERR - R FRRERR
BRETEESBEREIIIRERAS B
Tt AR F [HMBAIBEER-



Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or designated as FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including trade
and bills receivables, other receivables, amount due from a
joint venture, and bank balances) and other items (contract
assets and financial guarantee contracts) which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets from initial recognition until derecognition.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for the credit
impaired balances and based on provision matrix for the
remaining balances.
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For all other financial assets at amortised cost, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

> an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

> significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

>  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

> an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

> an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

(iii)

(iv)
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Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

¢ Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's
trade and other receivables are each assessed as a
separate group. Loans to related parties are assessed
for ECL on an individual basis);

¢ Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

¢ External credit ratings where available.
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(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset
(which is the gross carrying amount less any impairment
allowance).

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables, amounts
due to an associate and a joint venture, bank borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of
a debt instrument.

A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group is initially
measured at its fair value and if not designated as at FVTPL,
are subsequently measured at the higher of: (i) the amount of
the loss allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9;
and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation. Amount initially recognised is
amortised over the duration of the guarantee using the
straight-line method.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates and joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and
they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising
from investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s investment properties portfolios and concluded
that the Group’s investment properties are held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
in measuring the Group's deferred taxation on investment
properties, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred taxation
in relation to the Group’s investment properties has been
measured based on the tax consequences of recovering the
carrying amounts entirely through use.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 "Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess
of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from initial accounting
for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement and on the
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.
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Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) and the retirement funds scheme managed by local
social security bureau in accordance with the government
regulations of the PRC are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
directors are measured at the fair value of share options
granted at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
equity (share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to share-based compensation
reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share-based
compensation reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on the historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainties at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires estimation of the recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost of
disposal and value in use. The value in use calculation requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash generating unit (“CGU") and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
discount rate represents the rate that reflects the current
market assessment of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates
have not been adjusted. Where the actual future cash flows
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 March 2020, the carrying amount of goodwill and
intangible assets are RMB7,064,000 (2019: RMB20,658,000)
and RMB23,138,000 (2019: RMB24,367,000) respectively.
Impairment loss of RMB13,594,000 was recognised for
goodwill during the year ended 31 March 2020 with details set
out in note 20 (2019: nil).
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Types of goods or services

Provision of piped gas

Piped gas connection construction
contracts

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

Retail and wholesales of merchandise

Timing of revenue recognition
A point of time
Overtime
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Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in

the segment information.

Provision of piped gas
Sales of piped gas
Piped gas connection construction
contracts

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

FMCG and food ingredients supply

Retail and wholesales of merchandise
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All the revenue from contracts with customers are derived
from the PRC.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

(a)

Sales of gas and merchandise

For the sales of cylinder gas, a receivable is
recognised by the Group when the good are
delivered to the customers as this represents the
point in time at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of
time is required before payment is due. The Group
allows an average credit period of 30 to 90 days to
its customers and extending to 180 days for major
customers for the invoices issued.

The Group sells merchandise directly to retail
customers within supermarket and convenience
stores. Revenue from sales of goods to retail
customers is recognised when the product is
transferred to the customers upon sales. Payment
of the transaction price is due immediately when
the customers purchases the goods. The payment is
usually settled in cash or using credit cards.

The Group also sell merchandise to wholesalers.
Revenue from sales of merchandise to wholesalers
is recognised when the control of the merchandises
has transferred, being when the merchandises
are delivered to the wholesalers and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
wholesaler’s acceptance of the products. Payments
received in advance that are related to the sales
of merchandises not yet delivered to customers
are deferred and recognised as contract liabilities.
Revenue are recognised when goods are delivered
to customers.
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Sales of gas and merchandise (Continued)

For the sales of piped gas, the Group would require
advance payment before the usage of the natural
gas for certain customers, any shortage against the
periodically actual charge for the actual usage of
natural gas will be billed by the Group accordingly.
The Group allows an average credit period of 30
to 90 days to its customers and extending to 180
days for major customers for the invoices issued.
These customers are required to top up the advance
payment for future usage of natural gas supplied by
the Group.

In addition, the Group requires advance payment
before the usage of the natural gas through prepaid
card for certain household users. The charge of the
actual usage of natural gas will be deducted directly
to the balance of the prepaid card. These customers
can only consume the natural gas up to the balance
of the prepaid card.

Construction

The Group provides gas pipeline construction
services under construction contracts with its
customers. Such contracts are entered into before
construction of the gas pipeline begins. The Group’s
performance creates and enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs. Revenue
from construction of gas pipeline is recognised
over time on an input method, i.e. based on the
proportion of contract costs incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total
contract costs. The Directors consider that this input
method is an appropriate measure of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations under HKFRS 15.
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(b)  Construction (continued)

The Group requires certain customers to provide
upfront deposits before the commencement of
the construction which will give rise to contract
liabilities until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contracts exceed the amount of the
deposits. The Group is entitled to invoice customers
for gas pipeline construction upon completion
of construction works. The Group recognises
contract asset for any work performed in excess of
payment from customer for the same contract. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is
reclassified to trade receivables upon completion of
construction works. The Group allows an average
credit period of 30 to 90 days to its customers and
extending to 180 days for major customers.

All the contracts for sales of gas and merchandise,
and gas pipeline construction are for original expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Information reported to the Group's chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), being the managing director of
the Company, for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
sold or services rendered which is also consistent with the basis
of organisation of the Group.
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During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group commenced
the business in the FMCG and food ingredients supply along
with the acquisition of Chongging Yubaijia Supermarket Chain
Co., Ltd. (“Chongging Yubaijia”) and Chongging Zhongmin
Ruojia Supply Chain Management Limited (formerly known
as Chongging Qiaojiali Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd.)
(“Chongging Zhongmin Ruojia”) (as detailed in note 41), and it
was considered as a new operating and reportable segment by
the CODM for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Group currently organises its operations into three
operating divisions, which also represent the operating
segments of the Group for financial reporting purposes, namely
provision of piped gas; sales and distribution of cylinder gas
and FMCG and food ingredients supply. They represent three
major lines of business engaged by the Group. The principal
activities of the operating and reportable segments are as
follows:

(1) Provision of piped gas — sales of piped gas and
construction of gas pipeline networks under gas
connection contracts;

(2) Sales and distribution of cylinder gas — sales and
distribution of gas using tank containers to end-user
households, industrial and commercial customers; and

(3) FMCG and food ingredients supply — wholesales and retail
of merchandise (including but not limited to rice; meat;
fresh food; FMCG and barrelled drinking water) through
supermarkets and convenience stores.

No operating segments have been aggregated to derive the
reportable segments for segment information presentation.

REE2019F3A31BLFE BERES
BABREMEHAEREELAR ([EEW
AR NEEFTRERHEREEFRA

R(ATBAEEMBRAEREEETEAR
2R ([EEHRRER]) (FBIHNMF
41) AEBHABREVEEMBES XL *
BEBERRERABTNCERZH D E -

AEBBEAKEES D B =(EZ2EZF I8
AR E A “%ﬁ*wﬁﬁﬁ%miﬂﬁéfﬁ - B
FEEBINR - e Ny S BRI RIA K R
f#ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%°ﬁh$§l£€$ﬁﬁ_ﬁiﬁ‘%°
RERFAIZHOBOEBRZHAON -

(1) #HEEBMRR-RERTERS DN
EEBMRAREEZRRE BRERK:

2) 1 7 R R — AR R R &
ﬁﬁ}?fxﬁ%)ﬁﬁ TERBEREFZ
RRAE Rk

3) BVMHEENBES - HERBBBER
MEREMNESER S (BIEETRE
R A 48 RERRBERD
7K) o

e

VEEAEENMEFHETOBENE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FMEMBERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020563A31HLLEE

kv 1 9~ TN IS
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEPE R =
Segment revenues and results PEBAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results NTARAEAEERZERREED DA
by reportable and operating segment. ADHT o
For the year ended 31 March 2020 BE2020F3H31B LFE
Sales and FMCG and food
Provision of  distribution of ingredients
piped gas cylinder gas supply Total
HERD X
HEEERR BERR HENES it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Segment revenue from external KENBERE D EBERA

customers 1,282,839 805,537 144,224 2,232,600
Segment profit (loss) AR (EE) 106,807 45,130 (22,774) 129,163
Unallocated income RO EKA 8,746
Central administration costs FRITHES (19,007)
Share of results of associates AN e 26,336
Share of results of joint ventures ~ ERAAMEEE 108,367
Finance costs BIRER A (11,440)

Profit before tax AEERF 242,165

152 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2019 - 2020 Annual Report



For the year ended 31 March 2019

Segment revenue from external

customers

Segment profit (loss)

Unallocated income

Central administration costs
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Finance costs

Profit before tax

Provision of
piped gas
HETEMRR
RMB'000
AREFL
RENBEE D BKA
938,968
DEEN (B1]) 76,966
AAEWA
RRITE S
EE%%QT%%
5/\%1 %%Zﬁ
Mﬁﬁﬁ
AEE R A

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in

both years.

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment result represents the profit (loss)
earned by (incurred by) each segment without allocation of
share of results of associates, share of results of joint ventures,
central administration costs, finance costs and certain other
income. This is the measure reported to the CODM for the
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

HE2019F3 831 IEFE

Sales and
distribution of
cylinder gas
fitpE & 7 3
BEMRR
RMB'000
ARET T

910,503

47,907

XE2HRZ
EFWMH

ERMELEEDE

FMCG and food

ingredients
supply
Rt
HENE S
RMB’000
ARETTT

106,015

(8,929)

Pz @FTHR

Total

At
RMB’000
AREFTE

1,955,486

115,944

9,714
(23,590)
27,948
118,245

(9,330)

238,931

B AB KRB IR - FE
EPESH o

B2 7K % [ 0 B

A3FT 2 @ FTER R - DR R B S

BRRRER (E4) 2 &7 (B1R) -
XA BEAELERSE
TR KB T EAUA -
TR BERIERRRABAERE

FEMRE & D

RITERFAZ

EERIFTETA

M 4 5 B

F

SBIRE



The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable and operating segments.

Segment assets

Provision of piped gas

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
FMCG and food ingredients supply

Total segment assets
Investment properties
Interests in associates
Interests in joint ventures
Equity instruments at FVTOCL

Deferred tax assets

Financial assets at FVTPL
Bank balances and cash
Other unallocated assets

Consolidated assets

Segment liabilities

Provision of piped gas

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
FMCG and food ingredients supply

Total segment liabilities
Bank borrowings

Tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities
Other unallocated liabilities

Consolidated liabilities

DEEE
HEEBRR

e N o R AR
RMERNES

DEBEERE
REME
RIS QB 2
REBLR 2 En

BARBEFARMBEERZEZ

Rwm T H
FEETHIBEE

BARBEFABRRZEREE

RITHEBR AR S
HEfARDBEE

HAEE

DHEE
HEEBRR
HIE N 2 SH R AR
EMERNES

ok

ﬂm
W

=32
ﬁﬁ
BEEE
EXEHIAEAE
HADEAE

R fE

D

\

ma Al

pilty

AT RAEER
ERBBDIMN-

2WmREE

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

816,865
320,112
61,684

1,198,661
16,190
117,650
1,166,112

42,133
4,029
441,360
13,065

2,999,200

236,070
99,896
25,184

361,150
172,240
39,826
12,605
3,371

589,192



For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
investment properties, interests in associates, interests in
joint ventures, financial instruments at FVTOCI, deferred
tax assets, financial assets at FVTPL, bank balances and
cash, certain property, plant and equipment and other

receivables; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than bank borrowings, tax liabilities, deferred tax liabilities
and certain other payables.

For the year ended 31 March
Amounts included in measure
of segment profit or loss or
segment assets:
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use asset

Loss (gain) on disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Amortisation of prepaid lease
payments

Amortisation of intangible assets

Impairment loss recognised in
respect of goodwil

Net allowance made (reversal of
allowances) in respect of trade
and other receivables

Provision
of piped gas
HESERR
2019
RMB'000
ARBTT
HZIBNALEE
HEVE Y ET B
BERTR2EH:
nE BEREENE
29,124
s BREAENE -
HENE BEREEL
B8 (&) 8
HENBAR W& -
BB
693
BhEVEE 1,229
AEERAINERR
2 A REMEWRE 5
AR (BERR) TR
838

Sales and
distribution of
cylinder gas
HERIHERRR

2019
RMB'000
ARBTT

12,653
2,786
(3,445)

789

10,721

BEAREER

e KBREWE RBEAQR#ED NE
BhXo#m RAREFARME
EhmEzER TR REHRBEE &
AREFABGEZEREE RITE
BERE ETYE  BEMRBAR
H YR FEEEDC DR

TERKEDE: K

e RRTEE HERE EEHERRE
KETHAMENFIRIN A BED

ENETEKEDE-

FMCG and
food ingredients

supply
RIHENES

2019
RMB000
ARETTR

1,833

152

123

Unallocated

i)

2019
RMB000
ARETT

761

414

Consolidated
at
2019
RMB'000
ARETTL

4437

2,946
(3,445)

1,482
1,229

12,0%



Provision
of piped gas
HEEERR
2019
RMB'000
ARETT

Capital expenditure in respect.~ BEERAE 2 EARY
of prepaid lease payments 1,381
Additions in right-to-use assets B EREEE =
Capital expenditure in respect of BB E BERRE AR
property, plant and equipment X 113,842
Amounts regularly provided to  EHEEEEERKERE
the CODM but notincluded ~ ERFEABRAAFE
in the measure of segment ~ FAPEERLZHRZ

profit or loss or segment &8

assets:
Interests in associates N NP I -
Interests in joint ventures RAEGE ER -

Share of results of associates TN RIEE -
Share of results of joint ventures ~ E(FAELEEE -

Sales and
distribution of
cylinder gas
HERAHEERR

2019
RMB'000
ARETT

34293

All of the Group's revenue was generated in the PRC (place of
domicile of the group entities that derive revenue) and over
90% of the Group’s non-current assets were also located in
the PRC (place of domicile of the group entities that hold such
assets). Accordingly, no geographical information is presented.

No individual customer of the Group had contributed sales
of over 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years

ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

FMCG and
food ingredients
supply Unallocated

EHEENESR L
2019 2019
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
14,518 1,008

117,650
= 1,166,112
(27,948)
= (118,245)

REBERBRATINHE (£H

Consolidated
a3
2019
RMB'000
ARETTL

1,381

163,661

117,650
1,166,112
(27,948)
(118,245)

BERELW

AZFMi2h) E4E R AL EBIB0%/ I
RBEENMNPR (REERFHZEE
EZTFMi2) o Bt - B8 2 5 @ & K o

HE2020F K20196F3 A31H ILEE @ &
AEBZEANEFEMEEEBRAEE

U AHI10% ©



Impairment loss, net of reversal

Trade receivables from contract
with customers

Other receivables

Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Fair value changes of financial assets
at FVTPL
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)
Net foreign exchange gain (loss)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
goodwill
Premium charged for the NEEQ status
arising on acquisition (note 41)
Recovery of bad debt previously
written off

BB B 18 - kR B
KEEFP &K Z KA

H A & Y 5K

HEVE BERRBZER

BAREFABRZEREE
ZRREE
HEWE ARz 4 s (fEE40)
PE Uz (B51R) F 8
LA B R ZRERR

B R AR S E
ZWEEEER (K1)
Y Bl A & 3K H R AR

2019
RMB’000
AR®ETT

(1,348)
(10,748)

(12,096)

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

(2,946)

3,445
(876)

900

523



Bank interest income
Interest income from financial assets
at FVTPL
Interest income from loan to a
joint venture
Rental income, net
Repair and maintenance services income
Sales of gas appliance, net
Incentive subsidies
Others

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (note 11)
Other staff costs
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind

Retirement benefits scheme contributions

(excluding directors)

Total staff costs

Cost of inventories recognised
as expenses

Auditor’s remuneration

Depreciation and amortisation
— Property, plant and equipment
— Right-of-use assets
— Prepaid lease payments
— Intangible assets (included in cost

of sales)

Minimum lease payments under
operating leases in respect of premises,
equipment and vehicles recognised in
profit or loss

Contract cost recognised as expense
in respect of gas connection
construction contracts
(included in cost of sales)

2019

RMB'000
ARET T
ER1TF B U A 9,049
BARBEFABRZEMEE
Z F B A =
RKE—EEELEZERFEWA
665
He W A F58 1,803
HERERBUWA 4,977
HEMREZEFE 2,692
TR B 47 B 4,607
EHi 3,296
27,089
AEE G FE kT &8
2019
RMB'000
AREEFTT
EEME (BIsE11) 7,621
Eih B TAAR
e EMEEYH R 117,291
BRIKEFFTEHRK (TEEES)
17,095
@8 TR 142,007
RERAZ ZGFEERAR
1,510,298
1% 25 6N Bl & 2,567
e M H
o/ E RS 44,371
—[FRAREE -
—JBfHE 1,482
— B EE (GTAHEERA)
1,229
RESERZKCEHEETEH
YE REMRBZERERS
14,130
HRAERAY ZMRERKZEESHDN
BHKRA (FFAEERA)
100,034



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z202053831HILLEE

11.DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS NESZME
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EECEE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of 8 (2019: 8) P ER8E (2019 8 )EE 2
directors were as follows: BT -
Performance
related
Directors’ Salaries, incentive  Retirement Total
fees allowances payments benefits emoluments
*EEB
EERE He o2H RETR BINER aif

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARETR AR®TR AR®TR ARETxR

(Note)
(P =E)
For the year ended HZ202043A31H
31 March 2020 tEE
Executive directors: HTES:
Dr. Mo Shikang B EIE LT - 1,567 277 - 1,844
Mr. Zhang Hesheng ok A A 58 A - 1,308 264 - 1,572
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHEREE - 723 122 40 885
Ms. Mo Yunbi REZ/E - 706 85 56 847
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus ¥ Nz - 1,069 548 16 1,633
Independent non-executive BERITES
directors:
Mr. Liu Junmin BEREE 178 - - - 178
Mr. Zhao Yanyun HEEXE 164 - - - 164
Mr. Sin Ka Man HRBRE 178 - - - 178
a8
.g E(‘
520 5,373 1,296 112 7,301 =
('8

FRERERAF
2019 - 2020F 159



Directors'
fees
EZHe
RMB'000
ARETT
For the year ended BZ2019%3A31H
31 March 2019 JI:3:5
Executive directors: HITES:
Dr. Mo Shikang Rt FiE+ -
Mr. Zhang Hesheng RAAELE -
Mr. Fan Fangyi BHEEE -
Ms. Mo Yunbi REZ/ME -
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus  REZLAE -
Independent non-executive BUFRTES:
directors:
Mr. Liu Junmin AHREE 167
Mr. Zhao Yanyun BEELE -
Mr. Sin Ka Man GREEE 167
334

Note: The performance related incentive payments are
determined by reference to the individual performance
of the directors and approved by the remuneration
committee.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.

Salaries,
allowances

i
RMB'000
ARETTL

1,476
1,232
684
661
1,001

5,054

Performance

related
incentive  Retirement Total
payments benefits  emoluments
st
R RIREN Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARBTRL

(Note)
(BEsE)
304 5 1,785
454 - 1,686
340 46 1,070
117 39 817
913 15 1,929
- - 167
- - 167
2,128 105 7,621

et : RAMERBNRD2EEEZE
ARBREE UEHFMEESHE-

EXFRATESEME DEBRSEE
BARBRANEEEGZ k-

EXFARBILFATESTHE A
BREERARAERTZ R -

WEBHEERTHRARNEXRE
FRUEE WA (B 57 2 BARE (AT 2 B 2 e BE »



— g

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEBAU S HFMWMA TR O

Group, four (2019: four) are directors of the Company (2019%F : Ui ) RA R AIE S - H B
whose emoluments are included in the above disclosures. SER EXIRTE 8 T~ —fL (20194 :
The emolument of the remaining one (2019: one) —)ATZMEHEBRAT

individual is disclosed as follows:

2019

RMB’000

AREF T

Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind ¥4 28 R EWF|z5 578
Discretionary bonuses BB IEAL 225
Retirement benefits RIREF 15

818

2019

RMB’000

AR®ET T

Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFE 9,330
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEMNE -

9,330



2019

RMB’000
AREETF T

PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT"): PRI EMEH ([REMRER])
— Current tax —BIEAFL 18 27,504
— Over provision in prior years — BT FERERE (771)
Deferred taxation (note 35) RIERTE (MFEE35) (3,506)
23,227

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group had no
assessable profit derived in Hong Kong for both years.

The EIT rates applicable for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries ranged
from 15% to 25% (2019: 15% to 25%).

Following the Catalogue of Encouraged Industries in Western
Region which was promulgated by the National Development
and Reform Commission of the PRC in 2014, certain
subsidiaries which are operating in the Western China were
granted a concessionary tax rate of 15% by the local tax
bureau.

HRARERZMEFEIERBTEEL
T RBOR A - BUL I B|AELR A MWK
BB NS B B

AEBHBEKBARABERACEMSHRE
NF15%ZF25% (20194F : 15%E25% ) °

REBRERMMEZEEAN20145F
LM (AR ES B RER B ) - R
BRMEENE THEBRAREEEWH B
BMTBRBERER BERENEEAERG
15%



The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

AEERX AL BmMEAMEE KSR
% P 51 9 B A BT A R ZZT

2019
RMB’000
ARBF T
Profit before tax INF R T 238,931
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of RENFTEHE25%
25% (2019: 25%) (2019%F : 25% )t B 2 1B 59,733
Tax effect of share of results of EHEELERECHBTE
joint ventures (29,562)
Tax effect of share of results of associates — fE/LHEL A T%ZEZW%E“ (6,987)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for ~ NA] I 2 H 2 B2
tax purpose 8,042
Tax effect of profit which are under MR EIE TRz HEw e
tax concessions (9,815)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RARTHERBIEBECHBETE 2,587
Over provision in prior years BEFEBERE (771)
Tax charge for the year REEHBERALZ 23,227

Note: The tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%) represents EIT which is
applicable to most of the Group's operations in the PRC for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended
31 March 2020 (2019: nil), nor has any dividend has been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

BisE: DEEFTSRA R25% 8 AR A%£E2020
FIABIBEFERPEAZ KD XK
(2019%F : 25% ) °

REIE20209F3 A31 B IEFE A I & X 5%
BHZIRE (20194 « ) - BREHR
RIE R X M ERRS



The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to RATHEB AEEERERZR TIIRE A

the owners of the Company is based on the following data: TEIBREE

Basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2020 and HZE2020F K2019F3A31BIEFEZ K
2019 are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the BEARRF - Tyi§A R T HEA AFE(R R FIBR LA
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of FRAEBITEERZMETFEOEGH -

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2019
RMB’000
ARBF T
Earnings B
Profit for the year attributable to the RARHE NEEAEE MR BIE
owners of the Company and for the AR EREARRF
purposes of basic earnings per share 174,325
2019
Number of shares KRG &E
Weighted average number of ordinary REFTESREARRZF 2 nkEF
shares for the purpose of basic TEREE
earnings per share 8,943,154,211
No diluted earnings per share was presented for the years BHZE2020F K2019F3A31HILFEWES
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 as there was no potential PGREERT  BAYEEMEEITHNE

ordinary shares in issue. 1 & 3m AR o



cost

At 1 April 2018

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)
Additions

Transfer

Disposals/written off

At 31 March 2019

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)
Additions

Transfer

Transfer to investment properties
Disposalsiwritten off

At 31 March 2020
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2018

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposalsiwritten off
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)
At 31 March 2019

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposalsiwritten off
Transfer to investment properties
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)

At 31 March 2020

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2020

At 31 March 2019

B

H2018E4A1H
WEMB AR (1)
HERBRE (H340)
hE

£

HE/#3
#2019E3A318
WENBAR (H5F41)
HERBDR (Hi340)
AE

8

BRERENE

HE /i
R2020%E3A318
TERHE
R2018%451H
REERE
HERHE /M
HENBDE (Ki340)
R2019E3A318
REERE
HERHE /M
BRERENE
HERBAE (H340)
R2020€3A31H

L
#2020%3A31A

#2019%3A31A

Leasehold

Buildings improvements
ik

BT  NRE8

RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL  AR%TR

176,954 3,980
3,556 4,015
(930) =
1,193 607
857 =
(1,137) =
180,493 8,602
6,730 1,106
1,633 =
(580) =
23) -
188,253 9,708
29222 3,711
6,228 1272
(210) =
(177) =
35,003 5,043
9,437 1484
(19) -
(10 -
4447 6,527
143,782 3,181
145,430 3,559

Furniture,
fixtures

and office
equipment
G £E
RBAERE
RMB'000
ARETT

16,282
4,058
(463)
2510

(422)
22,025
1,893

3,694

(716)

26,896

9,299
3,134
(364)
(282)
11,787

3,151
(d64)

14,474

12422

10,238

Plant,
machinery
and pipeline
BE #a&
REE
RMB'000
ARETT

631,705
1,195
(5,897)
44573
81,833
(14,790)

738,619

15,623
65,963

(3.979)

816,226

195,915
26,551
(11,491)
(1,131)
209,844

32,708
(602)

241,950

574,276

528,775

Transportation ~ Construction

vehicles

BH=H
RMB'000
ARBTT

65,037
799
(4,060)
7438
(5,055)
64,159
(523)
4,467
(1.916)

66,187

31,007
7,186
2.272)
(2,073)

33,848

7,304
(1,320)

(49(_5)

39,336

26,851

30,311

in progress

ERIR
RMB'000
ARETT

69,780

93,657
(82,690)

80,747

(145)
47,348
(67,596)

60,354

60,354

80,747

Total

4
RMB'000
ARETT

963,738

13,623
(11,350)
150,038

(21,404)
1,094,645
1,893

(668)
78,968

(580)
6,634)

1,167,624

269,214
4430
(14,337)
(3,663)
295,585
54,084
(2,405)
(10)
(496)

346,758

820,806

799,060



The above items of property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line basis
at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or
the remaining terms of leases

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of 5 years or
the remaining terms of the
leases

Furniture, fixtures and office 20%

equipment
Plant, machinery and pipeline 3.3% — 20%
Transportation vehicles 12.5% — 20%

The buildings are situated in the PRC, and are for own use
under medium-term lease.

The Group has pledged certain property, plant and
equipment with carrying value of RMB209,166,000 (2019:
RMB90,664,000) to secure certain bank borrowings granted to
the Group as disclosed in note 47.

B - BERREEREE (E2ITERIN)
TIAE#RERR T O FRIFTE

EF 404 =k | #4270 & 4F BB
(AEBRH BZE)

THEWEEE S ok FEl g & F R
(AEBRH BZE)

B KB R 20%

N
@%*&%&%}E 3.3% - 20%
1% 05 5 8 12.5% — 20%

BFURTE DRETHEOKEER
e

AEBEHEFREEARK209,166,0007T
(20195 : A R #90,664,00070) 2 & T4
¥ BERBEAMEAR FAEES TIRTT
BEZER (EERWTEL7) -



Leasehold

land

HELH#

RMB'000

ARET T

As at 1 April 2019 R2019F4A18 58,885
Additions NE 3,992
Depreciation nE (1,572)
At as 31 March 2020 R2020%3A31H 61,305

BEHNHEE RERRRER
BAMBREEAF165E

Expense relating to short-
term lease and other leases

with lease terms ending B121E A A& Iz B A
within 12 months of the EBBHY
date of initial application of
HKFRS 16
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R B

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, equipment and
transportation vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 1 month to 15 years. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group entered into several short-term leases for various
offices, warehouses, equipment and transportation vehicles. As
at 31 March 2020, the total outstanding lease commitments is
RMB689,000.

Transportation
Properties  Equipment vehicles Total
ES R EREH CE

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR

25,754 502 = 85,141
9,806 = 989 14,787
(6,078) (301) (93) (8,044)
29,482 201 896 91,884
7,943

17,195

AEEHERERAE BE RELEH
ERARNEZ HEAHWRETHIMEAZE
15 FIAZ - FHEA O IR (B R R E R - WA
BB F RO R AR - R M AT
TR E RN RER - AEEEAS A
EHRLETE A KRR FIATTAHIRE -

AEBRZENRAE BE REXEHSE
FIMETREAE-M2020F63A3180 ' K
BEAERIERESE A AR®E89,0007T -



FAIR VALUE

At 1 April 2018

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 41)

Fair value change recognised in profit or loss

nRE

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019
Transfer from property, plant and equipment
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss

At 31 March 2020

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC, and
are held under medium-term leases.

The investment properties are under Level 3 fair value
measurements. At the end of each reporting period, the senior
management works closely with the independent qualified
professional valuer to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between senior management and
the directors of the Company at least twice a year.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use. The fair values
of certain investment properties have been adjusted to exclude
prepaid or accrued operating lease income to avoid double
counting.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March 2020 and 2019 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on the respective dates by Asset Appraisal
Limited (“Asset Appraisal”). Asset Appraisal is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations.

The fair values of Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2020 and 2019 were determined based on direct comparison
method and making references to comparable market
observable transactions of similar properties in the nearby
locations as available in the relevant market. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

M2018F4 F1H
W BE BB A A (M FE41)
REZERZ AR BEEZ

MR201993 A31H k201954 A1H
EEGYE  WEKREE
RIE X FER

AVD

7202053 A31H

RMB’000
AR®F T

11,300
4,890

16,190
590
EED .

16,780

FRREMEMNDE - RREHBABLR
ﬁo

RENEZE=FRH DA EFE -RERE
R SREEEEBYSERIEXMLERM
BB E WY REE A @M B ERM &
BARE - SREEEEARREREFE
PRRIWARBEERFRER

RIEETYEZ ARER  ZEMENRKR
RERERERRKRR ETREVEZA
AECTAR AR BENREAREHE
WAR MR EERTE -

20204 K2019F3 A31H REEKREY
EZRARENRETRELETEBEBA
BRAE ([HaETE] ) EHBE B BET 2
HESE -FRETEATENEMESY
8 WABEEERRNOHE G
ZBEUMEETHE LR -

R20204F K2019F3 A31H REE 28 E
MEZNABEREEBELBAEETAZ
ERBTIH AR 2RI 2 2 D
¥ EBEMBUBERIZEEH - EFME
Bz EE I s (.



All of the Group’s property interests held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair
value model and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties.

The Group leases out retail stores under operating leases with
rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 1 to 5 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease
contracts do not contain any residual value guarantees or
lessee’s options to purchase the property.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2020 and 2019,
are as follows:

Fair value
Commercial properties in the PRC hierarchy Valuation techniques
RPEIZEENE MEER fERE
2019
RMB16,190,000 Level 3 Direct comparison method
ARE 228 based on market observable
16,190,000 transactions of similar properties

ERikE BERENEOTST
BEZS

The key inputs are:
IEHATE:
(1) Price per square meter

(1) SEARER

() Level adjustment

() Ef#E
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

At 31 March 2020, the Group's investment properties
amounting to RMB11,300,000 (2019: RMB11,300,000) were
pledged to secure the Group's certain bank borrowings, as
disclosed in note 47.

AEBEMAFAARBRESBRALIEER
BERGZMERREARABERE
T BERREMEANIR -

AEERBELEHELETEEH HEA
BRABN -HE-—RNFAP—EL%F-

HRAMAHENEEER 2 HENERE
FHE - AN B30 R B % HE i m N
e MESHL T BIEEMEREEREL
AHABERRNE EEE-

REEEN20204F K 2019FE3 A31 B 2% E W
EXBRAAEBRZERENMT

Relationship of unobservable

Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
TIREBANBEAREL
EXFTRERANE [
Price per square metre, based on gross floor The higher the price per
area using market comparables and taking square metre, the higher
into account of location and level adjustment the fair value

in individual floor of the property
SYRER ERERTRINRNERARE. STIRAEEER AnEd
Wit RUE RAM* ERIEE B

ot

RMB4,400 to RMB10,500
(2019: RMB4,400 to RMBY,000)
AREL 40072 ARE10,5007

(20195 : \RE4,4007 % A EH9,0007)

FAMBEEBEALELHE=HF-

MR2020F3A31B - AEB 2R EYWE
AR #11,300,0007T (20194F : A R ¥
11,300,0007C) B THMIEAR FTAEEE
FRITEE ZEZR FERNF47) -



2019

RMB’000
ARBTTT

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise: REEBNEESBIE:
Leasehold lands in the PRC under medium term leases R ABIREFHHEERE 2 HE i 58,885

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RRHmE DT

Current portion B EAER > 1,482
Non-current portion FEM B 57,403
58,885

The leasehold lands are released to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of leases.

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s prepaid lease payments
amounting to RMB7,797,000 were pledged to secure the
Group’s certain bank borrowings, as disclosed in note 47.

Upfront payments for leasehold lands in the PRC for own used
properties were classified as prepaid lease payments as at 31
March 2019. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the current and
non-current portion of prepaid lease payments amounting
to RMB1,482,000 and RMB57,403,000 respectively were
reclassified to right-of-use assets as at 1 April 2019.

HET AEREEZEEHEEFHTA

Ha o

MR2019F3A31H  AEBEZENELLO A
AR #7,797,0007TE FIRIFIEAE T A%
BETRITEE 2ER (BERHE47) ©

M2019F3A318 - RHPEzERAMEZHE
Bz BNRDEABENES - NER
B ERE LR F16571% - 120194 A
18 FENEE 5B AAR1,482,0000T &
AR#57,403,0007T 2 RE R IEMBI S REE,
BN EEFREEE-



COST

At 1 April 2018

Additions relating to acquisition of business
(note 41)

Disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSS

At 1 April 2018
Disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 March 2019
Impairment loss recognised

At 31 March 2020

CARRYING VALUES

At 31 March 2020

At 31 March 2019

RMB’'000

AREFT T
R A
R2018F4A1H 23,552
BREAERWEZAE (M7E41)
13,594
o E B A T (4,165)
M20199F3 A31H &2020563H31H 32,981
R REERE
R2018F481H 16,488
HENE AR (4,165)
20193 H31H 12,323
EERZBEEE 13,594
20203 H31H 25,917
FREE
7202093 A31H 7,064
M2019F3H31H 20,658

The Group tests for impairment of goodwill annually and
in the financial year in which the acquisition takes place, or
more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be
impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, the carrying value of
the goodwill set out above has been allocated to respective
CGUs which operating in the sales and distribution of cylinder
gas segment and FMCG and food ingredients supply segment.

Carrying amount of each CGU:
Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
FMCG and food ingredients supply

AEBGF RN HRWE 2 MRFERE R
BRE AR REBREEAEDRE "
AIE AT R -

AETTRERR LB ZRAEE DR
EREHER D HBRMRR R RN EM
BSOS REELEM-

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

UTFERSEE T ZREE:
(78R D BB R
R HERE S

7,064
13,594

20,658



As at 31 March 2020, goodwill of RMB7,064,000 (2019:
RMB7,064,000) is allocated to the different CGUs within the
sales and distribution of cylinder gas operation. The recoverable
amount of the individual CGUs within this operation has been
determined based on the value in use calculation of the CGU
using the following assumptions for 2020 and 2019:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2019: 5 years)
Growth rate within 5-year period in 2% (2019: 2%)
the financial budgets approved
by the management
Growth rate beyond 5-year 0% (2019: 0%)
period extrapolated in the
financial budgets approved by
the management

Discount rate 15.4% (2019: 14.0%)

This growth rate of 2% is based on the relevant industry
growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin,
which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the carrying amount of the group of CGUs regarding sales and
distribution of cylinder gas to exceed the recoverable amount
as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. No impairment was recognised
for the current year (2019: RMB nil).

M2020F3A31H i & A R #7,064,000
7T (20194 : A R#7,064,0007T) 7 Bt F
EMREEERSHEHEBANTNR R SEE
B W EBARERRES EEEN 2 ATUE
SHORERCELEN 2 FAEBENHE
EETE  PR2020F KR2019FFE A 2 BB T

ReEmETE R HRE 59 (20194 : 5F)

EEEBEMME 2% (2019F:2%)
EERFHEA
ZEBRR

MEREEABE 0% (2019F : 0% )
SEHBETEE
FriEgE 2R %

A 37 & 15.4% (2019%F : 14.0% )

WRE2% DAMBITEERBAREER
TEBaAETE s FHRBIERE -FH
BEMEH A2 EHZTEREATBEEF
X HNREHeEABN 2 BERBARE
@Fﬁﬁ%?@Z%%#ﬁ B EREZ
F“ZEHAﬁTﬁME%K@ﬁﬁEﬁ
f DHEEMR A SELEEMBES
zaﬁﬁﬁt BR2020% K 2019F3A31H 2
AU E S B8 o AT E I SRR E (2019
F:ARBZIL) -



As at 31 March 2020, goodwill of RMB nil (2019:
RMB13,594,000) was allocated to the FMCG and food
ingredients supply business operation. In view of the
operating loss in certain subsidiaries operating in FMCG and
food ingredients supply business segment during the year
ended 31 March 2020, management reviews each CGU's
recoverable amount for comparison with the carrying amount
of the respective CGUs. The directors of the Company have
consequently determined impairment of goodwill directly
related to the FMCG and food ingredients supply business
operation amounting to RMB13,594,000 (2019: RMB nil). The
impairment loss has been included in profit or loss in the other
gains and losses line item. As a result, goodwill related to the
FMCG and food ingredients supply business operation has been
fully impaired as at 31 March 2020. The recoverable amount of
the CGUs within this operation has been determined based on
the value in use calculation using the following assumptions as
at 31 March 2020 and 2019:

Period of cash flow projections 5 years (2019: 5 years)
Growth rate within 5-year period in 0% - 1.6% (2019: 2%)

the financial budgets approved by
the management

Growth rate beyond 5-year
period extrapolated in the
financial budgets approved by
the management

0% (2019: 0%)

Discount rate 12.10%
(2019: 11.00%)

This growth rate of 2% is based on the relevant industry
growth forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin,
which is determined based on the respective CGU’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

MR2020F3 8318  HEARKEZIT (2019
4 AR%13,594,0007T) B0 Bt =2 B
JEM B 15 %75 - LAV =2020F3 A31H LEF
ERERVERMNESELE S NETH
BARZEERENS EEEEHNSERS
EAXBMNzAREeE  NEZBeELS
ZRAEETHER A A ESREER
HAEVEEMNBESESEEABZEER
B AR #13,594,0007T (20194F : ARKEST
J0) o BB ETE B 5T A B2 A E b I 2k K
BIER - A 20203 A310 B H
HENBSEKEEZEECTERE It
¥BABREEEEMN 2 KREESEE RIE
FRAEEEETE  K20205F %2019 34
3TRERZBEET

BE&meEE Al 54 (20194 : 54)

FEEEEMVE  0%-16%
EERFHEA (20195 : 2% )
2 8RR

MEEEBEHEE 0% (20195F:0% )
SEHB SRS
FriEE 2R %

A 37 % 12.10%
(20194 : 11.00%)

BRER2%IARBITXRERBASELR
TEBEAMERTEZ FARMIERE -EH
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Construction

permission
BEHRX
RMB'000
ARETT
Cost R
At 31 March 2019 and M2019F3A318 &
31 March 2020 20203A31A8 187,314
Accumulated amortisation and Bt # 8 KR EFE
impairment loss
At 1 April 2018 ®2018F4A1H 187,314
Charge for the year REFMR -
At 31 March 2019 2019563 H318 187,314
Charge for the year REEMG =
At 31 March 2020 7202063 A311 187,314
Carrying values BRHEE
At 31 March 2020 202063 A31H -

At 31 March 2019 R201943H318 =

Water
drawing
permit
Bk
Ik
RMB'000
ARETT

162,633

162,633

162,633

162,633

Exclusive
rights

of purchase
BX
REBRER
RMB'000
ARETFT

10,000

10,000

10,000

10,000

Exclusive
rights of
operation of
piped gas
BREE
RMB’000
ARBFT

37,061

11,465

1,229

12,694

1,229

13,923

23,138

24,367

Total

&t
RMB'000
ARET

397,008

371,412

1,229

372,641

1,229

373,870

23,138

24,367



The exclusive rights of purchase was acquired separately, while
the construction permission, water drawing permit, exclusive
rights of operation of piped gas, and exclusive rights of
operation of lottery sales were acquired from third parties in
business combinations. The above intangible assets have finite
useful live. Such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the following periods:

Construction permission 20 years

Water drawing permit 9 years

Exclusive rights of purchase 20 to 25 years

Exclusive rights of operation of 30 years
piped gas

Exclusive rights of operation of piped gas represent the rights
to operate in gas pipeline infrastructure and provision of piped
gas granted by local government in various cities in the PRC.

The Group has pledged certain exclusive rights of operation of
piped gas with carrying value of RMB nil (2019: RMB1,889,000)
to secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group as
disclosed in note 47.

BREBEENZEBWE - ML W
IKFFAIE - BREBMRRE LN RBRY
SHEKEZEMN DR EBEHTEF=A
Wig- LB EEREE A ERAFH %
FEVEER T R EREEEH:

L 204F
B K &F /] 75 94
BREBEER 20F 254

BREEMRRLERERN 305

BREEMRACEENEEFES THT
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RUEEENRZEN -

AEBEERAERESARETIT (2019
& AK¥1,889,0007T ) 2 & THARE BN
REERMNUERRTARES TRITHE
2R (RERKE47) -



Cost of unlisted investments

Interest retained in a disposed subsidiary

Bargain purchase gain

Share of post-acquisition profits and
other comprehensive income, net of
dividends received

Amount due to an associate

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group had interests in the

following associates:

Form of business

FLEMREMA
—HELENBARZREER
2 (B Y s W as

25 W 0 A B A 2 Y as
(fEREWERZ K B)

JE A5 — R Bt = 1% B SRR

2019
RMB’000
AR®BT T

68,799
2,009
22,330

24,512

117,650

131

120204 K 20193 A31H - AEER T3

g I RV M3

Place of
establishment

Proportion of nominal value
of registered capital held by

Name of company structure and operation the Group Principal activities
BIREE rEERAZEMESR
ARER EBEBEEL P ZEE L TEER
2019

Directly held

EERE

Southwest Panva Gas Co. Ltd. Limited liability PRC 49.90% sales and distribution of
(“Southwest Panva”) company cylinder gas

BIAARRERAR AREELH HE HER D HRERE
([BIEm])

Yunnan Panva Gas Co. Ltd. Limited liability PRC 20.12% sales and distribution of
("Yunnan Panva“)* company F cylinder gas

EHBIRRERAT BREERA HERDHBRMRR
(IEmAILl)*

Qiannan Zhou Civigas Co. Ltd. Limited liability PRC 40.00% sales and distribution of
(“Qiannan Civigas") company F cylinder gas

BEMNTRBRRERAA BREERA HERD HBRMR
(I¥mTR])

* Yunnan Panva is a 56.94% held subsidiary of Southwest Panva. * EHBIRB/IAMFHS6.94%ZMER

As a result, the total effective interest held by the Group in

Yunnan Panva is 48.53%.

Aol AREREMEIRE ZBER
T %8 /548.53% °



Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
material associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs. All of these associates are accounted for using
the equity method in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

Current assets mEEE

Non-current assets IERBEE

Current liabilities mEBAR

Non-current liabilities ERBEE

Net assets BEFE

Equity attributable to owners of BIERE%EA AEGER
Southwest Panva

Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE

Revenue A

Profit and total comprehensive income T3 FEAE AR R 5 A &
for the year attributable to: EEHWRERE:
Owners of Southwest Panva BImE%ES A
Non-controlling interests FEVERR R 2

Dividend received from the associate AEZBEUWEE QRIS

during the year

BERASEEABERBZHBEENBE
FHIT - T BERBRERINR 2 &5
ERBEBVIEREERNRE - A %S
ERARARBEAANEB AN
HK -

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

146,994
140,006
(49,239)

(107)

237,654

182,018
55,636

237,654

1,605,985

49,239
7,183

56,422

30,757



Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial LR BENBERREGS M HRE
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Southwest FiERB LM ER CREECHE:
Panva recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2019
RMB'000
AREF T
Equity attributable to owners of BIFEEES ABGER
Southwest Panva 182,018
Proportion of the Group's ownership interest 2% 5= B A & 'L 78 5 2 49.90% % /& 1
in Southwest Panva at 49.90% (including #EZF 2l (BREAEEREEH
28.41% Group's indirect effective interest  7128.41% 2 F1ZE B HES)
in Yunnan Panva) 90,827
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in  AEBER A TAEER 2w 2
Southwest Panva Group BREE 90,827
2019
RMB’000
AREF T
Current assets mENEE 56,168
Non-current assets ERBEE 86,620
Current liabilities mEaE (19,594)
Non-current liabilities JEREEE -
Net assets BEFE 123,194
Revenue A 605,330
Profit and total comprehensive income T 5 FEAE AR R s A &
for the year 2H 4R 16,688
Dividend received from the associate AFEELD W EQFIRE

during the year 7,646



Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to LB ER B E RN A SRR
the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan Panva recognised REMBEI R 2 REEZ HER:
in the consolidated financial statements:

At
31 March 2019
720194
3H31H
RMB’000
ARETTT
Equity attributable to owners of EEALIEA ABGER
Yunnan Panva 123,194
Proportion of the Group’s direct ownership ANEBRER HIT Z
interest in Yunnan Panva at 20.12% 20.12%EEHEB R 2L 24,787
Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBREF AL 2R Z
Yunnan Panva REE 24,787
Information of associate that is not individually material: BRI TEBEX B &N alz EF -
Year ended
31 March 2019
HZ=2019%F
3A31RILEFE
RMB’'000
ARETTT
The Group's share of profit and total REBERMAERER &M R
comprehensive income for the year ey 20

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’'s ANEBRZEE QA RER 2
interest in this associate AR E 2,036



Cost of unlisted investments (Note)

Share of post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income, net of
dividends received

k2 WA R

The joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

Note: The cost of investments includes goodwill amount of
RMB76,846,000 (2019: RMB76,846,000).

Details of the Group's joint ventures as at 31 March 2020 and
2019 are as follows:

3 E TR AR (HisE)
P A OB 1 2 A R L A 2 26

2019
RMB’000
AR®BT T

303,929

862,183
1,166,112

BELERRBEDEFT AZFRE MR
%o

ek HERABEE BT ARKT6,846,000
7C (20194 : AR #76,846,0007T) °

REBMR2020FE K2019%F3 831 B 26 & D
EFEBOT:

Place of Proportion of nominal value
Form of business establishment of registered capital held by

Name of company structure and operation
NEER EBRBEA B RS it
BRELZAMRKERR AT Limited liability PRC

(Fujian Province An Ran Gas  company H

Investment Co., Ltd.) BBEEAT

(“Fujian An Ran")
EERRREZER Limited liability PRC

A 2 Fl(Yunnan Jiehua company F

Civigas Clean Energy Co.,, EBREFAT
Ltd.) (“Yunnan Jiehua")

the Group Principal activities
AEEFECEMER
TEL {8t ) TEEK

2019

51% Investment holding in subsidiaries
which are engaged in distribution
and supply of piped gas and
installation of gas distribution
facilities

REEDHREREEMAARER
MREEREZMBRARETRE
R

51% Engaged in the distribution and
supply of dimethoxymethane
("DME") and wholesale of cylinder
gas

REDHERERL B PR
(TZHR) R ERERR



The relevant activities that significantly affect the return of
Fujian An Ran and Yunnan Jiehua require unanimous consent
from the other joint venture partners holding the remaining
49% equity interest in each of Fujian An Ran and Yunnan
Jiehua. In addition, the joint arrangements do not result
in either parties having rights to assets and obligations to
liabilities of Fujian An Ran and Yunnan Jiehua, hence the Group
has accounted for Fujian An Ran and Yunnan lJiehua as joint
ventures.

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect
of the Group’s material joint ventures is set out below.
The summarised consolidated financial information below
represents amounts prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. The
joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Current assets mEEE
Non-current assets IERBEE
Current liabilities mEBAE
Non-current liabilities IERBEE
Net assets BEFE

Equity attributable to owners of Fujian An  BEZREBHEB AEEZ

Ran Group R
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE

HERELZAREEREZOBEEATE
ZHBEDTERARELARERMEL
BT A% AR WA BLERH 2 —
HRAE N HREELHL TSR
—THERLTAREEBECEERERE
NMEBEBBERAEE AHAKECKE
BLAREERICINEREELEAK:.

BRAAGSEEAGELCREZGAWBEN
BEHEINMAT - T EHBEERBEEA
T BERBEEBVBREERNRE -5
BEERABRZFARAEEAZEEMB
HK -

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

1,044,155
2,683,061

(1,159,494)

(308,686)

2,259,036

2,081,790
177,246

2,259,036



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FMEMBERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020563A31HLLEE

A ;m A Y I P2 AY ] ¥ .
23.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 23.RNEELE 2R @
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint EELECHBEENBE (&)
ventures (Continued)
Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran EWRELTARENE AR (4 A [182LH
Group”) (Continued) £E]) (&)
The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the TEERBESHERETISE:
following:
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTT

Cash and cash equivalents BeMBE&EEEE 205,348 227,154
Property, plant and equipment Y B Rk 2,672,471 2,392,006
Right-of-use assets EREEE 126,244 =
Prepaid lease payments ENEE - 106,159
Trade receivables = 454,922 509,075

Current financial liabilities (excluding trade B¢ A E (TEEEZE S K
and other payables) A FE A F0IE) (357,447) (413,143)

Non-current financial liabilities (excluding ~ FEENHi& M aE (T8 1E
other payables) H A e A 5008 ) (304,030) (390,194)

182 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2019 - 2020 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z202053831HILLEE

S&x —— \ /
23.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES . REEREZER
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint EELECHBEENBE (&)
ventures (Continued)
Fujian An Ran and its subsidiaries (collectively “Fujian An Ran EBELZARENB LA (SR [ERELA
Group”) (Continued) £E]) (&)
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2020 31 March 2019
H £20205 HZE20194F
3A31BLEE 3A31HLEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFIT

Revenue WA 1,979,431 1,987,113
Depreciation and amortisation PrEE R 111,779 85,718
Interest income B U A 2,249 2,036
Interest expense B X 11,156 26,020
Income tax expense Fri5 & X2 73,855 101,713

Profit and total comprehensive income TG AN F R &

for the year attributable to: HEREEE:
Owners of Fujian An Ran Group BEZALEEER A 207,385 228,077
Non-controlling interests JEVE IR i 5 18,979 16,546
2%
S =
226,364 244,623 E
=
Group's share of results of the joint venture REBEEESEDEELE 105,766 116,319

FRERERAF
2019 - 2020F 183



Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial LGB ENBERREGS M HRE
information to the carrying amount of the interest in Fujian An PHERBELAEEE R 2 REE R
Ran Group recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2019
RMB'000
AR¥ETTT
Equity attributable to owners of Fujian An  BEZAREBEEE A 2
Ran Group 2,081,790
Proportion of the Group's ownership REERBREZASEREEE 2
interest in Fujian An Ran Group at 51% 51%#E 2= £t 1) 1,061,713
Goodwill [k 76,846
Others Hity 10,740

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in AEBRBELTAREEZ
Fujian An Ran Group w2 BREE 1,149,299



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z202053831HILLEE

;m Y I P2 AY ] ¥
23.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 23 REELE IR )
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint EECECHMBEERBE (&)
ventures (Continued)
Yunnan Jiehua and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Jiehua EEEERENE QA (718 [ZEmE1ESE
Group”) E/)
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETT

Current assets mENEE 56,469 104,600
Non-current assets IERBEE 45,138 42,505
Current liabilities mEEE (52,053) (96,535)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (1,240) -
Net assets BEFE 48,314 50,570

Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan TERCERER ARG Z

Jiehua Group g 28,667 32,966
Non-controlling interests FE 2 AR HE 2 19,647 17,604
48,314 50,570
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23.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Summarised financial information of material joint
ventures (Continued)

Yunnan Jiehua and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Jiehua
Group”) (Continued)

The above amounts of assets and liabilities include the

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FMEMBERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020563A31HLLEE

RECECHMBERBE (F)

NREELEZRELT @

EHFIERERB A (7 [ TEFEE

E]) (%)

PR EERABERBETIIRIEA:

186 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2019 - 2020 Annual Report

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB'000

AREBTT ARETF T

Cash and cash equivalents BeMBE&EEEE 49,328 84,940

Property, plant and equipment Y B Rk 18,723 29,832

Right-of-use assets 9,871 5,122

Trade receivables =) 1,993 1,849
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade B¢ A E (TEEEZE S K

and other payables) H fth B 5008 (44,595) (83,556)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z202053831HILLEE

23.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 3 REELEER @
(Continued)
Summarised financial information of material joint EELECHBEENBE (&)
ventures (Continued)
Yunnan Jiehua and its subsidiaries (collectively “Yunnan Jiehua EEEERENE QA (718 [ZEmE1ESE
Group”) (Continued) &) (%&)
Year ended Year ended

31 March 2020 31 March 2019
H £20205 HZE20194F
3A31BLEE 3A31HLEE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETFIT

Revenue WA 133,254 182,397
Depreciation and amortisation PrEE R 2,988 2,038
Interest income F B A 532 419
Interest expense A BF X 710 679
Income tax expense Fri5 & X2 2,204 1,533

Profit and total comprehensive income TG AN F R &

for the year HEREEE:
Owners of Yunnan Jiehua Group EmBELEEES A 5,101 3,776
Non-controlling interests JEVE IR 5 3,345 2,925
2%
S =
8,446 6,701 5
=
Dividend AR B 9,400 =
Group's share of results of the joint venture REBEEESEDEELE 2,601 1,926

FRERERAF
2019 - 2020F 187



Reconciliation of the above summarised consolidated financial LR EVBEERBEERREE P ERE

information to the carrying amount of the interest in Yunnan TR EEBCRE R BREE
Jiehua Group recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:
2019
RMB'000
AR¥TTT

Equity attributable to owners of Yunnan TER RS AEG 2 ES

Jiehua Group 32,966
Proportion of the Group's ownership AEBREMRCEEREGE

interest in Yunnan Jiehua Group at 51% 51%%Ez b !

m
-w

—

16,813

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in NEBRNEmELEEH 2
Yunnan Jiehua Group w2 BREE 16,813



ARBTT
Balance at 1 April 2018 20184 A 1R &k 44,864
Addition relating to acquisition of business (note 41) BHBBEB2AE (MFH41) 469
Fair value change recognised to OCI BREHMETEKRNDAERE (3,200)
Balance at 31 March 2019 20193 A31H 2 & 42,133
Addition NE 689
Fair value change recognised to OCI HREEMEEBEZNALEED (9,077)
Balance at 31 March 2020 202093 A318 2 & 33,745
Note: These investees are mainly engaged in the sale and distribution fik: ZEWIRER FEZRFHERD HERMN

of cylinder gas and gas appliances; FMCG and food ingredients
supply business. These investments are not held for trading,
instead, they are held for long-term strategic purposes. The
directors of the Company have elected to designate these
investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe
that these investments are not held for trading and not expected

to the sold in the foreseeable future.

Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets/prepaid lease payments

WEEM % BB MR s R
BE/MNEEREZENERS

RMB'000

FRMAEE A HENES LS 2%
RAWIHIER S - M ER MBI E & -
AAREFDREBEATAFORER
BETARAR B ARBRERE B
RRMRAZERELERERS A
Bt E AR KRG HE -

2019
RMB’000
AR®ETT

20,648



Materials and consumables
Gas appliances
Merchandises

Gas

Trade receivables
Bills receivables

Less: Allowance for credit losses

Total trade and bills receivables (net of ECL)

Deposits paid for purchase of natural
gas; cylinder gas; merchandises

and construction materials

Rental and utilities deposits and prepayments

Other tax recoverable

Amounts due from non-controlling interests

Other receivables and deposits

Total other receivables and prepayments

Less: Allowance for credit losses

Total other receivables
and prepayments (net of ECL)

MR RS
MEE A
?F}ﬁl:ll:l

B 5 RYR
FiR YR

B EREERE

B MEHERW AR (NRESH

EEER)

BERAR BEMR EmhTiE

MHENES

Mk ABERRE MENFR
H ] Y Bl £ IR

JRE Uit SE 22 B M 2 R IR

Hit YRR R R E

H A Wk IR & TR SRR AR R
B EREERE

Hh 8 W kIR I TR A SRR AR
(MR EBEEEE)

2019
RMB’000
AR®BT T

21,468
1,946
7,774

14,843

46,031

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

98,117
1,700

99,817
(4,591)

95,226

70,008
11,811
11,748

6,212
54,229

154,008
(35,234)

118,774

214,000



Rental deposits paid were adjusted upon the initial application
of HKFRS16. Details of the adjustments are set out in Note 2.

As at 1 April 2018, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to HK$58,040,000.

The Group has a policy of allowing a credit period ranging
from 0 to 180 days to its customers. Longer credit period
is also allowed on a case by case basis. The following is
an aged analysis of trade and bill receivables, net of ECL,
presented based on the invoice date, which approximated the
revenue recognition date for sales of gas and the respective
construction contracts completion dates, as appropriate:

0 to 90 days 0z290H

91 to 180 days 91&180H
Over 180 days 1808 LA £
Trade receivables 2 5 W RIA
0 to 90 days 0290H

91 to 180 days 912 180H
Bills receivables B E KA

As at 31 March 2020, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
RMB4,753,000 (2019: RMB5,308,000) which are past due
as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
RMB4,152,000 (2019: RMB2,921,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default based on the
Group's assessment of historical credit loss experience of the
existing debtors and all available forward-looking information,
including but not limited to the expected economic conditions
in the PRC and expected subsequent settlements. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balance.

RYIRERB BT BHRELENE 1651 H
RO THE FBABHNME2 -

MR2018F4 818 BEFEHNELEZE SRR
FIE A AR #58,040,0007T

AEENBR B THEP FH0E180R
MEEH - BFENBER ARETH TR
EONEEH -REZBH (EEEMRKRA
HER A B RAEE R LS R B H (E
) HRE)FENE S RREBRKIR (I
BEHEEER) MKREDITIT

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

83,445
7,160
2,921

93,526

1,700

1,700

MR2020F3A31H  AEBME H EKRK
HEEKBIERETDEARK4,753,000
70 (20194 : A R #5,308,0007T) 2 fE Uk
R RBEBHEa - BAEIBES
o AR #4,152,0007T (20194 : A R#E
2,921,000t ) E #8990 K sk A |+ I EAR I
AEBHREEBAELEEHFELRN
TERATER AMATEEER (BIEETR
FA A R B Y T8 HA OB AR O I TE B R 1R B 4
H)MEBRBEN AEBITARZZEH
BETMEES-



As at 31 March 2020, included in other receivables and
prepayments, there are deposits and advance payment to
suppliers of RMB37,147,000 (2019: RMB70,008,000) in relation
to the purchase of natural gas; cylinder gas and merchandises,
which will be delivered within one year from the end of the
reporting period.

As at 31 March 2020, included in other receivables and
prepayments, are amounts due from non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries of RMB4,876,000 (2019:5,174,000) in relation
to the sales of natural gas, cylinder gas and merchandise, which
is aged 0 to 90 days.

As at 31 March 2020, included in other receivables and
prepayments, are amount due from non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries of RMB5,359,000 (2019: RMB1,038,000) which is
of a non-trade nature, unsecured, non-interesting bearing and
repayable on demand.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 38(b).

72020F3A31H b e W 3k 18 R FE
HREBEBEERBRAR BERILY
mZEe R THER 2BNREBEARE
37,147,0007T (20194F : A R #70,008,000
L) R EEEREARRBR—FRARNT

72020 3A31H  H e W 3k 18 R B
HEREFEBEHEERAR BERRLE
mZEWHE AR FEERES Z HBEAR
#4,876,0007T (20194F : A R #5,174,000
J0)  BRBR B0ZE90H °

72020F3 A31 8 + H A fE U 5RIE R TE T K
BEEEKKEBARHERERS 2 REAR
#5,359,0007T (20194F : A £ #1,038,000
TLBFEESHE ERH RENEARE
KIEE -

B 5 R EAmEKGRIBEREN G 2 FBIHR
Fft 5£38(b) °



Out of the amount due from a joint venture, balance of
RMB 14,000,000 (2019: RMB14,000,000) is unsecured, interest
bearing at the rate of 4.35% per annum and repayable on
demand.

Other than that, the amount due from a joint venture, and
amounts due to an associate and a joint venture are unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

R -—HEELEREAR AR
14,000,0007T (20194 : A £ #14,000,000
TC) YA R R IR - IR RA35%5 B

/,\T;ZK;J:

EE-

BRitb 290 W —FR B B XA AR BN
—HBERARE—HAELE L KEARE
B B RARERER-

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

Financial assets measured at FVTPL BARBEABER I EMEE

Unlisted wealth management products

Analysed for reporting purpose as RRHE DT
Current portion RVHEAEB 53

Net unrealised gain included in other gains &F A E b Uezs 518 2
and losses REIR W F 5

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group entered
into several contracts to acquire unlisted wealth management
products with various PRC financial institutions. The returns
of those wealth management products were determined by
reference to the performance of the underlying investments
and their expected return rates range from 2.9% to 3.6% per
annum.

In the opinion of the management of the Group, the fair value
of the unlisted wealth management products at 31 March
2020 approximated their principal amounts as they have short
maturities ranging from 3 months to 6 months. All wealth
management products will mature within twelve months of 31
March 2020.

JEETIREE m

HE2020F3A31AILFE  AEBESZR
FRECREEBIILANNEEIE LIRS
EmeZSEMEMNEL®RIELX~=ZHEBIR
EMRBET EHPLRJKTENTEF29%
%£36% °

AEEEEBER A R2020F3AH318 ' 3k
FThEYERNAABEREACREES B
AZEEMNIHAHRRE T F3EAE
618 A - 20203 A31H ' FT AR E R
1218 A A E 8 o



Interest rate 2019

Fl= RMB’000

ARBF T

Cash at bank and on hand 0.02% to 3.50% (2019: 0.02% to 3.50%) 441,360
RIRITRFHEBR S per annum

FRZE0.02%%E0.35%
(20194F : 0.02% %=3.50% )

As at 31 March 2020, the bank balances and cash of the Group 202063 A31H8 ANEBUARKEREZ
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB271,275,000 (2019: RITEBRRIE S A ARK271,275,0007T
RMB436,074,000). (20194 : AR#436,074,0007T) °
Included in bank balances and cash, the following amounts are RITERRREBPETIUAREUINE
denominated in currencies other than RMB: MIOTEZSRE:
2019
RMB’000
AR®EF T
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") B ([EE]) 2,050

United States dollars (“USD") Erx(lEx]) 3,236



Trade and other payables comprise amounts outstanding for
trade purchases and ongoing costs with the average credit
period on purchases of goods is 90 days. The following is an
aged analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice

date at the end of the reporting period:

0 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

Trade payables

Piped gas customers deposits

Amounts due to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries

Other tax payables

Wages and staff benefits

Accrued charges and other payables

Total trade and other payables

BOREMENRAREE SRBESE
KAz AN EE REER 2 FHEER
Hi/R90H « FAI AR I?ziﬁﬁﬂiﬂ?dﬁ%é‘ =k
2B HEMNFIBZ RO

2019
RMB’000
ARBF T
0Z90H 61,051
91ZE180H 10,984
1808 Mk 8,441
5 B HIE 80,476
BEWEERRRFIZS 36,795
FEATIT B A R FE IR I i 25 2 TR
8,105
JEAST H A 7 18 18,476
e kEBEREF 15,374
FEET & A K B 4ib FE 1 5018 31,835
25 Kk E A ET RIE AR R 191,061

Included in the amounts due to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries, RMB1,735,000 (2019: RMB6,305,000) are
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand,
which is of a non-trade nature as at 31 March 2020. The
remaining balance as at 31 March 2019 was dividend payable

to non-controlling interests of subsidiaries.

EA2020¢3H31E FERTEY B A B IEYE IR A
ZiRIEH - AREE1,735,0007T (20194 ¢
/\Eﬁ%6,305,00075>7,%ﬁ¢£&%@ DEr B Mi%
ZREER BIFEEFHMUEL -72019F3H31
BRBRBEREMNMB AR EIERER I

=1
/Tn



Contract assets — current =X
Construction contracts in gas R
pipeline construction

BHREBE-RY
HEEBRR

Contract liabilities — current
Provision of piped gas
Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

Retail and wholesale of merchandise ZE NN S

Piped gas connection construction contracts & B RERKEZEA L

As at 1 April 2018, contract assets amounted to RMB10,669,000.

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's right to
consideration for work completed because the rights are
conditioned on the Group’s future performance in achieving
specified milestones at the reporting date on contract work.
The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when
the rights become unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
assets and contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

The Group's revenue from construction contracts is measured
by input method. The Group requires certain customers to
provide upfront deposits before the commencement of the
construction work as part of its credit risk management
policies.

The Group classifies these contract assets as current because
the Group expects to realise them in its normal operating cycle.

When the Group receives a deposit before the construction
activity commences, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.

BRI E MR

2019
RMB’000
AR®BT T

13,579

121,602
22,306
3,459
25,774

173,141

R2018F4H1H GHNEESRAEARKE
10,669,0007T °

BRHEETZRAREWE K TEZHE
FER BN AR HSZSRANBURN A
SEREHNIREREASERETERE
ZARERIR - MK REGTE ANE
EBREE SRR -

FECHERANEERAHNEESHMNA
B BRI T

AEBHRESHBARRANENE - RE
RIIEFMKA AEBEERETEPRMHE
NREESECEERREEREK L —#0 -

ARBBZEANEEN BARDEE A
AAREENEEERSERNARRR
SEE-

EAEERIMARAKIZSE E8Es
WRBRELSHARE EEHBEOER
ZEABBEE SR -



The Group would require advance payment before the usage
of the natural gas for certain customers, any shortage against
the periodically actual charge for the actual usage of natural
gas will be billed by the Group accordingly. These customers
are required to top up the advance payment for future usage
of natural gas to be supplied by the Group. The Group also
requires advance payment before the usage of the natural
gas through the prepaid card for certain household users. The
charge of the actual usage of natural gas will be deducted
directly to the balance of the prepaid card. These customers can
only consume the natural gas up to the balance of the prepaid
card. This will give rise to contract liabilities until the revenue
recognised on the relevant contract exceeds the amount of
advance payment.

The Group sell cylinder gas to the customers. Payment received
in advance that are related to the sales of cylinder gas not yet
delivered to customers are deferred and recognised as contract
liabilities Revenue are recognised when cylinder gas are
delivered to customers.

The Group also sell merchandise to wholesalers. Payments
received in advance that are related to the sales of
merchandises not yet delivered to customers are deferred and
recognised as contract liabilities. Revenue are recognised when
goods are delivered to customers.

The following table shows how much of the revenue
recognised in the current year relates to carried forward
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance
obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

AEBHESETEPERRARANENRA
FFRIR - AN E R 1R IR B R0 R A R AR
ERARNERERKERE - LETFH
SRHREANEERBHRARINNE
- EMETEFPME AKETRES
ERRARBREFEB/AN REAMX
NRIE - BEREARARNERABEERTA
RGP - L FEF RIEFENRAR
ERMASRERNREHR ERELERNEA
B BEEAEANERNKRABBRENA
TR

AEERTFHEREENR - BREE R
RN TFTEPZERMRZBWRADEL
MERREHNEE BERARNTEFH
HERMA

NEFMALEFHEEER - BHARNF
B F T b FR R Y TR R RS R ST
BREAHEE WAREYRINTHRER
BERERR

TRETAFEMEREEESNAETA
ARl aeERERATHBETHELD
REEEHNKEESE-



For the year ended 31 March 2020

Revenue recognised that was BEEEVEHNEELER
included in the contract liability BRA/BA
balance at the beginning of
the year

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Revenue recognised that was BEEEVEHNEELER
included in the contract liability ERARABKA
balance at the beginning of
the year

Included in the contract liability balance at the beginning of
the year, RMB4,409,000 (2019: RMB12,490,000) was not
recognised as revenue during the year ended 31 March 2020
mainly due to the delay in the construction work.

HZ2020F3831HILFEE

HZE2019F3A31HILFE

Piped gas

Provision Sales and Retail and connection

of distribution of wholesales of  construction

piped gas  cylinder gas  merchandise contracts
HE MHERDE TERHHE EBMA
EEMRR R R Em BEREEEN
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTIT AREBTR
88,421 5,604 - 17,415

RENHNADNEABEESRP AR
4,409,0007T (20194 : A R #12,490,000
TT) NE E2020F3A31H IEEEW AER
BN FERRELETRRTEEMN-



Lease liabilities payables:

Within one year

More than one year, but not more than two years
More than two years, but not more than five years
More than five years

Less: Amounts due within one year shown under
current liabilities

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities

ENEEAE:
—FRA
A —FETEBBME

HRAMEFETEBBRF
BB R F

BB REMR - FARBZ S8

FRBEREMTEHE

2019
RMB'000
AR¥ET T
Secured bank borrowings BERBEITEE 105,240
Unsecured bank borrowings EIBIRITEE 67,000
172,240
Carrying amount repayable: AIEE ZARHEE
Within one year or on demand —FRHILER 128,490
In the second and fifth year, inclusive FEEERAF (BREEMTE) 20,000
Over five years AEFEE 23,750
172,240
All secured and unsecured bank borrowings are floating rate FrEEHHERERMRTEELNREZDEA
borrowings of which interest rates are in the range of People’s REE FEENFTHBEARRITHEMN
Bank of China plus 0.15% to 0.87% (2019: 0% to 1.36%) per 0.15%%0.87% (2019F : 0% =1.36% ) °
annum.
Certain assets of the Group are pledged for the secured bank AEBsETEECRBRBRITEEE

borrowings, details of which are set out in note 47.

I HF TN 54T -



2019

RMB’000

AREF T

Deferred tax assets REFRIBE E 4,030
Deferred tax liabilities R IE A F (12,605)
(8,575)

TR BRAEERBEFE D BRALE
BB EEE, BBERLED:

The following are the major deferred tax assets/liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

prior years:
Fair value
revaluation
Accelerated  Allowance of equity
tax for credit instruments
depreciation loss Others  at FVTOCL Total
BARERA
Hi2mEKE
IR B EEER ZHEXTAZ
wE BE Hth RAAREER &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETRT
(Note)
(PiE&E)
At 1 April 2018 20184 A18 (3,806) 671 (4,442) (4,902) (12,479)
Credited to OCl RE A2 E B EEETA - - - 398 398
Credited to profit or loss R A
(note 13) (Pf3E13) 147 3,359 = = 3,506
At 31 March 2019 7201943 A31H (3,659) 4,030 (4,442) (4,504) (8,575)
Credited to OCI PEM 2 E RS A - - - 1,591 1,591
Credited to profit or loss R Bz A
(note 13) (KI3E13) 148 244 = = 392
At 31 March 2020 20203 A31H (3,511) 4,274 (4,442) (2,913) (6,592)

M AARBEARLES TYWE BEL&E
RSz WE 2 BRERBDRBESF
RRER - REBBAELEMEH L AEHE
AR LA ERKRA (11F )R’
ZWEEELEMRSH -

Note: The deferred tax was recognised in prior years in respect of
the Group’s gain on disposal of certain property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments. According to the
respective EIT Law, the Group can defer the EIT on such gain
after considering deductible reconstruction cost, if any.



At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
estimated unused tax losses of RMB130,501,000 (2019:
RMB138,081,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These
unrecognised tax losses will expire in various dates up to 2024
(2019: 2023).

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries, from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation
has not been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences attributable
to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to
RMB1,319,275,000 (2019: RMB1,274,883,000) as the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Authorised: A
Ordinary shares of HKD0.07 each GREBEK07TZEER

Issued and fully paid: BETRER:
At the beginning of the year E41
Shares repurchased and cancelled (note) RAER R (M)

At the end of the year RER

RmEPR AEERHE AT ARBARB
B 18 A R #¥130,501,0007C (20195 : AR
#138,081,0007T ) A A 1E 4K 48 oK 2K i 71l
R KRB R AR IR 2 5 ) - #4855 18 7
RELERBEE - ZSABERHBBEBR
TR BEE R B 2202445 (20194 : 2023
F)e

RIER B ESEE i R B A F A
2008F 1 A1 H BT BEUE A FTE R 2 IR &
EEARBEHNBE - AR EEFENEB A
A 205 R AR #1,319,275,0007T (2019
F: ANR¥1,274,883,0007T) 2 E B E =5
RERE BB RRTIREE  RADAEES
BENIES TR RN RRRZET
Br AR e N R A T8 B R 2R B # -

Number of shares
RHEE

2019 2019
HKD'000
BETT
38,000,000,000 2,660,000
9,041,819,203 632,927
(107,258,000) (7,508)
8,934,561,203 625,419



Presented in consolidated financial REREMBBRERES A
statements as:
At the end of the year RER

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company repurchased its
own shares through the Stock Exchange as follows:

ordinary
shares of
HKDO0.07
B #0.07T
ZBEREAE

Month of repurchase EAEEKr)
April 2018 201844 H 43,828,000
May 2018 20184 5H 63,430,000

107,258,000

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balances. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, including
bank borrowings as disclosed in note 34, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital as disclosed in note
36 and reserves and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively.

2019
RMB’000
AR®BT T

564,507

B 3

HZE2019F3A318 L FE AR RSB B AT
BRI MmT :

Price per share

BRERK
Aggregated
repurchase
Highest Lowest cost
BS BE BBERAE
HKD HKD HKD'000
B HE B BT T
0.120 0.104 4,992
0.129 0.119 7,933
12,925

?“u’

1)
3

AEBERREER URRAEEASE
BEARERE R TEBE(CEREER
k- ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ’jﬂx%%ﬂi =EHR e NEE L
BRAEIEBEFEMER -

i Bk

AEEZEARBREAR (BENHE34
BRERTEE) R RREFEEBEN
RARRBHEA AEGED (BREDETRA
M DRI BER 36 MR EEE S
=) e



The management reviews the capital structure by considering ERERRBERETGHEERNAR I ERK

the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of ARERBBNERNEE - BRBEEEE CHER
capital. Based on recommendations of the management, the BER -AEEKFERIKMNERE  BITHRNA
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the RBTHEBNERREES 27
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of ERENRERE-

new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories
of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting period are set out as follows:

Financial assets SREE

Equity instruments at FVTOC| BAREFFAREMEZEKZR 2
BEHRIE

Financial assets designated at FVTPL BERBRARMBEAEBRZ
EREE

Financial assets at amortised cost REENATENEREE

Financial liabilities SREE

At amortised cost R SE A AN

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
instruments at FVTOCL, financial assets designated at
FVTPL, trade, bills and other receivables, amount due
from and to a joint venture, bank balances and cash,
trade and other payables, amount due to an associate,
bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

UTEEREREEREBRABNR
FHRZREERINAT

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

42,133

576,023

618,156

326,822
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The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate bank deposits (note 30) and bank
borrowings (note 34). It is the Group’s policy to keep its
bank deposits, and bank borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group’s fair value
interest rate risk relates primarily to its fixed-rate amount
due from a joint venture (see note 28 for details). The
Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. Floating-
rate bank balances have not been included in the
sensitivity analysis as the management considers that the
interest rate would not fluctuate significantly in the near
future and therefore the financial impact to the Group
is not significant. For variable-rate bank borrowings, the
analysis is prepared assuming the amounts outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis
points) increase or decrease in interest rate is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates. If interest
rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March
2020 would decrease/increase by RMB560,000 (2019:
RMB732,000).

AEEZREREMNERARERZRT
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Currency risk refers to the risk associated with movements
in foreign currency rates which will affect the Group’s
financial results and its cash flow. As at 31 March
2020 and 2019, certain bank balances of the Group
are denominated in foreign currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entities. The Group does
not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging the potential foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated bank balances at the end of the reporting
period are as follows:

HKD 7 Wk
usD ETT

The Group is mainly exposed to HKD and USD currency
risk.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2019: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2019: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currencies denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2019: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.

BRSNS EREB)EE A
BEEREB s WHEEREESR
£ 7 B e 7A20204F KX201943 831
H AEEETRITEHBEASNEE
BRI EE (BARE) ASNIHN
Bl E MG E - NS B I &AM HNE
R o AT BEEEERINES R 2
B WHEREEEREREHREKR
2 INEE LB

ARmERR NEBELINESHEZ
171

IRITHEBZIRABERT
Assets
BE
2019
RMB'000
ARETFIT
2,050
3,236

AEBETERHBEREITZERR

o
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A negative number below indicates decrease in post-
tax profit for the year where the functional currency
strengthens 5% (2019: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2019 5%) weakening of functional
currency against the relevant foreign currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss
for the year and the balances below would be positive.

HKD Vi
usD ETT

The Group is mainly exposed to price risk through
financial assets measured at FVTPL and equity instrument
at FVTOCI. The directors of the Company do not
implement specific measures to mitigate the price risk.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties, is arising from the carrying amounts of
the Group's financial assets (excluding financial assets
at FVTOCI and at FVTPL) and contract assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
amount of financial guarantee provided by the Group as
disclosed in note 48.

TH B BR RIS W iR i8R N
B E5% (20195 : 5% ) FTEE 2 F
FE R 1% F R A o 14 T g & 88 X 48
RIS B {E5% (20195F :5% ) » &
HFEEaERNEERER ZFEM
AR A IES -

2019
RMB’000
ARETT
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In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances
based on provision matrix. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
effectively managed.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and customers.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks in the PRC or banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies and the Group has limited exposure to
any single financial institution.

As at 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group performed
impairment assessment on bank balances by reference to
the average loss rate for respective credit rating grades
published by international credit-rating agencies and
concluded that the expected credit loss is insignificant.
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The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect
of amount due from a joint venture of RMB15,310,000
(2019: RMB14,498,000). During the year ended 31
March 2020, the Group recognised interest income of
RMB665,000 (2019: RMB665,000) as other income in
profit or loss. In view of the timely interest repayment
from a joint venture, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the credit risk in respect to the loan receivable
is not significant. Having considered the financial position
of the joint venture as well as the economic outlook
of the industry in which the joint venture operates and
concluded that there has been no significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. The expected credit
losses on amount due from a joint venture is considered
to be insignificant.

The Group has taken into account the economic outlook
of the industries in which the debtors operate and
concluded that there has been no significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. The expected
credit losses on other receivables are considered to be
insignificant.

AEEEEER—BHEELERIEA
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The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

R EEFR

Low risk

K B

Watch list

BRAE

Doubtful

5

Loss

B8

Write-off

5

Description
a3t

The counterparty has a low risk of default
and does not have any past-due amounts
HFFEORBRREK BREESHEE

Debtor frequently repays after due dates
but usually settles after due date

BEEABRRNEE B REE 1E—RNEH
Hig&s

There have been significant increases
in credit risk since initial recognition
through information developed internally
or external resources
FRABRINERERNEM  EERR
B ) 25 W 53 LA SR BR #4E hn

There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit impaired

ERBERAREEREERE

There is evidence indicating that the
debtor is in severe financial difficulty
and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery

B RBIBERES A LR BRI B RS
BREEREETERBIKHRTR

AEEARMEERRTEEIEATA

Bl :

Trade
receivables/
contract assets
B EWRE
EHNEE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
FEBEBEEEE -
EEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
FEMEBEEEE -
EEERE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
FEMEBEEEE -
EEERE
Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
FEMEBEEEE -
EERE

Amount is written off

TR M

Other financial
assets/other items

HtbemEE
HfEE

12-month ECL

12 AFEHEEREE

12-month ECL

12 AFEHEERRE

Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired

FEPEREEEE -
mEERE
Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired
FEPEREEEE -
EERE

Amount is written off

&R R M



The table below details the credit risk exposures of TRA@EASECREENEE

the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL R EXRABHREEERE:
assessment:
External Internal 12-month or
Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
128 A FEH
Mz SHIBEEFR APEEIR FAHEERHE IREAE
2019
RMB’000
ARBF T
Financial assets at amoritsed cost
REBHERAIIENERMEE
Trade and bills 27 n/a (Note(i)) Lifetime ECL (not 97,363
receivables T iE (PR REG) ) credit impaired
BHREERE and provision
U s IE matrix)
GREBEHEES
B (EEERE
N Rk )
Loss Lifetime ECL 2,443
g (credit impaired)
GEBEHEE
BB (EERE)
Amounts due 27 n/a Low risk 12-month ECL 6,212
from non- i 1K &\ Bz (assessed
controlling individually)
interest RERAEHEE
i E T &8 (BT

BB RIE 1)



External Internal
Notes credit rating credit rating

ME SMBEEFR ABEEFR

Financial assets at amoritsed cost (Continued)

BRBERATIRNERMEE (8)

Other 27 n/a Doubtful
receivables T iE A 17 5¢
H b W 5RIE
Loss
&8
Amount due 28 n/a Low risk
from a joint i A 1K /= B
venture

EW—HEEE
EERIA

12-month or
lifetime ECL
1218 B =k 77 & A8
FHEEEE

Lifetime ECL (not
credit impaired
and assessed
individually)

GEBREHEE
BE (EEE
IE K B R

Lifetime ECL
(credit impaired)

GEBREHEE
B (EERE)

12-month ECL
(assessed
individually)

12EAFEHEE
E1E (EETE)

Gross carrying amount

AR T 48 (B

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

25,789

28,161

14,498



Notes

MeE SMBEEFR ABEEFR

External
credit rating

Internal
credit rating

Financial assets at amoritsed cost (Continued)

BRBHERATIRNEREE (B)

Bank balances
and cash

RITHEBREIR

&

Other items

HEH

Contract
assets

BHEE

Financial
guarantee
contracts
(Note (ii))

MBS ERE A
(B (i) )

30

32

48

Aa2 to Baa3
Aa2 £ Baa3

n/a
i

n/a
i

Low risk

1K

(Note(i))
(M EG))

Low risk

1K

12-month or
lifetime ECL
1218 B =k 17 & A8
HHEEEE

12-month ECL
(assessed
individually)

12 A FEHEEE
B (BETE)

Lifetime ECL (not
credit impaired
and provision
matrix)

FEPEBEES
B (EEERE
N H Bk )

12-month ECL
(assessed
individually)
2@ A FEHEEE
B (BETE)

Gross carrying amount

IREAE

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

441,360

13,590

100,000



Notes:

(ii)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
credit-impaired which are assessed individually, the Group
determines the expected credit losses on these items
grouped by past due status for trade receivables and the
status of the relevant projects of the contract assets. When
there are indicators that the relevant contract assets maybe
credit impaired, the relevant amount will be assessed for
expected credit losses individually.

The Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers in relation to its operation because
these customers consist of a large number of customers
with common risk characteristics that are representative
of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. Based on the
Group's assessment of historical credit loss experience
of the existing debtors and all available forward looking
information, including but not limited to the expected
economic conditions in the PRC and expected subsequent
settlements, the Group does not consider that default
occurs for those contractual payments that are more than
90 days past due.

The Group used estimated loss rates based on aging
for classes with different credit risk characteristics and
exposures, and the estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure relevant information about specific debtors is
updated.

For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying
amount represents the maximum amount the Group has
guaranteed under the respective contracts.

5]

(ii)

A

N
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group HZE2020F3A31BIEFE  AEHE

provided RMB445,000 (2019: RMB1,348,000) impairment BBEBEEERERE SR EEERR
allowance for trade and bills receivables and contract HR&HEEFRARK445,0007T
assets based on the provision matrix. (20194F : AR¥1,348,0007T ) HIR(E
A

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRETREBEELEFZEZNEZIRER
that has been recognised for trade and bills receivables EWRIEREHNEECHANTFER

and contract asset under the simplified approach. BHEEBE 228

Lifetime Lifetime

ECL ECL Lifetime

(not credit (not credit ECL (credit

Impaired) impaired) impaired)*

FRARS FRAREN FRARS
REBR REFR REFR
(YEEERE) (LREEMHE) (FEEE)*

Contract assets Trade and bills receivables Total
RHEE EANEERUTAE &it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL ARBTL ARBTL ARBTL

At 1 April 2018 R201854 8181 11 1,834 1,428 3,273
Impairment loss recognised BRERZAESR - 303 1,045 1,348
Write off A = = (30) (30)
At 31 March 2019 72019438310 11 2,137 2,443 4591
Reversal of impairment loss recognised BB BFAKY B E B (1) = = (1)
Impairment loss recognised BRAZRESR - 456 - 456
At 31 March 2020 12020%3A31H - 2,593 2,443 5,036
@ Full provision was made for respective credit-impaired & ERFTENEERENE SRR

trade receivable. THEL 2 RERE-



The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss that
has been recognised for 12-month ECL and lifetime ECL
on other receivables.

MR2018F4 818
HR2018F4 1B HERH
SR T A#E:

At 1 April 2018
Changes due to financial
instrument recognised as at
1 April 2018:
— Reversal of impairment
loss recognised

— RO ERRERRE

— Disposal of subsidiaries —HEWEB R A
— Write off — H8H
New or originated financial ~ ANFEFIENBIFENSHE
assets during the current E:
year:
— Impairment —BERERBEESE

losses recognised

201943 A31H
— B[O B MR AR EE S

At 31 March 2019
— Reversal of impairment
loss recognised
— Impairment
losses recognised

—ERERREEE

At 31 March 2020 202053 A31H

HBEEMBRERARREENTE
N EERBNERNSE  AKE
SMEE S REKE NMEBACE
RYUDEAWERT -

TRETEHERNREAEHREESRE

M GEREREEFENEREE M
FE W SR B S BR o
12m ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit (credit
impaired) impaired) Total
128 B8
EEEE GFEBES
(E/EE FEEEE
RAE) (EERHE) &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREF T AREF T ARET T
1,500 52,008 53,508
- (468) (468)
- (13,910) (13,910)
- (15,112) (15,112)
5,573 5,643 11,216
7,073 28,161 35,234
- (6,236) (6,236)
- 8,329 8,329
7,073 30,254 37,327



In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains the level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flow. The management manages
liquidity risk by monitoring adequate reserves, banking
facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group's
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient
cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.
The Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of funds generated from
operations and bank borrowings.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that
interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derived from interest rate curve at the end of the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBERERME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020563A31HILLEE

38.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 3. @A (s

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) “REAREEEEREE (B)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBE LR (&)
Weighted Within Within
average one year second to Total
effective or fifth years, Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate on demand inclusive fifth years cash flow amount
E-ELER
MEFYER -FrAR (BfEER AERRS
i TRE WE)  EEENE  RB4E EEE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARMTR AR®TR AR%®TR ARETR

At 31 March 2020 #202063A318
Trade and other payables 25 REAMERTA - 152,864 - - 152,864 152,864
Amount due to an associate  JEfT— B < A A FA - 1,589 - - 1,589 1,589
Bank borrowings RITEE 4.89 71,058 52,782 21,813 145,653 131,700
Lease liabilities HEakE 5.27 7,664 16,172 9,009 32,845 27,903
Financing quarantee BRELZREERED
contracts issued
— Maximum -EREREE
amount guarantee 150,000 - - 150,000 -
383,175 68,954 30,822 482,951 314,056

Bt

=
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v
<
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FRERERAF
2019 - 20204F &k 217



Weighted
average
effective

interest rate

NETHER
il
%

At 31 March 2019 201934318
Trade and other payables ‘”%&Hﬁﬁﬁﬁt -
Amount due to an associate B —[E & A3 -
Amount due to a joint venture F@\ﬁ Fﬂ@ﬁm% ] =
Bank borrowings ROEE 5.06
Financing guarantee contracts B & it 7 B & ERA L)

issued

~ Maximum amount LY

guarantee

REE

ik

Within

one year
or

on demand

L
B
RMB'000
AREFT

154,262
131
189

134,568

100,000

389,150

Within
second to Total
fifth years, Over  undiscounted Carrying
inclusive fifth years cash flow amount
E_ERER
(BHEEE ABRRE
mE)  FRFNE mERH KA
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTR ARETT AR%TR
- - 154,262 154,262
= = 131 131
= = 189 189
21,723 27,071 189,362 172,240
= = 100,000 =
21,723 27,07 443,944 326,822

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers
that it is more likely than not that no amount will be
payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the
counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a
function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer
credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are
subject to change if changes in variable interest rates
differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at
the end of the reporting period.
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Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used).

Financial assets

THEE

Unquoted equity
investments

FEMERTE

Wealth
management

products in the PRC

R BB EM

Fair value as at 31 March
RT5EEZAAE
2019
RMB’000
AREFTL

Assets
42,133

EE
42,133

Financial assets
at FVTPL

RAAETA
BHzEREE

Fair value
hierarchy
AREEBR

Level 3

E=H7

Level 3

F =5l

AEEE

DEMEETNERESHR

BARERE TREKNAETE U
FeRMEELARBZER (FRIERMR
ERZEETERBABE)

Valuation
technique

BT %

Market
comparable
approach

5 LB

Discounted
cash flow

MEARERE

Significant
unobservable
inputs

EXTUREZBARE

Market multiples ranging from
0.65 t0 1.79 (2019: 1.40 to

1.81) and discount for lack of
marketability of 25% (2019: 25%)
(note a)

TS EHN F0.6521.792
(2019% : 1.40%1.81) RErZ M5
MM E25% (20195 :25% )
(Fiska)

Key unobservable inputs:

IETABRHARE:

Expected yields of underlying
investments invested by financial
institutions (note b)
SRKRBRE CHERE 2 EER
& (fiEDb)



Notes: Bt 5

(@)  The higher the market multiples, the higher the fair value, (@ WHBEEES ARERSE R2ZTF
and vice versa. The higher the discount, the lower the fair RNeoESR RAABEBEK K2R
value, and vice versa. e

(b)  The management of the Group consider that the impact by AEHEEBEERA/BBEIANTER

of the fluctuation in expected yields of the underlying
instruments to the fair value of the wealth management
products was insignificant as the products have short

maturities ranging from 3 to 6 months, and therefore no PoR)i)

sensitivity analysis is presented.

Gain of RMB1,122,000 is recognised in profit or loss

Yo 5t 3R BY 72 B A
BYTEXR REAZETERPRE
BN F3IE6[EA - I &2 5 gURiE

AR B

RAFEE ROBRE=R2BHE

relating to the change in fair value of wealth management mARBEEHERBERZAERK S

products classified as Level 3 for the current year (2019:

N/A).

Balance at 1 April 2018

Addition relating to acquisition of
business (note 41)

Fair value change recognised to OCI

Balance at 31 March 2019

Additions
Fair value change recognised to OCI

Balance at 31 March 2020

) e

MR2018F4 818 2 6k
ERAWBEEE 2ARE (KH5E41)

HREEMEZEREN A ER

R2019%F3 A31H 2 &8

//J\\%
ERAEEMEZEKREN AR EZD

7202063 831 H 2 &8

AR #1,122,0007T (20194 : T3

RMB’000
ARETT

44,864

469
(3,200)

42,133

689
(9,077)

33,745



RMB’'000

AR®ETTT
Balance at 31 March 2019 M20193 A31 8 2 &84 =
Additions NE 1,084,000
Redemption f& [ (883,180)
Fair value change recognised to profit or loss i = BEE 1,122
Balance at 31 March 2020 20203 A31H 2 &84 201,942

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group uses market-observable data to the extent
it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the management establishes the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The management
reports the findings to the directors of the Company half
yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value
of the assets and liabilities.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during
the year.
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The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising TRHANASERETDMELEBE S

from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash B (BREEeRFRCES) - rﬂé/ﬁ@)ﬁﬁ
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for EEXBEEHEESRECHARKE RN
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be classified in EERAEEGEARERERTDEAR
the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows BEEpRensEv8E-

from financing activities.

Consideration
receivable for Dividend
disposal of partial payable to
interestina  non-controlling
subsidiary without interests of
losing control subsidiaries
(included in other (included in Bank Others Lease
receivables)  other payables) Borrowings (note (i) liabilities Total
HEYEL %
BHEZNE

ARPIRE  EGHELR
JEURE  FERERZ

(BiFARME  RE(BHA 2 .
EsE)  HtERE) RiTEE (W3EG)) HESR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETTR ARBT R ARETT ARBTR ARBT R
At 31 March 2018 20183 A31H (1,449) - 129,000 - - 127551
Financing cash flows BERLTE - (22,129) (9,090) 6,305 = (24,914)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERB AR - - 43,000 - - 43,000
Dividend declared of non-controlling Wﬁ% 73?@%%5?&2
interests of subsidiaries g i - 23,029 - - - 23,029
Finance costs recognised REZRERE - - 9,330 - - 9,330
At 31March 2019 Ra019E38318 (1,449) 900 172,040 6305 - 177,99
Adjustment on HKFRS 16 BAMBREEAS 65
e - - - - 24,677 24,677
At 1 April 2019 R019%4R18 (1,449) 900 172,240 6305 2677 202673
Financing cash flows HERERE 1449 (44,969) (50,590) (3,070) (8,967) (106,147)
Dividend declared to non-controlling B A R ERRER S R 2
interests of subsidiaries RE - 44,069 - - - 44,069
New leases HEgE - - - - 10,795 10,795
Finance costs recognised ERARANE - - 10,050 - 1390 11,440
Exchange realignment ELHE - - - - 8 8
At 31 March 2020 R020£38318 - - 131,700 3035 27,903 162,838
Note: The amount includes amount due to non-controlling interest of Mer: Z2eHRREEIE S HERMNHB A RIIE
subsidiaries that are of a non-trade nature (included in trade and TR EmRIE (BT AR S & HE MR
other payables) and amount due to an associate that are of a 18) REIEE S RN — SR AR

non-trade nature. I8 o



On 1 May 2019, the Group disposed of 100% equity interest in 20195 A1H  AEBEUREBEARK

Chengdu Zhonglian Huaan Gas Co., Ltd. (“Zhonglian Huaan") 230,000t [A] — & B L 56 = 75 & ACAD A B
at consideration of RMB230,000 to an independent third party. ETMRABRAB ([HEEZL]) 2100%
Zhonglian Huaan was principally engaged in the sales and A P EL T ERSEEMRRS
distribution of cylinder gas. As a result, the Group lost control JE o AL - AN Bk AR EE L 2 R R o

on Zhonglian Huaan.

The aggregate net assets of Zhonglian Huaan as at the date of HREETNEE AR EEFELENT
disposal were as follow:

RMB'000
ARBETTT
Net assets disposed of: HEFEE:
Property, plant and equipment M HE LR 172
Trade and other payables 2 5 R H M FE T 5RI8 (93)
Net assets disposed of HEFEE 79
Cash consideration RERE 230
Gain on disposal & K= 151
Net cash inflow on disposal: HEELECZHESRILFE:
Cash consideration received BEWRERE 230
Bank balances and cash disposed of HERTERRIAS -

230



On 30 May 2018, Yunnan Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Civigas"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group entered equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party, pursuant to which
Yunnan Civigas disposed the 73.30% equity interest of Lufeng
Civigas Co., Ltd., the then 73.30% owned subsidiary of the
Group, at a consideration of RMB1,896,000. Lufeng Civigas is
principally engaged in the sales and distribution of cylinder gas.
The completion took place on 30 May 2018, upon which assets
and liabilities in relation to Lufeng Civigas were derecognised.
Gain on disposal of Lufeng Civigas amounted to RMB2,250,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2019.

On 12 July 2018, Beijin Zhongmin Tongjin Gas Co., Ltd.
(“Zhongmin Tongjin”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group entered equity transfer agreement with an independent
third party, pursuant to which Zhongmin Tongjin disposed the
90% equity interest of Beijing Heng'an Rutai LPG Co., Ltd.
("Heng'an Rutai”), the then 90% owned subsidiary of the
Group, at a consideration of RMB1,208,000. Heng'an Rutai is
principally engaged in the sales and distribution of cylinder gas.
The completion took place on 12 July 2018, upon which assets
and liabilities in relation to Heng'an Rutai were derecognised.
Loss on disposal of Heng'an Rutai amounted to RMB1,791,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March
2019.

M2018%F5H308 AEB 2 2 &M B AR
EFHFRMRRAEBAG ([E@HRE]) LB
VBRI REEE G B EET
RUREBAREK1,896,000c HERLEHE
MREBAA ([FEFR| AEEER
HA73.30% 2 M B A R]) 273.30% % A #
moERRFENEHER D HERR
ReEREN2018F5H30BEE @ It
BUEREBRETRZEERABE -BE
mEHRR W AR2,250,000T R B E
20193 A31HIEFEZREBm R EME
T Us 35 R R R FERR o

R2018F7 128 AEE 22 EWB A A
IRFRASMIKER AR (AIEILRF
RASMIBHAER2A) ([FRE%])
BB E= AR REEE RS ELL P
RR&ARE AR1,208,0007T HEIL R
EZmHRBRIERARAR (MEXHE] K
EEEREE0%ZWEAT) Z290%M A
s BER MR EENBHERD HEER
ReTERER2018F7H12BEE @ It
BEREBERRECEERABRE -BE
BRinZ 2 BB ARK1,791,000c R E =
20193 A31HIEFE 2 ra Bm R EME
T Us 35 R R RAERR o



On 8 October 2018, Chongqging Civigas Lianhua Gas Cylinder
Gas Co., Ltd. (“Chongqging Civigas Lianhua”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group entered equity transfer agreement
with independent third parties, pursuant to which Chongging
Civigas disposed the 100% equity interest of Xi‘an Civigas
LPG Co., Ltd. (“Xi"an Civigas LPG"), the then wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, at a consideration of RMB4,700,000.
Xi'an Civigas LPG is principally engaged in the sales and
distribution of cylinder gas. The completion took place on 5
November 2018, upon which assets and liabilities in relation
to Xi'an Civigas LPG were derecognised. Gain on disposal of
Xi'an Civigas LPG amounted to RMB1,108,000 was recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2019.

On 12 December 2018, Chongqging Civigas Lianhua entered
equity transfer agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which Chongqging Civigas Lianhua disposed the
100% equity interest of Deyang Civigas Co., Ltd. (“Deyang
Civigas"”), at a consideration of RMB3,200,000. Deyang Civigas
is principally engaged in the sales and distribution of cylinder
gas. The completion took place on 13 March 2019, upon
which assets and liabilities in relation to Deyang Civigas were
derecognised. Gain on disposal of Deyang Civigas amounted to
RMB1,878,000 was recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

R2018F10A8H ' AEE 2 2 &M B A A
EEPRBERRERAR ([EERRE
E|EBUYBZ A UBREEEZRE &
It B R R B EE AR (B A R #4,700,000
THERZRRBRIERERAHE ([FALH
RBIER] AEFER 2EMBRAR) Z
100% B A D - ALFRBIER[EEHRS
e R D SE R MR - TR E R 2018F 11 A
SHEE B BUBRREEATTRRIL
RZBENRABRBE - REAZRRRLERZK
= AR 1,108,000 A& 2201943 A 31
HBEFEZRABRmREMEZEKERE
NTER °

R2018F 12128 EEFRRBEEF Y
B=FRIUREE R B BEETR
B 5 AR (B A R #3,200,0007T H & =[5
RMRBRAE ([EBEHR])Z100%M%
AEZ - EHERIRFENEHER D HE
HBRE ST B A2019FE3 1388 B 1%
It BUBREEEGTR2EERARE-
TEEGFRR 2z AR1,878,0007T A
HZE2019F3A3MHEFEZEABERE
2 U S R R NFERR o



The aggregate net assets of Lefeng Civigas, Heng’an Rutai,
Xi‘an Civigas LPG and Deyang Civigas at the date of disposal

were as follow:

Net assets disposed of:

Property, plant and equipment

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables

Bank balances and cash
Trade and other payables

Net assets

Non-controlling interests
Other reserve released

Net assets disposed of

Cash consideration

Gain on disposal

Net cash inflow on disposal:
Cash consideration received (Note)
Bank balances and cash disposed of

HEFEE:

ERN VAN Y
TR

B 5 FEWFRIR

H A & W kIR
RITHERERE

B 5 R E MR IR

BEFE

FEFR R HE 25
H Al 5 (i 48 [l
HEREE

ReRE

HEELEZHRENR

EUER S RE (HE)
HERTEHRERE

Note: Cash consideration of RMB300,000 was not yet received as at
31 March 2019. Such amount is subsequently received in April

2019.

HEPR BERRE ALXPRBRCRLE
BHRNREERHZEEEFENT:

RMB’000
ARETT

7,687
1,436
1,636
2,047
670
(5,632)

7,844
(204)
(81)

7,559

11,004

3,445

11,004
(670)

10,334

MfsE: # Z2019F3A831H M ARKE ARE
300,000t 2 IR &R (E -
201944 A Y@ »

% & 7R BE 1R 7



On 22 March 2019, Beijing Zhongmin Zhongfeng entered
an equity transfer agreement with certain transferors
(the"Transferors”, all of them are independent third parties
of the Group). Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement,
Zhongmin Zhongfeng conditionally agreed to acquire, and the
Transferors conditionally agreed to disposed of, an aggregate
of 73.50% equity interest in Jb R RBER RN BR A F
(Beijing Daoting) (formerly known as it 3 ¢ 26 B BRI &5
BPBR A7 (Beijing Guangdian Interactive Technology Company
Limited)) at a total consideration of RMB6,321,000. Beijing
Daoting is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability, the issued shares of which are quoted on the trading
platform operated by the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations Co., Ltd. ("NEEQ") (EEIAR/NERHEERR
BREMERLA) (stock code: 871892.NEEQ). Beijing Daoting
is principally engaged in the area of software development and
information technology consultancy in the PRC. In July 2019,
Zhongmin Zhongfeng acquired an additional 5.0% interest in
Beijing Daoting, increasing its ownership interest to 78.50%.
Cash consideration of RMB336,000 was paid to the non-
controlling shareholder.

Consideration transferred:

Cash B&e

2019638228 IR RABEE T&
Bh([#EEy] HAREEBYFEF=F)
I IR E S - RIS RS
REBFBRHERZREMEZES B GER
EHRELREE (AT ¢ B B S EHE AR
MAEMRAR)H73.50% 2 AL  ARE
B AR#6,321,0000T -t REZ A —RER
FEFMAKZZBRAR  HEZEITROR
FEPNCEROEZRAERETAR
(7 ([IRERL]) (NEEQ) ) BRENKX FHF
& B (RZEREE:871892. NEEQ) -1t
RBEFEAEFEEEEGAEME B
fir 5 4B 19 - PA20194F7 8 - P R B8 UL B
1t F B E 7 BEIN5.0% 1 %5 0 15 E BT A A
#=IEINZET8.50% ° AR¥336,0007T 2R &
REE T FIEEBRRE -

EEAENE:

RMB’000
AR®ETT

6,657



Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUEFEB BB EE REEREBENT

acquisition are as follows:

RMB'000
ARMET T
Property, plant and equipment Y- EMEE 1,200
Trade and other receivables B 5 K E e W 518 105
Bank balances and cash RITHEBERE 2,291
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMEFRIE (244)
3,352
Disposal group held for sale FHEH & 2 HE A5 1,557
4,909
The fair value as well as the gross contractual amount of RUERE B5 REMEBYWRIEZ A AE
trade and other receivables at the date of acquisition of AR 485 4258 A A KRE105,0007T AU
RMB105,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the BHBEFAT2REBIZAENBERE IR

contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was nil. FEHFARE-



Premium charged for the NEEQ status arising on acquisition: BRERGRAMEEZWEREER:

RMB'000
ARBFTT
Consideration transferred EERERE 6,657
Plus: Non-controlling interest (21.5% share of net 0 FEIERR i (Rt BB EFEMN
assets of Beijing Daoting) 21.5%) 1,072
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B EWERHAEEFEZLAAE (4,909)
2,820
Note: The non-controlling interest in Beijing Daoting recognised MizE: RUliEE AmRI R8T FERE
at the date of acquisition was measured by reference to its W IR ECRRIIRBEEEAETE
proportionate share of recognised amounts of net assets of BILL BlnEBET & -
Beijing Daoting.
The premium paid is recognised in profit or loss in other gains ENEEDREERNEMERBEFE

and losses. s



Net cash outflow on acquisition of Beijing Daoting:

WBt B 2R E R F 5 -

RMB'000

AREF T

Cash consideration paid ENBRERE 6,657
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired BoEWERS RS EEER (2,291)
4,366

On 8 November 2019, Zhongmin Zhongfeng and Beijing
Civigas Gas Installation Co., Ltd. (”Beijing Installation”),
both wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group, entered the
equity transfer agreements with four transferors, all of them
are independent third parties of the Group. Pursuant to the
equity transfer agreements, Zhongmin Zhonfeng and Beijing
Installation conditionally agreed to acquire, and the transferors
conditionally agreed to disposed of, an aggregate of 100%
equity interest in Beijing Mutong (formerly known as Tianjin
Mutong Technology Limited (REMEBEHBKROERA
7)) ) at a total consideration of approximately RMB2,202,000.
Tianjin Mutong is a company incorporated in the PRC with
limited liability, the issued shares of which are quoted on
the trading platform operated by the NEEQ (stock code:
872691.NEEQ). Beijing Mutong is an enterprise data value-
added service provider specialising in big data analysis and
software development, including technology development
services, system integration services, sales of hardware and
software products, and provision of data statistics services. The
transaction was completed on 20 December 2019, on that date
the control in Beijing Mutong was passed to the Group.

Consideration transferred:

Cash R

MR2019F 11 A8H » A R 88 At meh RIA
RIBZEARAR([tRIRZHE])
(BAAEBz2ENB AR )M ZESE
H(BOEREB B E=7 )] LAk EE
B - BEREEERG  TREZEKI
RIRLEFKEREWRE mMEREFEK
HREL S RER (FIEREMERRHE
AR AT ) £100% 2 AL @ K8
A ANR2,202,0000T c K EEE R A — M
RABREMEKZ 2 ER AT EEEITRMD
REERFELEHNIZTE EHRE (BRER
5 : 872691 .NEEQ) ~ b REE@BE — R ¥
R ERSE 2 ERNREEREIE DA
R BRI H RS - KA EK R
R E MM EE A RIRHEIE R
RS - 5Z2 2 52019512 A208 528k » bR
ERZIEHRERNZEBRR T AEE-

EERRE:

RMB’000
AR®EFTT

2,202



Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

REBEEHERBEERERBABNT

RMB'000

ARBFIT

Property, plant and equipment RN 693
Inventories FE 304
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H MW FRIE 45
Bank balances and cash WITHEBR AR S 241
Trade and other payables B 5 R E MR (2,7217)
(1,438)

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amount of trade
and other receivables at the date of acquisition of RMB45,000.
The best estimate at acquisition date of the contractual cash
flows not expected to be collected was nil.

RUEEEE ZE5 MEMEBWHIEZ AAE
AR BE #H & 58 A AN REA5,0007T o RIS
HEEA T REZANREREZ &E
et BZ-



Premium charged for the NEEQ status arising on acquisition: RERGERAMEEZWEEEER

RMB’000
AREFTT
Consideration transferred EEBERE 2,202
Less: Fair value of identifiable net liabilities acquired & : E WA B A EFEZ AR E (1,438)
3,640
The premium paid is recognised in profit or loss in other gains B aEDREZRNEMYERBEF R
and losses. R o
Net cash outflow on acquisition of Tianjin Mutong: W KIFERE B < IR & 1 F 58 -
RMB'000
ARBFIT
Cash consideration paid BENREENRE 2,202
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B EWERERREEEER (241)
Less: acquisition-related costs (note) W RS AR RE A A (BT EE) (525)
1,436
Note: B 5
Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB525,000 have been W B8 MR RA AR AN & B8 A R #5525,0007T B B (X
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been recognised BER#g YERAFERRBAX -

as an expense in the current year.



On 20 September 2018, Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia Supply
Chain Management Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia”) (as
the purchaser), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Chongging Grain Group Co., Ltd. (“Chongging
Grain Group”) (as the seller) entered into the equity transfer
agreement, pursuant to which Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia agreed
to purchase from the Chongging Grain Group the 80%
equity interests in Chongging Yubaijia at the consideration of
RMB14,814,000. Chongging Yubaijia is principally engaged
in supermarket chain operations and other related businesses
in Chongging, the PRC. The acquisition is completed on 1
October 2018, on that date the control in Chongging Yubaijia
was passed to the Group.

Consideration transferred:

Cash He

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of
acquisition are as follows:

R2018F9 208 At R RER L EEE
BERAR ([tERHFRER]  AQR)ZME
BE2EWBAR) (FREH)HEERR
SEERETAR([EERRER]) (1
BER)FVERRZER -ERPFRAER
AERNERRREBEEERNAR280%
e Az RERBARK14,814,000T ' &
BABXRETERNTEEEMNEBMEH
EEBERECHEBER - ZWHEE1R2018
FI0RIHER  EBABRZIEHEE R
ZHBRTFAER-

EEHENE:

RMB’000
ARETT

14,814

REBEHERBEERERBABNT

RMB’000

AR®ET T

Property, plant and equipment W - BB MRS 11,967
Investment properties WA 4,890
Equity instruments at FVTOCI BAREs AEMEE W 2 EmTHE 469
Inventories rE 18,148
Trade and bills receivables R & 19,477
Other receivables Hh fE YRR 9,989
Bank balances and cash RITEHRERE 2,124
Trade and other payables B 5 R E MR (20,515)
Contract liabilities EHBE (2,024)
Bank borrowings RITEE (43,000)

1,525



Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB100,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the current year.

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amount of
trade and bills receivables and other receivables at the date of
acquisition amounted to RMB19,477,000 and RMB9,989,000
respectively. The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was nil.

WEEHBAK A SRR AR 100,000t #E#E
BRETHSR YERAFERBR/MAX

U B H - B 5 M =45 R MR IR A0 At fE
WHRIBZ RABANRBEHNEEIRIR/A
K #19,477,0007T & A £ #9,989,0007T °
RKBERABF T EREZENRERE
ZEREGBF AT

Goodwill arising on acquisition: WEEE ZEE:

RMB'000
ARET T
Consideration transferred BERERE 14,814

Plus: Non-controlling interest (20% share of o FEIERRERE ((hEEABREEFE
net assets of Chongqing Yubaijia) (note) 7920% ) (FI5E) 305
Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired B EWERHAEEFEZAL (1,525)
13,594

Note: The non-controlling interest in Chongqging Yubaijia recognised
at the date of acquisition was measured by reference to the
respective proportionate shares of recognised amounts of net
assets of Chongging Yubaijia and amounted to RMB305,000.

MieE: RKREEBERNEEN S RIEIERE
w2 EEHREE AR EEFE
RAER L Bl (h BT 2 - B ARK305,000
775 o



Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Chongqging Yubaijia
because the cost of the combination included a control
premium. In addition, the consideration paid for the
combination effectively included amounts in relation to the
benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth, future market
development and the assembled workforce of Chongging
Yubaijia. These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets.

The goodwill arising on the acquisition is not expected to be
deductible for tax purpose.

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Chongqing Yubaijia:

R & RS B 1A 1 I # a8 B ik W s
ERRNARELRHE I AHENKRE
ERBRERERB XA BRI RBE-
Wtk -RAREMSEREERE T
TR AN AR BRI BN EE 2 ERE
A RSN R EmE D FER -

EXalBzmERRMEINAE -

WHEEBRAR 2R IFHE

RMB'000

ARBTTT

Cash consideration paid ENRERE 14,814
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired B BWERE RIReEEIER (2,124)
12,690

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
loss of RMB6,795,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Chongqging Yubaijia. Revenue for the year ended
31 March 2019 includes RMB87,452,000 generated from
Chongging Yubaijia.

Had the acquisition of Chongqing Yubaijia been completed on
1 April 2018, total group revenue for the year ended 31 March
2019 would have been RMB2,005,995,000 and profit for the
year ended 31 March 2019 would have been RMB203,243,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purpose only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2018,
nor is it intended to be projection of future results.

HEBRAARELECEINEREMLEE
A R #6,795,0007T 2 5F A& £20194F3 A4
BMAIEFEZEMN -8 E2019F3H31H
FFERABREENEREEZARKE
87,452,0007T °

i W EE A B X N2018F481HEMK
B E2019F3A3MB EFE 2 AEBWA
W@E 4 A AR #2,005,995,0000T K EH B
2019F3A31BLEFEZ M A AR
203,243,000 i E ERHEH K A A
3w WA —ERREERN2018F4 518K
BRATAEEBERES WA RLEHELE
MM EER R IR SR 2 TEA



On 18 October 2018, Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia entered
into an equity transfer agreement with independent third
parties, pursuant to which Beijing Zhongmin Ruojia acquired
53.50% equity interests in Chongging Zhongmin Ruojia at
the consideration of RMB5,350,000. Chongging Zhongmin
Ruojia is principally engaged in supply chain management in
the PRC; wholesale and retail and other related businesses. The
transaction is completed on 18 October 2018, on that date
the control in Chongging Zhongmin Ruojia was passed to the
Group.

Consideration transferred:

Cash He

Assets acquired at the date of acquisition are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Inventories BE
Other receivables

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB30,000 have been
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the current year.

The fair value as well as the gross contractual amount of
other receivables at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB6,403,000. The best estimate at acquisition date of the
contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was nil.
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H fth & Y 5K IR
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EEHENE:

RMB’000
AR®ETT

5,350

RUEEBHERBEELT

RMB’000
AR®BEFTTT

1,656
1,941
6,403

10,000

Wi R A 8 ARK30,000TEHEH
BREPHSR YERAFERB/AX -

PRUEE HER - M EIGRIE 2 A o B K 48
A& A ANREE,403,0007T ° AU B B
BB TgREsEORSTRE 2 &ER



Goodwill arising on acquisition:

Consideration transferred BERERE
Plus: Non-controlling interest (46.5% share of net
assets of Chongqing Zhongmin Ruojia) #946.5% )

Less: Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Chongging Zhongmin
Ruojia:

ENRERE

Cash consideration paid
Less: cash and cash equivalents acquired

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 was
loss of RMB2,278,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by Chongging Zhongmin Ruojia. Revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2019 includes RMB18,321,000 generated
from Chongging Zhongmin Ruojia.

Had the acquisitions of Chongging Zhongmin Ruojia been
completed on 1 April 2018, total group revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2019 would have been RMB1,955,731,000
and profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 would have been
RMB215,713,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purpose only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2018, nor is it intended to be projection of future results.

BERBARAEEFEZAAE

B ERBRe RIS FHEER

WIBELZEE:

RMB’000
AR®ETT

5,350

e ks (EEBERPREREEFE

4,650
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ARETT

5,350
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The Group operates a share option scheme for remuneration of
its full-time employees (including directors), consultants, agents
and advisors of the Group.

All services received in exchange for the grant of any share
options are measured at their fair value. These are indirectly
determined by reference to the fair value of share options
granted. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes
the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets).

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme"”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. Eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include full-time employees (including
directors), consultants, agents and advisors of the Group. The
Share Option Scheme is valid and effective until 8 September
2026.

As at 31 March 2020, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 694,495,413
(2019: 694,495,413), representing approximately 7.77%
(2019: 7.77%) of the issued share capital of the Company as
at 31 March 2020. Without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders, the total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not
permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, and the aggregate number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted to any individual
in any year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time.
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No amount is payable on acceptance of an offer to grant an
option to subscribe for the shares of the Company granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the “Offer”). The Share
Option Scheme may be exercised at any time for a period of
ten years commencing from the date of acceptance of the
Offer, subject to the conditions imposed by the board of the
directors. The exercise price of the option shares would be at a
price equal to the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares
of the Company on the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet
on the date of offer of the option; (ii) the average closing prices
of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of the
options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

No share option was granted, exercised or outstanding during
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of retirement benefits schemes operated by the PRC
government. The relevant PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute defined percentages, ranging from 12% to 25%,
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the
benefits in compliance with the applicable regulations of the
PRC.
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The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong under the rules and regulations of the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of the relevant payroll costs or capped at HKD1,500 (2019:
HKD1,500) per month per employee to the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong, which contribution is matched by employees. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the specified contributions under
the respective schemes above.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of RMB14,547,000
(2019: RMB17,200,000) represents contributions paid or payable
to these schemes by the Group for the year ended 31 March
2020. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contribution payable in the future years at 31 March 2020 and
2019.

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

Transportation expenses to Yunnan Jiehua A1 & f#{L 2 {1 iE 85 &
MEBRLN—BHBARHEE

Sale of cylinder gas to a subsidiary of
Yunnan Jiehua

Interest income from Yunnan Jiehua

Purchase of cylinder gas from
Southwest Panva

BE M
el IO

Purchase of cylinder gas from Yunnan Panva B = B8/ L HREREMRT

MBETRESEEMR

BBREE RARBD AR F
REBRAR (H3E1)

Sale of cylinder gas to Qiannan Civigas
Purchase of natural gas from
Shanxi Provincial
Natural Gas Co., Ltd. (Note 1)
Purchase of gas from Xianyang Haihui
New Energy Co., Ltd. (Note 2)
Sale of gas to Xianyang Haihui
New Energy Co., Ltd. (Note 2)

REMR (ME2)
HEMR (H15E2)
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The above transactions were made on terms mutually agreed
between both parties.

Notes:

1. Shanxi Provincial Natural Gas Co., Ltd. is also a connected person
of the Company by holding 40% equity interests in Xi‘an Civigas
Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an Civigas"), a subsidiary of the Company.

2. Xianyang Haihui New Energy Co., Ltd. is also a connected person
of the Company by holding 49% equity interests in Xi‘an Civigas
Haihui New Energy Co., Ltd. (“Xi'an Haihui"), a subsidiary of the
Company.

The directors of the Company considered they are the sole
management personnel of the Group, and their remuneration
during the year is disclosed in note 11. The remuneration of the
directors of the Company is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of individual and
market trends.

The Group leased its investment properties, as set out in note
18 under operating lease arrangements with leases negotiated
for terms ranging from 2 to 5 years at fixed rental. Net property
rental income earned during the year was RMB4,730,000
(2019: RMB1,803,000) with minimal outgoings. The terms of
the leases generally also require the tenants to pay security
deposits.
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Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second year =N
In the third year F=
In the fourth year Efuskes
In the fifth year EREF

The Group had contracted with lessees for the following future
minimum lease payments:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth years, inclusive REFEEFRAF (B
Over five years RFERE

The Group had commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due
as follows:

Within one year —F A
In the second to fifth years, inclusive REZFEZEFRF (B
Over five years AFMNE

Leases are negotiated for terms of 1 to 15 years. Rental are
fixed for the relevant lease terms.

HEHE 2 EBRENRET:
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2019
RMB’000
ARBEFTT
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29
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Capital and other expenditure contracted for but not provided
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of:

Carrying amount of: AT %18 2 BRTE A
Property, plant and equipment e ]
Right-of-use assets EAEERE
Prepaid lease payments e

The Group pledged certain assets to banks to secure certain
bank borrowings of the Group. Carrying amounts of the assets
pledged were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment M B MR E
Intangible assets — exclusive rights of

operation of piped gas

Investment properties WEME
Prepaid lease payments AT E
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Trade receivables 2 5 e W RIA

BT ERARGEMBREEBIER
REAMFEX

2019

RMB’000
AR®ETT

77,341

6,949

84,290

AEBEERBTEFETEEURGAE
EsETRITEE -BERFEEZREAR
T

2019

RMB’000
ARETT

90,664

BNEE-BREEMREEER

1,889
11,300
7,797

2,507

114,157



In addition, lease liabilities of RMB27,903,000 are recognised
with related right-to-use assets of RMB30,579,000 as at
31 March 2020. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor and the relevant leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

On 29 September 2019, Beijing Civigas together with the joint
venture partner entered into a guarantee agreement with a
bank, whereby Beijing Civigas and the joint venture partner
have agreed to provide a joint and several corporate guarantee,
on proportion of their shareholdings, in favor of the bank for
the facility line of RMB150,000,000 granted to Fujian An Ran
(as borrower), a joint venture of the Group. Details of this
transaction are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
30 September 2019.

Up to 31 March 2020, Fujian An Ran has drawn RMB80,000,000
of the facility line. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts of
the Group are insignificant at initial recognition after taking into
consideration the possibility of the default of Fujian An Ran.
Accordingly, no value has been recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.
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Statement of financial position of the Company at the end of

the reporting period includes:

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Deposit for acquisition of property, plant
and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Amount due from subsidiaries

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Other receivables and prepayments
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Other payables
Lease liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital (note 36)
Reserves (Note)

Total equity

Non-current liability
Lease liabilities

ARRIRBEBRZABEAMRRRERBIE:
2019
RMB’000
AR®ET T
IERBEE
R =N 7
FREEE =
WEEYE - BEMREZZS
16
RHBRRZ®RE 772,866
I EENEIE ] 57,248
830,137
RBEE
N ENGIE s 76
H b fE W TR IE & FB A FRIE 642
RITEBRERE 4,928
5,646
VeI =R
H {th B 45 5B 2,566
HEBE _
2,566
mEEEFE 3,080
REERMEEE 833,217
B AS K Rk
& A (MI7E36) 564,507
EE (BsE) 268,710
Mtk 833,217
e =N
HEAE _

833,217



Note:
The following table sets out the components of the reserves of the

Company and the movements thereof during the current and prior
years.

Share  Contributed

premium surplus
REE AR
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT  ARETR

At 1 April 2018 R2018F4R1R 1,008,573 104,932

Loss and total comprehensive AFEEER2ES HE

expense for the year # = =
Shares repurchased BEE &R

and cancelled (4,578) -
At 31 March 2019 1201963A31H 1,003,995 104,932

Loss and total comprehensive AFEEBER2E Y LA
expense for the year # = =

At 31 March 2020 ®202043A31R 1,003,995 104,932

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal
value of the Company's shares issued and the value of net assets
of the underlying subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended), a company may not declare or pay
a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if there
are reasonable grounds for believing that (i) the company is, or would
after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due;
(i) the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.

P & -

TEMIIARTEEZ BRBS REAAER R
BEFEZSD-

Deemed

contribution Capital  Accumulated
reserve  contribution losses Total
REETERE PN« RitER CH)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARET ARETT ARETR
26,628 7,721 (861,269) 286,585
- - (13,297) (13,297)
- - - (4,578)
26,628 7,721 (874,566) 268,710
- - (204) (204)
26,628 7,721 (874,770) 268,506
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Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 20204 Kk2019F3A31H ARAZEE

March 2020 and 2019 are as follows: M AR BaT
Place of
incorporation/ (Capital contributed Held by the Company Held by the Company
Name of company?# establishment by the Group Group effective interest directly indirectly Principal activities
kS HAL/
Rty AREEE AREERER BADRERKE BALEBERE %R
2019 2019 2019
RAR PRC USD60,000,000 100% 100% - Investment holdings
(Beijing Civigas) k] 60,000,000%7C RERHK
W ERRRERRAT PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holdings
(Sichuan Civigas Investment Co,, ABR#300,000,0007 RERK
Ltd)
R Zhongmin Tongjin) PRC RMB152,222,200 100% - 100%  Investment holdings
e ARH152,222,2001 RERHK
REPRMEMERRAR PRC RMB100,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holdings
(Tianjin Civigas Technology Co,, AR#100,000,0007 RERH
Ltd)
FRARER PRC RMB7,100,000 100% - 100%  Investment holdings
(Beijing Zhongmin Ruoja) HE ARE76,100,00070 RERK
HRMEARAA PRCY RMB20,000,000 100% - 100%  Provision of piped gas
(Yanting Civigas Co, Ltd.) b A& 20,000,007 HEEEMT
BIHRERERAR PRCK RMB70,000,000 100% - 100%  Provision of piped gas
(Mianzhu Civigas Co,, Ltd) hEH ARE70,000,0007 fEEERS
BITEEMAZEEREALE MG RMB15,000,000 100% - 100%  Proviion of piped gas
(Mianzhu City Long Teng Gas HE AR E15,000,0007 HEEEMT

Installation Co., Ltd.)

BhTEERARAR LR PRCH RMB10,000,000 100% - 100%  Provision of piped gas
(Mian Zhu City Han Wang Natural ~ E# A& 10,000,000 HEEEMRS

Gas Co, Ltd.)

HgRRRRARAR PRCH RMB16,7620,000 100% - 100%  Provision of piped gas
(Beichuan County Civigas Co,, Ltd) FEI# AR16,7620,0007 REEERA
ERPRMRARAA PRCH RMBA4,080,000 100% - 100%  Provision of piped gas

(Chongging Civigas Co, Ltd) HEH AR %44,080,0007 EEEENT



Name of company*#

1TEE

ERPRERIZNARRAA
(Chongging Civigas Fugiang
Industrial Gas Co, Ltd.)

ERPRMGEERAARAT
(Chongging Civigas Xiangyang
Compressed Gas Co., Ltd)

ETERRABRAA
(Fuping Civigas Co,, Ltd)

EZHR
("Xi'an Civigas")

BN A ST R RERALLA
(Guizhou Province Zhengfeng
County Ping'an Gas Co,, Ltd,)

ERGE
(Xi'an Haihui)

HEAR

(Hunan Civigas)

RERRRAARAT
("HEDE')

(Xupu Civigas Co., Ltd.*
("Xupu Civigas")

245

("Yunnan Civigas”)

AEDRIRERAA
(Baise Civigas Co,, Ltd.)

ERTRORERAA
(Guangdong Civigas Co., Ltd.)

REHGARMAHERRAR
(Tianjin Ji County Civigas Co,, Ltd)

REREMRTRRERAARAT
(Tianjin Binhai New District Civigas
Co, Ltd)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HAL/
RIS

PRCH
HEH

PRCH
B

PRCH
e

R
i

R
i

PRC

PRC
R

R
A

R
A

PRC
i

PRC
nE

R
A

PRC
i

Capital contributed
by the Group

AEHEE

RMB2,000,000
ARE2,000,0007

RMB1,000,000
ARE1,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AFRH10,000,0007

RMB62,080,000
A& %62,080,0007C

RMB20,000,000
ARH20,000,0007
RMB5,000,000

AR 5,000,000

RMIB26,000,000
ARH16,000,000T

RMB10,000,000
ARE10,000,0007

RMBE6,260,000
AR H66,260,0007

RMB10,000,000
ARE10,000,0007

RVIB12,353,000
ARH12,353,000T

RMB6,640,000
ARE6,640,0007

RMB16,000,000
AR 16,000,000

Group effective interest

AREERER

60%

100%

5%

28.05%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Held by the Company

directly

HALRERER

2019

Held by the Company
indirectly

BARARERE
2019

51%

51%

60%

51%

100%

51%

55%

28.05%

100%

100%

51%

100%

100%

Principal activities

IREH

Provision of piped gas

REEENR

Provision of piped gas
REEBIR

Provision of piped gas
kEEENR

Provision of piped gas
HEEEMR

Provision of piped gas
REEBRA
Provision of piped gas

REEENR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
HERAHERMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
RERASHERMAR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD HERMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
HERASHEENR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas
RERAHERMAR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD HEXMR



Name of company**

14E"

THPRERERAR
(Hebei Civigas Co, Ltd.)

AR RNEARAA
(Henan Civigas Co., Ltd)

EMmRARARA
(Guizhou Civigas Co,, Ltd.)

RERRBRERAT
(Changshun Civigas Co., Ltd)

BRRREE
(Chongqing Civigas Lianhua)

ERMRIARMRERAA
(Chongging Xianlu Gas Co., Ltd.)

REPREZRARRAT
(Tianjin Civigas Heng'an Gas Co,,
Ltd)

REMZEEENHRARAA
(Tianjin Yun Ze De Biotechnology
Ltd)

BERER
(Chongging Yubaijia)

ERRASENRAREHNAERS
REAAA
(Chongging Grain Group Yubajia
Agricultural Technology
Development Co,, Ltd.)

RS il
(Chongging Keweijia Logistics
Distribution Co, Ltd)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
HAL/
Rty

RC
E

PRC
R

RC
E

PRC
R

RC
E

PRC
R

RC
E

PRC
RE

R
HE

PRC
A

P
HE

=
=

Capital contributed
by the Group

AEHEE

RMB13,925,483
ARE13,925,48370

RVI310,000,000
ARH10,000,0007

RMB76,000,000
AR 76,000,000

RMB5,000,000
ARH5,000,0007

RMB25,700,000
ARE25,700,0007

RMB300,000
ARH300,0007

RMB32,500,000
ARE32,500,0007

RM3,010,000
NEH3,010,0007

RMBS5,000,000
AR 55,000,000

RMB10,000,000
ARE10,000,0007

RMB1,789,390
ARE1,789,3907

Group effective interest

AREERER

2019

60%

100%

100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

80%

80%

80%

Held by the Company

directly

HALRERER

2019

Held by the Company

indirectly

HALARRER

2019

60%

100%

100%

60%

100%

51%

100%

100%

80%

80%

80%

Principal activities

IREH

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD HEXMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD HEXMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD BREMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

RERD HEXMR

Sales and distribution of cylinder gas

BERABEZNA
FMCG and food ingredient supply

RIFHENESR

FMCG and food ingredient supply
RIMEENES

FMCG and food ingredient supply
RHENES

FMCG and food ingredient supply
RIMEENES

FMCG and food ingredient supply
RITEENES



Place of

incorporation/ Capital contributed
Name of company*# establishment by the Group Group effective interest
RS EL A
RIBE ARELE ARERRER
2019
EFERASERAN PRC RMB10,000,000 80%
(Chongging Huiguan Trading Co.,, ARE10,000,00070
Ltd)
ERNREX PRC RMB10,000,000 5350%
(Chongging Zhongmin Ruojia) ARH10,000,0007

u Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC.

i Sino-foreign joint equity enterprise registered in the PRC.

i Xupu Civigas is a 51% subsidiary of Hunan Civigas. As a result,
the total effective interest held by the Group in Xupu Civigas is
28.05%.

i English translated names are for identification only.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities during
the years and at the end of both years.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their
respective place of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally
affected the results or net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Held by the Company Held by the Company
indirectly Principal activities
HELTERER HERAREER IEXB
2019 2019

- 80%  FMCG and food ingredient supply
RNREAES

= 5350%  FMCG and food ingredient supply
RMEENES
# R EFM I EBERE-
o RhEEMzPIEERE-
ORBTPRRMET R %ESMBA
ale Bt REBNBBTRSE &
B 228.05% °
M R A TBEHER

FARBEERFETHE WBRRGEET
TEHES -

LRFmAENB AR EEAERE B HEMAK
PR ST Hh BE AR o

ARBEERRERMIIZARE ZHE
RABAKRECRENEEFEBEEAY
Z-fHRHEAMMBARZFE ARAE
ERREREEHBRTE-



The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling

interests:

Name of subsidiary

G Pkt

Hunan Civigas

M R

Xi'an Civigas
BRRR

Xupu Civigas
RBRR

Individually immaterial subsidiaries with non-controlling interests

BREERES BUKEANBAA

Place of
incorporation
and principal
place of business
ARALHER
IBERNY

PRC
R

PRC
R

PRC
R

Proportion of ownership

voting rights held by
non-controlling interests

FERRERRCRRE

2019

45%

49%

71.95%

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

TRINTNEREAFERBEZAKEF
2EBEHBARFE:

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive

income (expense) attributable Accumulated
non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FEREREEEN (KR
REERE (BX) 48 i FERER
2019 2019
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT
16,837 3827
10,858 84,801
9,086 21,595
4,873 731
41,654 217,595

BAEBRFERERZ S AEBHNBE AR
ZHEERBEZESIT o N5 E R R
EHREBANRAREEHEAZSHE-



y

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FMEMBERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020563A31HLLEE

51.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY STEBEREERER 2
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE #%:’f%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ’&ﬂﬁ
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 )
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(i) Hunan Civigas (i) HWEHE

2020 2019

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T ARETF T

Current assets MENEE 48,953 65,752
Non-current assets ERBEE 46,711 40,051
Current liabilities mEaE (33,046) (31,682)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (667) (1,172)

Equity attributable to owners RAEER AELERE

of the Company 34,073 40,122
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 4 2 27,878 32,827

252 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
2019 - 2020 Annual Report



Revenue WA
Expenses X
Profit for the year ZINCIERi R

Profit and total comprehensive income — ANRA A A A FE(E 2% T &
attributable to owners of the Company & m Uk =5 42 58

Profit and total comprehensive FE 12 AR 4 25 FE A 2 0m F) J2
income attributable to the 2HEWRERE

non-controlling interests

Profit and total comprehensive income — ZN4F € 3% Al & 2 [ Ui 25 42 58
for the year

Dividends paid to non-controlling interestsf< ¥ 3F 12 A # 25 = A% &

Net cash inflow from operating activities #%%& %75 E £ 2 IR & AJF 58

Net cash inflow from investing activities & BB E £ 2 IR &R AFE

Net cash outflow to financing activities B E BB E £ 2 IR &5 HF 58

Net cash (outflow) inflow RBe ORE) RAFEE

Year ended

31 March 2019
BZE

20194
3A31RLLEEE
RMB’'000
AREETT

160,785

(126,590)

34,195

20,578

16,837

37,415

21,233

8,408

(4,500)

25,141



y

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FMEMBERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020563A31HLLEE

51.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY S1TEEERFERERZ
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE #%:’f}éﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 15 (&)
|NTERESTS (Continued)
(i) Xi'an Civigas (i) ARHFERE
2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
Current assets mENEE 108,607 97,282
Non-current assets ERBEE 195,139 187,589
Current liabilities MEBAE (118,729) (111,807)
Equity attributable to owners RAEER AEILERE
of the Company 94,359 88,263
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 4 2 90,658 84,801

254 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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Revenue WA
Expenses X
Profit for the year ZINCIERi R

Profit and total comprehensive income — ANRA A A A FE(E 2% T &
attributable to owners of the Company & m Uk =5 42 58

Profit and total comprehensive FE 12 AR 4 25 FE A 2 0m F) J2
income attributable to the 2HEWRERE
non-controlling interests

Profit and total comprehensive income — ZN4F € 3% Al & 2 [ Ui 25 42 58
for the year

Dividends paid to non-controlling interestsf< ¥ 3F 12 A # 25 = A% &

Net cash inflow from operating activities #%%& %75 E £ 2 IR & AJF 58

Net cash outflow to investing activities R EEBEL 2R &R T FHE

Net cash outflow to financing activities B E BB E £ 2 IR &5 HF 58

Net cash inflow BERAFE

Year ended

31 March 2019
BZE

20194
3A31RLLEEE
RMB’'000
ARETT

211,913

(189,754)

22,159

11,301

10,858

22,159

4,900

45,678

(31,827)

(9,100)

4,751



y

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FMEMBERRME

For The Year Ended 31 March 2020 & Z2020563A31HLLEE

51.DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY STEBEREERER 2
OWNED SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE #%:’f}éﬁﬁﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING 1B (@)
|NTERESTS (Continued)

(iii) Xupu Civigas (iii) BBEFE

2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETF T
Current assets MENEE 15,723 24,304
Non-current assets ERBEE 16,305 16,402
Current liabilities mEaE (2,494) (2,354)

Equity attributable to owners RAEER AEILERE
of the Company 8,283 10,757
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 4 2 21,251 27,595

256 Chinese People Holdings Company Limited
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Revenue

Expenses

Profit for the year

Profit and total comprehensive income

attributable to owners of the Company

Profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to the
non-controlling interests

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Net cash (outflow to) inflow from
investing activities

Net cash outflow to financing activities

Net cash (outflow) inflow

YA

<

A i A

ENYNECTE? DN Y i Tl DS
EHEE AR
FEEE R R G 2 5 A &
2HE R AR

NP P SN

7 IR s 2 B

REXBELEZRERAFE

REEBEL2HAE ORHB)RA
R

BERBEL 2RI IFE

Be ORb) RAZER

Year ended

31 March 2019
BZE

20194
3A31RLLEEE
RMB’'000
ARETT

52,675

(40,047)

12,628

3,542

9,086

12,628

13,670

12,462

119

(10,000)

2,581



Board of Directors Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman) EEg

Audit Committee

Nomination
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Company Secretary

Principal Bankers

Auditor

Principal Share
Registrar and
Transfer Office

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus  (Deputy Chairman)
Mr. Fan Fangyi (Managing Director)
Miss Mo Yunbi

Dr. Liu Junmin*

Prof. Zhao Yanyun*

Mr. Sin Ka Man*

(* Independent Non-executive Directors)

Mr. Sin Ka Man (Chairman) BEREET
Dr. Liu Junmin
Prof. Zhao Yanyun

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman) REZE®
Dr. Liu Junmin

Prof. Zhao Yanyun

Mr. Sin Ka Man

Mr. Sin Ka Man (Chairman) YMEES
Dr. Mo Shikang

Mr. Zhang Hesheng

Dr. Liu Junmin

Prof. Zhao Yanyun
Ms. Li Fun Replen NEME
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited FTEERET

The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited

Agricultural Bank of China

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Minsheng Bank Corp., Ltd.

Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Industrial and Commercial Bank of

China Limited
Sichuan Mianzhu Rural Commercial
Bank Co., Ltd.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu ZEEm
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited B2 5 &5
4th Floor R

North Cedar House
41 Cedar Avenue
Hamilton HM12 Bermuda

RttgEigt (£F)
SRMAEXRE (BEE)
RgzzxE (BEE)
SEAREE (EFRKLE)
REZ/NE

FHRE L
HEEHRE
R
(*BILIFHTEF)

BEREEE ()
FHREL

RitEEL (FE)
FHRBL
N &

EEREEE (XFE)
RitFEigL
SRAE KA
FHREL

FE/ME

RERT(FE)BRAA
BELBESRITERLDA

PEEXRITROHBR DA
PEERRITRODERAA
FERARTRODERAA
WERITBRD AR QA

TETERITRONERAA

mI &1 B B SR 1T
Bin BR AR

R eBERT SFTANTT

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

4th Floor

North Cedar House

41 Cedar Avenue
Hamilton HM12 Bermuda



Hong Kong Branch
Share Registrar
and
Transfer Office

Registered Office

Head Office

Principal Place
of Business
in Hong Kong

Email

Website

Stock Code

Tricor Tengis Limited
Level 54

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Canon’s Court

Victoria Place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM 10
Bermuda

No. 36 BDA International Business Park
No. 2 Jingyuan North Street

Economic Technological

Development Area

Beijing, China

Unit 1101, 11th Floor
Tung Ning Building

2 Hillier Street
Central, Hong Kong
info@681hk.com

www.681hk.com

00681
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BERBIE

A EE
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BERETE
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RESULTS
Revenue

Profit (loss) before tax

Income tax expense

Profit (loss) for the year from
discontinued operation

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) for the year
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Assets and liabilities
Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

ES |
L/ON

BREADR A (BER)
BRI
BIERERB 2 RER R
(1)

AFEREHN (ER)

NI AFE A
(B8) :
ARRHEBA
Rzl e $

EERER
BREMR
RERE

BEFE
ARBHAANEEES
2zl e o

LY

2019
RMB’000
ARETT

1,955,486

238,931
(23,227)

215,704

174,325
41,379

215,704

2,999,201
(589,193)

2,410,008

2,192,413
217,595

2,410,008

2018
RMB'000

2017
RMB'000

2016
RMB’000

ARBTT AREBTT ARETRE

1,200,359

256,617
(26,706)

229,911

201,456
28,455

229,911

2,635,760
(427,685)

2,208,075

2,027,546
180,529

2,208,075

969,524

207,352
(32,284)

53,433

228,501

205,895
22,606

228,501

2,357,158
(531,045)

1,826,113

1,657,176
168,937

1,826,113

(restated)
(E&E75)

951,504

(93,794)
(30,209)

(3,928)

(127,931)

(147,281)
19,350

(127,931)

2,065,786
(461,376)

1,604,410

1,439,422
164,988

1,604,410
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